
 
  
 
 
AUDIT & ACCOUNTS COMMITTEE AGENDA 
 
Date: 
 

Friday, 25 June 2021 

Time: 
 

10.00 am 

Venue: 
 

The Council Chamber, Moorlands House, Stockwell Street, Leek 

17 June 2021 
 

PART 1 

1. Apologies for absence  

2. Declarations of interest  

 i. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests. 
ii. Other Interests. 
 

3. Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 8) 

4. External Audit - Audit Plan (Pages 9 - 30) 

5. External Audit - Informing the Audit Risk Assessment (Pages 31 - 64) 

6. Annual Treasury Management Report (Pages 65 - 80) 

7. Treasury Management Update (Pages 81 - 90) 

8. Internal Audit Charter (Pages 91 - 104) 

9. Internal Audit - Annual Audit Plan (Pages 105 - 112) 

10. Internal Audit Progress Report (Pages 113 - 134) 

11. Covid Business Grants - Measures to guard against Fraud (Pages 135 - 144) 

12. Financial Management Code (Pages 145 - 154) 

13. Counter Fraud and Corruption Strategy (Pages 155 - 174) 

14. Work Programme (Pages 175 - 176) 

15. Exclusion of the Press and Public  

Public Document Pack



 The Chair to move:- 
 
“That, pursuant to Section 100A(2) and (4) of the Local Government Act, 1972, the 
public be excluded from the meeting in view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings whereby it is likely that confidential 
information as defined in Section 100A (3) of the Act would be disclosed to the 
public in breach of the obligation of confidence or exempt information as defined in 
Section 10 I (1) of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act would be disclosed to the 
public by virtue of the Paragraphs indicated.” 
 

16. Exempt Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 177 - 178) 

 
MARK TRILLO 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR & MONITORING OFFICER 
 

Membership of Audit & Accounts Committee 
Councillor J Davies (Chair) Councillor T Hall (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor E Fallows Councillor K Flunder 
Councillor N Hawkins Councillor K J Jackson 
Councillor R Ward Councillor P Wilkinson 
Councillor N Yates Mr P Brough 
Mr H Mawdsley  

 



1 
 

 

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

AUDIT & ACCOUNTS COMMITTEE MEETING 
 

Minutes 
 

FRIDAY, 12 FEBRUARY 2021 
 
PRESENT: Councillor J Davies (Chair)  
 
 Councillors K Flunder, T Hall, K J Jackson, R Ward, N Yates,  

Mr P Brough and Mr H Mawdsley 
 
IN ATTENDANCE: S Jassal Engagement Lead, Grant Thornton LLP 
 M Green Audit Manager, Grant Thornton LLP 
 E Bennetts Finance Business Partner 
 CHazeldene Acting Executive Director (Finance and 

Customer Services) 
 V Higgins Information Business Partner 
 J Leak Head of Audit 
 A Stokes Chief Executive 
 P Trafford Member & Community Services Officer 
 
APOLOGIES: Councillors E Fallows 
 

18 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
Councillor Flunder declared an “other” interest, having received a Covid19 Business 
Support Grant. He also later declared an “other” interest in that he was a member of 
the Staffs County Council Audit Committee.  
 

19 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
 
RESOLVED – That the Minutes of the meeting of the Audit and Accounts Committee 

held on 24 November 2020 be APPROVED as a correct record and 
signed by the Chair. 

 
20 EXTERNAL AUDIT - ANNUAL AUDIT LETTER 

 
Michael Green – Key Audit Partner for Grant Thornton LLP – confirmed that this was 
to be the last ‘Annual Audit Letter’ to be issued. Under the new Code of Audit 
Practice there would be an ‘Annual Audit Report’ which would be more robust. 
 
The letter introduced no new information above that reported to the November 
meeting. An unqualified audit opinion was issued on 30 November 2020. 
 

21 TREASURY MANAGEMENT UPDATE 
 
Finance Business Partner Emily Bennetts (EB) confirmed the position as at 31 
December 2020, with headlines as follows:- 
 

 There was no expectation for any increase to the Bank of England base rate 
within the medium term; Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Audit & Accounts Committee - 12 February 2021 
 

2 
 

 The PWLB rates had reduced by 1% following the outcome of the 
consultation; 

 The Covid19 pandemic and resulting economic crisis was considered in terms 
of the impact on Treasury Management, in particular cash flows; 

 A shortfall of £45,990 was forecast against the investment income budget due 
to reducing interest rates; 

 An income shortfall of £42,420 was forecast on the Ascent loan interest due 
to lower interest rates than forecast; and the Debenture income was forecast 
on target. This was subject to change pending the Ascent delivery model 
review and any new loan arrangement; 

 The borrowing costs budget to support the existing Ascent loan balance and 
general fund borrowing requirement was forecast to be £135,790 under 
budget owing to low Intra-Local Authority borrowing interest rates available; 

 The average return on investments was 0.16% during quarter 3. This was 
reducing quarter on quarter;  

 The Council’s investment portfolio totalled £23.97million spread across seven 
separate institutions as at 31 December 2020; 

 The Council’s external debt was forecast to be £15million by the end of the 
year at an average annual borrowing rate of 0.88%. 

 
In response to member queries, EB confirmed that risk levels had to be borne in 
mind when making any investments. Much of the cash balances that were held in 
‘Instant Access’ accounts were made up of Covid grants which were, by nature, 
required with almost no notice. Future reports could be amended to show the 
proportion of the balances which were Covid-related. 
 
RESOLVED – That the report be NOTED. 
 

22 TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 
 
The strategy was presented in accordance with the Local Government Act 2003, 
which required the Council to have regard to the Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance & Accountancy (CIPFA) Prudential Code and Treasury Management Code 
of Practice. The Council was required to set prudential and treasury management 
indicators for the next 4 years to ensure that the Council’s capital investment plans 
were affordable, prudent and sustainable. 
 
The strategy comprised 3 main areas:- 

 Capital Programme  

 Treasury Management 

 The Annual Investment Strategy 
 
An additional section had been added to The Annual Investment Strategy called 
“Extraordinary Limits”, brought about by the large Covid-related grant funding 
payments having been received from central government. This put pressure on the 
counterparty limits, so a facility was introduced to increase the limits by a reasonable 
percentage temporarily according to any situation arising. Such increases would be 
reported to this committee. 
 
An area of growing interest was ‘Ethical Investing’ around Environmental, Social and 
Governance issues, with considerations around the Climate Change agenda. 
Statutory and CIPFA guidance dictated that all investments must adopt the ‘SLY’ 
principals (Security, then Liquidity, then Yield). Page 4



Audit & Accounts Committee - 12 February 2021 
 

3 
 

 
Claire Hazeldene – Deputy Director, Finance, Income & Procurement – confirmed 
that another skills assessment for all members of the committee was to be carried 
out in the near future. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2021/22 
be RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL FOR APPROVAL. 
 

23 INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT 
 
John Leak (JL) – Audit Manager – summarised the performance of the Council’s 
Internal Audit service. A total of 7 Audit Reports had been issued between 1 
November 2020 and 31 January 2021 with 1 Limited, 4 Satisfactory, and 2 
Substantial assurances given. All audit recommendations had been agreed and all 
that were due had been implemented. Of the recommendations made in the year 
2019/20, 90% had been implemented. 
 
9 Audits were shown to be ‘in progress’, with 68% of the Annual Audit Plan being 
completed. JL confirmed that his staff had been extensively involved in the Covid 
Business Grant process, causing some slippage in progress of the plan and some 
rollover into 2021/22. However, this should not affect Internal Audit’s ability to 
provide the annual audit opinion. Complex controls were in place for the Covid 
Business Grant payment process, however a handful of fraudulent payments were 
known and all efforts were being made to recover the monies in question. It was 
agreed that a report would be presented to the next meeting of the committee 
regarding Covid Business Grant payments. 
 
Following on from discussion at the previous meeting of the committee, JL reported 
on feedback from the recommendations in the Corporate Governance Review. 
Specifically, approval of annual leave and expenses for the Chief Executive Officer 
(CEO) would now rest initially with the Leader of the Council, passing on to an 
Executive Director for completion. The  CEO’s twice-yearly appraisal would be 
conducted in March and September of each year by the Leaders of the 2 Alliance 
Councils. 
 
RESOLVED – That the report be NOTED. 
 

24 REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT - POLICY & 
PROCEDURES 
 
RIPA was introduced in order to provide the correct balance between an individual’s 
right to privacy under the Human Rights Act 1998 and the proper use of data and 
surveillance by public authorities, such as the Police and local councils, who are 
entrusted by law to carry out certain enforcement duties. The Act identifies certain 
areas where carrying out these enforcement duties would inevitably conflict with 
individuals’ right to privacy. 
 
The current policy and procedures were approved and adopted by this committee in 
February 2020, though no authorisations had been granted since 2008. The 
Investigatory Power Commissioner’s Office carry out an inspection of the Council’s 
arrangements for managing the use of RIPA authorisations every 3 years, with the 
last inspection being in November 2019. 
 

Page 5



Audit & Accounts Committee - 12 February 2021 
 

4 
 

The only change to the policy as presented was to the Authorising Officers, brought 
about by the change in the senior management structure of the Council. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Council’s use of RIPA powers be NOTED. 
 
FURTHER RESOLVED -  That the updated Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 

2000 Policy and Procedures as appended to the report be 
APPROVED and ADOPTED.  

 
25 RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE 

 
Vanessa Higgins (VH) – Information Business Partner – presented the Council’s 
Strategic, Operational and Project Risk Registers as at December 2020. 
 
The Strategic Risk Register identified 15 strategic risks, of which 47% (7) were rated 
as ‘high’ and therefore above the Council’s risk tolerance threshold. There had been 
no change in the strategic risk profile since the previous report and the 7 risks were 
detailed in the report. 
 
The Operational Risk Register identified 36 operational risks of which 12 were rated 
as ‘high’. This was an increase of 6 risks, which were detailed. 
 
The Project Risk Register covered 14 projects due to the addition of several new 
corporate plan priority projects. 2 risks had been closed down and 2 new ones 
added. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Council’s current risk position and the mitigation / fruition 

plans be NOTED. 
 

26 RISK MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 
 
The Alliance Risk Management Strategy was reviewed every 2 years in order to 
ensure the Council’s approach reflected changing circumstances. This review had 
been informed by a number of considerations, including:- 

 A voluntary external review of our operational risk management arrangements 
by strategic risk engineers from our insurance partner – Zurich Municipal. This 
resulted in a ‘good opinion’; 

 Findings of Internal Audit and other reviews; 

 Financial challenges facing the Council over the course of its Medium Term 
Financial Plan and how this might affect our tolerance to financial risk; 

 Consultation with senior managers and the Corporate Risk Assessment 
Group; 

 Horizon-scanning for emerging risks within the public sector and more widely, 
as identified by the risk and insurance sectors. 

 
Overriding themes for the Alliance were :- trust and conflict, mental health, ICT / 
Cyber, and sustainability / climate change. Specific climate change targets would be 
incorporated within the next 2 weeks. 
 
RESOLVED – That the revised Risk Management Strategy be APPROVED.   
 

27 WORK PROGRAMME 
 Page 6



Audit & Accounts Committee - 12 February 2021 
 

5 
 

The Committee considered the Work Programme for 2021/22. 
An additional item would be added ‘Covid Grant Fraud’ for the next meeting. 
Specific dates of meetings during 2021/22 were prone to change due to the ongoing 
effects of Covid. 
 
RESOLVED – That, with the addition referred to above, the Work Programme for 

2021/22 be APPROVED. 
 

28 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 
RESOLVED - That pursuant to Section 100A (2) and (4) of the Local Government 

Act, 1972,the public be excluded from the meeting in view of the 
nature of the business to be transacted or nature of the proceedings 
whereby it is likely that exempt information as defined in Section 
100A (3) of the Act would be disclosed to the public in breach of the 
obligation of confidence or exempt information as defined in Section 
100I (1) of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act would be disclosed to 
the public by virtue of the paragraphs indicated. 

 
29 EXEMPT MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

 
The exempt minutes of the meeting of the Audit & Accounts Committee held on 24 
November 2020 were APPROVED as a correct record and signed by the Chair. 
 
 

The meeting closed at 11.37 am 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
_________________________________Chairman ____________________Date 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 9

A
genda Item

 4



Public

P
age 10

mailto:michael.green@uk.gt.com
mailto:sarah.j.jassal@uk.gt.com
mailto:lisa.morrey@uk.gt.com


Public

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 11



Public

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 12



Public













•

•

P
age 13



Public

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 14



Public

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 15



Public

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 16



Public

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 17



Public

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 18

https://www.frc.org.uk/getattachment/0fa69c03-49ec-49ae-a8c9-cc7a2b65382a/ISA-(UK)-540_Revised-December-2018_final.pdf


Public

•

•

•

•

–

–

–

–

•

•

•

P
age 19



Public

P
age 20



Public

•

•

•

P
age 21



Public

14

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 22



Public

.

•

•

•

P
age 23

https://www.frc.org.uk/getattachment/601c8b09-2c0a-4a6c-8080-30f63e50b4a2/Revised-Ethical-Standard-2019-With-Covers.pdf


Public

.

P
age 24



Public

P
age 25



Public

P
age 26



Public

P
age 27



Public

P
age 28



P
age 29



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Informing the audit risk assessment 
for Staffordshire Moorlands District 
Council 2020/21

Michael Green
Director
T 0161 953 6382
E Michael.Green@uk.gt.com

P
age 31

A
genda Item

 5



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 2020/21

Commercial in confidence

The contents of this report relate only to the matters which have come to our attention, which 

we believe need to be reported to you as part of our audit process.  It is not a comprehensive 

record of all the relevant matters, which may be subject to change, and in particular we cannot 

be held responsible to you for reporting all of the risks which may affect your business or any 

weaknesses in your internal controls.  This report has been prepared solely for your benefit and 

should not be quoted in whole or in part without our prior written consent. We do not accept any 

responsibility for any loss occasioned to any third party acting, or refraining from acting on the 

basis of the content of this report, as this report was not prepared for, nor intended for, any 

other purpose.

2

P
age 32



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 2020/21

Commercial in confidence

Table of Contents

Section Page

Purpose 4

General Enquiries of Management 6

Fraud 9

Fraud Risk Assessment 10

Laws and Regulations 16

Impact of Laws and Regulations 17

Related Parties 20

Accounting Estimates                                                                                            23

Accounting Estimates - General Enquiries of Management 24

Appendix A – Accounting Estimates 27 

3

P
age 33



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 2020/21

Commercial in confidence

Purpose

The purpose of this report is to contribute towards the effective two-way communication between Staffordshire Moorlands District Council's external 

auditors and Staffordshire Moorlands District Council’s Audit and Accounts Committee, as 'those charged with governance'. The report covers some 

important areas of the auditor risk assessment where we are required to make inquiries of the Audit and Accounts Committee under auditing 

standards.   

Background

Under International Standards on Auditing (UK), (ISA(UK)) auditors have specific responsibilities to communicate with the Audit and Accounts 

Committee. ISA(UK) emphasise the importance of two-way communication between the auditor and the Audit and Accounts Committee and also 

specify matters that should be communicated.

This two-way communication assists both the auditor and the Audit and Accounts Committee in understanding matters relating to the audit and 

developing a constructive working relationship. It also enables the auditor to obtain information relevant to the audit from the Audit and Accounts 

Committee and supports the Audit and Accounts Committee in fulfilling its responsibilities in relation to the financial reporting process. 

Communication

As part of our risk assessment procedures we are required to obtain an understanding of management processes and the Council’s oversight of the 

following areas:

• General Enquiries of Management

• Fraud,

• Laws and Regulations,

• Related Parties, and

• Accounting Estimates.

4

P
age 34



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 2020/21

Commercial in confidence

Purpose

This report includes a series of questions on each of these areas and the response we have received from Staffordshire Moorlands District Council’s 

management. The Audit and Accounts Committee should consider whether these responses are consistent with its understanding and whether there 

are any further comments it wishes to make. 

5

P
age 35



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 2020/21

Commercial in confidence

General Enquiries of Management

Question Management response

1. What do you regard as the key events or 

issues that will have a significant impact on 

the financial statements for 2020/21?

Covid 19 will have impacted spend and income relative to previous financial years, consideration of impairment of 

aged debt held and accounting treatment of significant grant funding from Government in response to Covid.  

Potential impact on the valuation of pension fund / non current assets due to uncertainty caused by the pandemic. 

2. Have you considered the 

appropriateness of the accounting policies 

adopted by Staffordshire Moorlands District 

Council?

Have there been any events or transactions 

that may cause you to change or adopt new 

accounting policies?

Accounting policies are reviewed and updated on an annual basis as part of closedown process to ensure that any 

new policies are incorporated and that existing policies are correct. 

Consideration will be given to the Government Grants and Contributions policy in the 2020/21 statement  and any 

necessary update to reflect the treatment of Covid-19 business grants (such as the issue of whether the Council is 

acting as agent or principal) will be undertaken.

The implementation of IFRS 16 has been delayed by a further year, the policy has therefore not been updated. 

3. Is there any use of financial instruments, 

including derivatives? 
The Council’s financial instruments include: cash investments, cash equivalents debtors, creditors, external

borrowing held at amortised cost as in previous years.

The Council's financial instruments do not include any derivative arrangements.

4. Are you aware of any significant 

transaction outside the normal course of 

business?

The receipt of Government grants to fund the business grant process and support the Council with additional 

expenditure/income losses incurred in response to Covid.                                                                     

A potential significant year end debtor or creditor with central government in respect of Covid Business Grants 

where the Council has acted as agent. 

P
age 36



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 2020/21

Commercial in confidence

General Enquiries of Management

Question Management response

5. Are you aware of any changes in circumstances that 

would lead to impairment of non-current assets? 
Nothing that we are specifically aware of.  This will be formally assessed in conjunction with the external 

valuers. 

6. Are you aware of any guarantee contracts? No

7. Are you aware of the existence of loss contingencies 

and/or un-asserted claims that may affect the financial 

statements?

No

8. Other than in house solicitors, can you provide details 

of those solicitors utilised by Staffordshire Moorlands 

District Council during the year. Please indicate where 

they are working on open litigation or contingencies 

from prior years?

The Council has engaged Freeths and Browne Jacobson during the year.  Neither are working on 

litigation/contingencies from prior years.

P
age 37



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 2020/21

Commercial in confidence

General Enquiries of Management

Question Management response

9. Have any of the Staffordshire Moorlands District 

Council’s service providers reported any items of fraud, 

non-compliance with laws and regulations or 

uncorrected misstatements which would affect the 

financial statements?

No

10. Can you provide details of other advisors consulted 

during the year and the issue on which they were 

consulted?

Other than Browne Jacobson/Freeths for legal advice, in terms of financial issues, the Council has engaged 

Link (treasury advice), Capita (valuations) and Zurich (insurance & Risk Management) Hymans Robertson 

Actuary (pension)

P
age 38



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 2020/21

Commercial in confidence

Fraud

Issue

Matters in relation to fraud

ISA (UK) 240 covers auditors responsibilities relating to fraud in an audit of financial statements.

The primary responsibility to prevent and detect fraud rests with both the Audit and Accounts Committee and management. Management, 

with the oversight of the Audit and Accounts Committee, needs to ensure a strong emphasis on fraud prevention and deterrence and

encourage a culture of honest and ethical behaviour. As part of its oversight, the Audit and Accounts Committee should consider the 

potential for override of controls and inappropriate influence over the financial reporting process.

As Staffordshire Moorlands District Council’s external auditor, we are responsible for obtaining reasonable assurance that the financial 

statements are free from material misstatement due to fraud or error. We are required to maintain professional scepticism throughout the 

audit, considering the potential for management override of controls.

As part of our audit risk assessment procedures we are required to consider risks of fraud. This includes considering the arrangements 

management has put in place with regard to fraud risks including: 

• assessment that the financial statements could be materially misstated due to fraud,

• process for identifying and responding to risks of fraud, including any identified specific risks, 

• communication with the Audit and Accounts Committee regarding its processes for identifying and responding to risks of fraud, and

• communication to employees regarding business practices and ethical behaviour. 

We need to understand how the Audit and Accounts Committee oversees the above processes. We are also required to make inquiries of 

both management and the Audit and Accounts Committee as to their knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud. These areas 

have been set out in the fraud risk assessment questions below together with responses from Staffordshire Moorlands District Council’s 

management. 

9

P
age 39



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 2020/21

Commercial in confidence

Fraud risk assessment

Question Management response

1. Have Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

assessed the risk of material misstatement in the 

financial statements due to fraud?

How has the process of identifying and responding to 

the risk of fraud been undertaken and what are the 

results of this process? 

How do the Council’s risk management processes link to 

financial reporting?

Arrangements are in place to prevent and detect fraud which includes the work undertaken by Internal 

Audit, Council Tax and Benefits Teams.

The Internal Audit plan covers the key systems which feed into the Statement of Accounts and audits 

are undertaken on a risk-based approach

The Chief Executive, Executive Directors and Heads of Service complete and sign managers assurance 

statements on an annual basis confirming that the governance framework has been operating within 

their areas of responsibility.

2. What have you determined to be the classes of 

accounts, transactions and disclosures most at risk to 

fraud? 

The potential for fraud is considered when setting the audit plan – with potential high risk areas then 

audited on a more frequent basis, such as:  Treasury, services with cash transactions/collection,  

procurement, all financial feeder systems Council Tax and Business Rates. 

P
age 40



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 2020/21

Commercial in confidence

Fraud risk assessment

Question Management response

3. Are you aware of any instances of actual, suspected 

or alleged fraud, errors or other irregularities either 

within Staffordshire Moorlands District Council as a 

whole or within specific departments since 1 April 2020?

As a management team, how do you communicate risk 

issues (including fraud) to those charged with 

governance?                                                                                         

Confirmation from the Monitoring Officer, Chief Financial Officer (CFO), Head of Audit, Head of Legal and 

Head of Finance has been obtained that no significant frauds have been identified during 2020/21

The Audit and Accounts Committee provides oversight.

4. Have you identified any specific fraud risks?

Do you have any concerns there are areas that are at 

risk of fraud?

Are there particular locations within Staffordshire 

Moorlands District Council where fraud is more likely to  

occur?

No specific fraud risks or areas with a high risk of fraud have been identified. However, the Council is always 

vigilant to the threat of fraud and Internal Audit work is planned to highlight the threat of potential fraud.

5. What processes do Staffordshire Moorlands 

District Council have in place to identify and respond 

to risks of fraud?

There are a number of policies and procedures in place including an Counter Fraud & Corruption Strategy, 

RIPA Policy & Procedures, Whistleblowing Policy, risk management arrangements set out in the risk 

management policy, strategy and process, participation in the NFI.

Internal Audit is also 'good practice compliant' and has a proven track record in planning audit work to take 

account of fraud risks and responding appropriately to fraud risks in the organisation and enhancing 

controls to protect against the risk of fraud.

P
age 41



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 2020/21

Commercial in confidence

Fraud risk assessment

Question Management response

6. How do you assess the overall control environment for 

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council, including:

• the existence of internal controls, including segregation of 

duties; and

• the process for reviewing the effectiveness the system of 

internal control?  

If internal controls are not in place or not effective where are the 

risk areas and what mitigating actions have been taken?

What other controls are in place to help prevent, deter or detect 

fraud?

Are there any areas where there is a potential for override of 

controls or inappropriate influence over the financial reporting 

process (for example because of undue pressure to achieve 

financial targets)? 

Annual review of the effectiveness of Internal Audit assessing compliance with PSIAS inc. 

external quality assessment every 5 years.

Annual review of the effectiveness of the Audit & Accounts Committee.

Quarterly internal audit progress reports are reported to the Audit & Regulatory committee 

highlighting key issues.

Overall internal controls work effectively and Internal Audit report on ineffective controls 

which are corrected by management.

External Audit provide an Annual Audit Letter to the Committee highlighting any areas of 

concern and recommendations following the annual audit of accounts.

The Strategic Risk Register is presented to Audit Committee.

7. Are there any areas where there is potential for misreporting? None significant. Financial and operational targets are an important part of the 

management process. However, a strong corporate commitment to appropriate ethical 

behaviour outweighs any pressure to meet targets.

The financial reporting process is subject to review by the S151 Officer. 

P
age 42



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 2020/21

Commercial in confidence

Fraud risk assessment

Question Management response

8. How do Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

communicate and encourage ethical behaviours 

and business processes of it’s staff and 

contractors? 

How do you encourage staff to report their concerns 

about fraud?

What concerns are staff expected to report about 

fraud?

Have any significant issues been reported? 

There are a number of policies and procedures in place which are reviewed and approved by the 

Standards Committee including the Ethical Framework (inc. Code of Corporate Governance), a Staff 

Code of Conduct, Registers for Interests and Gifts & Hospitality.

Such policies and procedures are the subject of a detailed communications process, which includes 

extensive coverage during induction and training.

The Council has a well publicised Whistleblowing Policy which encourages staff to report any concerns 

regarding fraud and irregularity through a variety of channels and a Counter Fraud and Corruption 

Strategy. No significant issues have been reported. 

9. From a fraud and corruption perspective, what 

are considered to be high-risk posts?

How are the risks relating to these posts identified, 

assessed and managed?

Treasury management risks are identified, assessed, audited annually and reviewed through Audit & 

Accounts Committee, with clear segregation of duties and authorisation limits.

10. Are you aware of any related party relationships 

or transactions that could give rise to instances of 

fraud?

How do you mitigate the risks associated with fraud 

related to related party relationships and 

transactions?

Not aware of any related party relationships or transactions that could give rise to instances of fraud. 

Monitoring and controls in place mitigate the risk.

P
age 43



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 2020/21

Commercial in confidence

Fraud risk assessment

Question Management response

11. What arrangements are in place to report fraud 

issues and risks to the Audit and Accounts 

Committee? 

How does the Audit and Accounts Committee 

exercise oversight over management's processes 

for identifying and responding to risks of fraud and 

breaches of internal control?

What has been the outcome of these arrangements 

so far this year?

The committee maintains oversight through :

• Review and approval of policies and procedures including an Counter Fraud & Corruption Strategy, 

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act and Whistleblowing Policy;

• Review of risk management arrangements set out in the risk management policy, strategy and process; 

• Review of Internal Audit progress reports;

• Review of Internal Audit Annual Report, which includes the opinion on the control environment;

• Receiving periodic updates on the outcome of any fraud investigative work;

• Receiving updates on actions taken to enhance controls and protect against the risk of fraud e.g. 

procurement arrangements; and

• Consideration of reports from External Audit and any action plans setting out recommendations made. 

Procedures dictate that the Chair of the Audit and Accounts Committee is informed of any matters of 

actual, suspected or alleged fraud (with notification to the Audit and Accounts Committee subject to 

confidentiality).

12. Are you aware of any whistle blowing potential 

or complaints by potential whistle blowers? If so, 

what has been your response?

No.

13. Have any reports been made under the Bribery 

Act?

No.

P
age 44



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 2020/21

Commercial in confidence

Fraud risk assessment

Question Management response

14. How does the Council protect itself against 

Fraud in its Group Activities? 

Alliance Environmental Services Limited [AES] ; this joint operation with High Peak Borough Council and 

ANSA Environmental Services Limited (trading arm of Cheshire East Unitary Council) is required to 

produce audited accounts for consolidation in the Authority’s financial statements. Both the audit opinion 

and consolidation process provide assurance as to the financial controls within the organisation. The 

Services Operating Agreement imposes a number of obligations on AES;

- To hold Monthly meetings with representatives of the Council to address operational matters

- To prepare Statements for inclusion in the Quarterly Financial Performance reports presented to 

Resources Scrutiny Committee.

- To produce on demand written summaries of costs

- To maintain open book accounting, allowing reasonable access to officer’s of the Council

- To allow reasonable access to the Authority’s auditors both internal and external. Further assurance 

is provided by Council officers holding two of the five directorships that make up the AES Board. The 

board meets 10 times per year and all significant decisions of AES are subject to the unanimous 

agreement of all directors.

Internal Audit is 'good practice compliant' and has a proven track record in planning audit work to take 

account of fraud risks and responding appropriately to fraud risks in the organisation and enhancing 

controls to protect against the risk of fraud. Regular audits covering the Council’s risks in Ascent Housing 

LLP are undertaken.

P
age 45



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 2020/21

Commercial in confidence

Law and regulations

Issue

Matters in relation to laws and regulations

ISA (UK) 250 requires us to consider the impact  of laws and regulations in an audit of the financial statements.

Management, with the oversight of the Audit and Accounts Committee, is responsible for ensuring that Staffordshire Moorlands District Council's 

operations are conducted in accordance with laws and regulations including those that determine amounts in the financial statements. 

As auditor, we are responsible for obtaining reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement due to fraud or 

error, taking into account the appropriate legal and regulatory framework. As part of our risk assessment procedures we are required to make 

inquiries of management and the Audit and Accounts Committee as to whether the entity is in compliance with laws and regulations. Where we 

become aware of information of non-compliance or suspected non-compliance we need to gain an understanding of the non-compliance and the 

possible effect on the financial statements.

Risk assessment questions have been set out below together with responses from management.

P
age 46



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 2020/21

Commercial in confidence

Impact of laws and regulations

Question Management response

1. How does management gain assurance that all relevant laws 

and regulations have been complied with?

What arrangements does Staffordshire Moorlands District 

Council have in place to prevent and detect non-compliance 

with laws and regulations? 

Are you aware of any changes to the Council’s regulatory 

environment that may have a significant impact on the Council’s 

financial statements?

The Internal Audit service operates to the standards set out in the “Public Sector Internal 

Audit Standards” and the Internal Audit Plan specifically considers compliance with laws and 

regulations.

The Council has a well publicised Whistleblowing Policy.

2. How is the Audit and Accounts Committee provided with 

assurance that all relevant laws and regulations have been 

complied with?

The Chief Financial Officer attends Audit and Accounts committee meetings to respond to

members enquiries. Standard reporting formats requires that legal implications are outlined

in all committee reports. The Head of Audit has a number of alternative reporting lines in the

event of breach of law or regulation, including a right to meet privately with the Chair of the

Audit and Accounts Committee or the Committee in full, should the situation determine such

an approach necessary.

3. Have there been any instances of non-compliance or 

suspected non-compliance with laws and regulation since 1 

April 2020 with an on-going impact on the 2020/21 financial 

statements? 

Confirmation from the Monitoring Officer, Chief Financial Officer (CFO), Head of Audit, Head 

of Legal and Head of Finance has been obtained that no instances of non-compliance or 

suspected non-compliance with laws and regulations have been identified during 2020/21

4. Is there any actual or potential litigation or claims that would 

affect the financial statements?

No.

P
age 47



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 2020/21

Commercial in confidence

Impact of laws and regulations
Question Management response

5. What arrangements does Staffordshire Moorlands 

District Council have in place to identify, evaluate and 

account for litigation or claims? 

The Council has embedded systems and procedures in place to deal with litigation and claims as they

emerge (e.g. the “Link Officer” in respect of Ombudsman issues).

At year end, additional procedures ensure that any such items are reflected in the financial statements if

appropriate. This is incorporated within closedown procedures and includes specific enquiries of all senior

management with a particular emphasis on the Head of Legal, the Insurance Officer and the Head of

Customer Services (responsible for the Ombudsman related issues).

6. Have there been any report from other regulatory        

bodies, such as HM Revenues and Customs which 

indicate non-compliance? 

NoP
age 48



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 2020/21

Commercial in confidence

Impact of laws and regulations
Question Management response

7. What arrangements does Staffordshire Moorlands 

District Council have in place to prevent and detect 

non-compliance with laws and regulations within its 

Group activities?

Ascent Housing LLP ; the joint venture with Your Housing LLP is required to produce audited accounts for

consolidation in the Authority’s financial statements. Both the audit opinion (Grant Thornton) and

consolidation process provide some assurance as to compliance within the organisation. Further

assurance is provided by the two (of four) executive directors and the two (of four) non-executive directors

nominated by the Authority to the board of Ascent.

Alliance Environmental Services Limited [AES] ; this joint operation with High Peak Borough Council and

ANSA Environmental Services Limited (trading arm of Cheshire East Unitary Council) is required to

produce audited accounts for consolidation in the Authority’s financial statements. Both the audit opinion

and consolidation process provide assurance as to compliance within the organisation.

To facilitate the Authority in preventing and detecting non-compliance with laws and regulations the

Operating Agreement imposes a number of obligations on AES;

- To hold Monthly meetings with representatives of the Council to address operational matters

- To prepare Statements for inclusion in the Quarterly Financial Performance reports presented to

Corporate Select

- To produce on demand written summaries of costs.

- To maintain open book accounting, allowing reasonable access to officer’s of the Council

- To allow reasonable access to the Authority’s auditors both internal and external.

Further assurance is provided by Council officers holding two of the five directorships that make up the

AES Board. The board meets 10 times per year and all significant decisions of AES are subject to the

unanimous agreement of all directors.

P
age 49



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 2020/21

Commercial in confidence

Related Parties

Issue

Matters in relation to Related Parties

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council are required to disclose transactions with entities/individuals that would be classed as related parties.  

These may include:

■ entities that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, control, or are controlled by Staffordshire Moorlands District 

Council;

■ associates;

■ joint ventures;

■ an entity that has an interest in the authority that gives it significant influence over the Council;

■ key management personnel, and close members of the family of key management personnel, and

■ post-employment benefit plans (pension fund) for the benefit of employees of the Council, or of any entity that is a related party of the 

Council.

A disclosure is required if a transaction (or series of transactions) is material on either side, i.e. if a transaction is immaterial from the Council’s 

perspective but material from a related party viewpoint then the Council must disclose it.

ISA (UK) 550 requires us to review your procedures for identifying related party transactions and obtain an understanding of the controls that you 

have established to identify such transactions. We will also carry out testing to ensure the related party transaction disclosures you make in the 

financial statements are complete and accurate. 

20

P
age 50



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 2020/21

Commercial in confidence

Related Parties

Question Management response

1. Have their been any changes in the related parties 

disclosed in Staffordshire Moorlands District Council’s 

2019/20 financial statements? 

If so please summarise: 

• the nature of the relationship between these 

related parties and Staffordshire Moorlands 

District Council

• whether Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 

has entered into or plans to enter into any 

transactions with these related parties

• the type and purpose of these transactions 

No subject to the receipt of management and member declarations for 2020/21.

2. What controls does Staffordshire Moorlands 

District Council have in place to identify, account for 

and disclose related party transactions and 

relationships?

A number of arrangements are in place for identifying the nature of a related party and reported value 

including:

• Maintenance of a Register of interests for Members, a register for pecuniary interests in contracts for Officers 

and Senior Managers requiring disclosure of related party transactions.

• Annual return from senior managers/officers and members requiring confirmation that read and understood 

the declaration requirements and stating details of any known related party interests.

• Review of in-year income and expenditure transactions with known identified related parties from prior year or 

known history.

• Review of related information with subsidiaries, companies and joint ventures, e.g. accounts.

• Review of the accounts payable and receivable systems and identification of amounts paid to/from assisted or 

voluntary organisation

• Review of year end debtor and creditor positions in relation to the related parties identified.

• Review of minutes of decision making meetings to identify any member declarations and therefore related 

parties.

P
age 51



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 2020/21

Commercial in confidence

Related Parties

Question Management response

3. What controls are in place to authorise and 

approve significant transactions and arrangements 

with related parties?

Members are required to withdraw from the decision making process where they have declared a related 

party interest. 

All significant transactions are formally approved by the respective Executive Director / CEO

4. What controls are in place to authorise and 

approve significant transactions outside of the 

normal course of business?

Transactions outside of the normal course of business would be subject to S151 approval and be 

reported to Full Council 

5. What arrangements does the Council have in 

place to ensure that its Group activities correctly 

identify and account for related party transactions?

Other than the authority’s normal authorisation protocol the response is as 2

P
age 52



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 2020/21

Commercial in confidence

Accounting estimates

Issue

Matters in relation to Related Accounting estimates

ISA (UK) 540 (Revised December 2018)  requires auditors to understand and assess an entity’s internal controls over accounting estimates, 

including:

• The nature and extent of oversight and governance over management’s financial reporting process relevant to accounting estimates;

• How management identifies the need for and applies specialised skills or knowledge related to accounting estimates;

• How the entity’s risk management process identifies and addresses risks relating to accounting estimates;

• The entity’s information system as it relates to accounting estimates; 

• The entity’s control activities in relation to accounting estimates; and

• How management reviews the outcomes of previous accounting estimates.

As part of this process auditors also need to obtain an understanding of the role of those charged with governance, which is particularly important 

where the estimates have high estimation uncertainty, or require significant judgement. 

Specifically do Audit and Accounts Committee members:

• Understand the characteristics of the methods and models used to make the accounting estimates and the risks related to them;

• Oversee management’s process for making accounting estimates, including the use of models, and the monitoring activities undertaken by 

management; and

• Evaluate how management made the accounting estimates?

We would ask the Audit and Accounts Committee to satisfy itself that the arrangements for accounting estimates are adequate. 

23

P
age 53



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 2020/21

Commercial in confidence

Accounting Estimates - General Enquiries of Management

Question Management response

1. What are the classes of transactions, events and 

conditions, that are significant to the financial 

statements that give rise to the need for, or changes in, 

accounting estimate and related disclosures?

Significant estimates expected to be included in the 2020/21 statement of accounts include:

•Valuation of PPE & Investment Properties

•Financial Instruments Fair Value

•NNDR appeals provision

•Accruals

•Pension Liability

2. How does the Council’s risk management process 

identify and addresses risks relating to accounting 

estimates?

They are identified as part of the annual closure of accounts process and documented with the Statement 

of Accounts.  The management team are asked to confirm any potential contingent assets / liabilities.

3. How do management identify the methods, 

assumptions or source data, and the need for changes 

in them, in relation to key accounting estimates?

The Council engages a number of external (such as the actuary, treasury advisors, valuers) and internal 

(Finance, Legal and Asset teams) expertise to inform the estimates

4. How do management review the outcomes of 

previous accounting estimates?
The outcome of previous accounting estimates is reviewed as part of the estimation process int eh 

following year and is considered up to the date that the accounts are authorised for issue.

We are also reliant on the pension fund audit, audit of any group structures (AES & Ascent) to provide 

assurance on the outcomes of previous accounting estimates 

5. Were any changes made to the estimation processes 

in 2020/21 and, if so, what was the reason for these?
None identified, but as part of the 2020/21 accounts process, the Council will undertake further challenge 

and scrutiny of the reports received from valuers. 

P
age 54



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 2020/21

Commercial in confidence

Accounting Estimates - General Enquiries of Management
Question Management response

6. How do management identify the need for and apply 

specialised skills or knowledge related to accounting 

estimates?

Based on materiality, skill set and capacity.  External experts with specialist skills are utilised for the 

valuation of PPE and investment properties, financial instruments and pension liability. 

Finance staff attend relevant training and undertaken regular CPD, including attendance at Grant Thornton 

closure of accounts workshop.  

7. How does the Council determine what control 

activities are needed for significant accounting 

estimates, including the controls at any service 

providers or management experts? 

Based on materiality, also taking into account changes in regulatory / accounting environment.  Reliance 

on external audit process of joint venture companies.

Procurement process followed to engage suitable external expertise with relevant skills, expertise, 

experience and qualifications. 

8. How do management monitor the operation of control 

activities related to accounting estimates, including the 

key controls at any service providers or management 

experts? 

External audit process of the pension fund / joint venture partners.  Procurement process followed to 

engage suitable external expertise with relevant skills, expertise, experience and qualifications and ensure 

they are independent and professional.

For areas of estimation where experts are not used, these are subject to review by the S151 Officer. 

Control arrangements are reviewed by internal audit and external audit and any findings reported to the 

Audit Committee. 

9. What is the nature and extent of oversight and 

governance over management’s financial reporting 

process relevant to accounting estimates, including:

- Management’s process for making significant 

accounting estimates

- The methods and models used

- The resultant accounting estimates included in the 

financial statements.

There is a specific section within the Statement of Accounts allocated to accounting estimates.  These are 

formally reported to the Audit & Accounts Committee.

P
age 55



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 2020/21

Commercial in confidence

Accounting Estimates - General Enquiries of Management

Question Management response

10. Are management aware of transactions, events, 

conditions (or changes in these) that may give rise 

to recognition or disclosure of significant accounting 

estimates that require significant judgement (other 

than those in Appendix A)?

All significant accounting estimates that require significant judgement are disclosed in Appendix A

11.  Are the management arrangements for the 

accounting estimates, as detailed in Appendix A 

reasonable?

Yes – accounting estimates are undertaken by experienced finance staff with the required knowledge 

and skills who regularly undertake professional development included attendance at closure of accounts 

workshops.

The Council utilises external expertise where not held internally.

12. How is the Audit and Accounts Committee

provided with assurance that the arrangements for 

accounting estimates are adequate ?

A firm of consulting actuaries is engaged to provide the Authority with expert advice about the 

assumptions to be applied when estimating the pension liability.

A firm of qualified valuers is engaged by the Authority to carry out, for the major assets, a programme of 

physical valuations to ensure that their carrying values are subject to professional and independent 

assessment. 

External and Internal audit also provide assurance as part of the audit process.

P
age 56



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 2020/21

Commercial in confidence

Appendix A Accounting Estimates
Estimate Method / model used to 

make the estimate

Controls used to identify 

estimates

Whether 

Management 

have used an 

expert

Underlying assumptions:

- Assessment of degree of uncertainty

- Consideration of alternative estimates

Has there 

been a

change in 

accounting

method in 

year?

Land and 

buildings 

valuations

Valuations for land and 

buildings are made by the 

external valuer in line with 

RICS guidance on the basis of 

5 year valuation with interim 

reviews. 

The Council applies a 

deminimis threshold of £10,000 

in determining assets to  be 

valued.

Other assets are valued on the 

basis of depreciated historic 

cost as proxy for fair value as 

relatively short asset lives 

before replacement.

Capital Accountant notifies the 

valuer of the program of rolling 

valuations or of any conditions that 

warrant an interim re-valuation.

The overriding requirement is that 

the carrying value is not materially 

different from the amount that would 

be determined by valuation and so 

the Capital Accountant considers 

factors (informed by Property 

Services Manager and external 

valuer) that would indicate where a 

valuation is required.

Use of Capita 

Property and 

Infrastructure Ltd 

augmented with 

internal Property 

Services (RICS 

valuer) for buildings 

valuations. 

Other assets 

considered by 

Services Manager 

and capital 

accountant.

Valuations are made in-line with RICS 

guidance – reliance on expert. 

Assumptions are set out in valuer's report.

For other assets no revaluations but asset 

lives reviewed based on the operational 

experience of the service areas.

No

Council dwelling 

valuations 

Ascent

As outlined above

Investment 

property 

valuations

As outlined above

27

P
age 57



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 2020/21

Commercial in confidence

Appendix A Accounting Estimates
Estimate Method / model used to 

make the estimate

Controls used to identify 

estimates

Whether 

Management 

have used an 

expert

Underlying assumptions:

- Assessment of degree of uncertainty

- Consideration of alternative estimates

Has there 

been a

change in 

accounting

method in 

year?

Depreciation 

and estimated 

useful lives of 

PPE

Depreciation is provided for all 

fixed assets with a finite useful 

life on a straight-line basis

The following asset categories 

have general asset lives:

• Buildings range 30 to 70 

years

• Equipment/ vehicles 3 to 15 

years

• Plant 3 to 15 years

• Infrastructure 25 years

Consistent application of 

depreciation method across all 

assets

Specific asset lives applied to 

buildings.

Consistent asset lives applied to 

each asset category.

No

Use of Capita 

Property and 

Infrastructure Ltd 

augmented with 

internal Property 

Services (RICS 

valuer) for buildings 

valuations. 

Other assets 

considered by 

Services Manager 

and capital 

accountant 

The length of the life is determined at the 

point of acquisition or revaluation.

Major components are depreciated 

separately.

The method makes some generalisations. 

For example, building lives would vary 

depending on the construction materials 

used. This life would be recorded in 

accordance with RICS valuation.

Detailed information is included in the 

valuers report for each asset. The lives 

used for other assets are based on 

operational experience of the service 

areas.

The asset live is then recorded in the 

asset register.

No

No

28

P
age 58



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 2020/21

Commercial in confidence

Appendix A Accounting Estimates (Continued)

Estimate Method / model used to make the 

estimate

Controls used to 

identify estimates

Whether 

Manageme

nt have 

used an 

expert

Underlying assumptions:

- Assessment of degree of 

uncertainty

- Consideration of alternative 

estimates

Has there 

been a

change in 

accounting

method in 

year?

Valuation of 

defined benefit 

net pension 

fund liabilities

The Council is an employer authority 

within the Staffordshire Local Government 

Pension Scheme. The administering 

authority (the County Council) engage the 

Actuary who provides the estimate of the 

pension liability.

Payroll data is provided 

to the Actuary.

Management reconcile 

this estimate of 

contributions to the 

actuals paid out in the 

year.

Consulting 

actuary

As disclosed in the actuary's report. 

Complex judgements including the 

discount rate used, rate at which salaries 

are projected to increase, changes in 

retirement ages, mortality rates and 

expected returns on pension fund assets.

No

Level 2 

investments
Level 2 investments are all <12 months 

therefore Fair Value considered to 

equal Carrying Value

Level 2 investments 

are all <12 months 

therefore Fair Value 

considered to equal 

Carrying Value

Link Asset 

Services

As FV=CV in applicable investments, 

there is little degree of uncertainty and 

no alternatives required

No

Level 3 

investments
n/a, the authority does not have any 

level 3 investments

29

P
age 59



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 2020/21

Commercial in confidence

Appendix A Accounting Estimates (Continued)

Estimate Method / model used to make the 

estimate

Controls used to 

identify estimates

Whether 

Management 

have used 

an expert

Underlying assumptions:

- Assessment of degree of uncertainty

- Consideration of alternative 

estimates

Has there been 

a

change in 

accounting

method in 

year?

Fair value 

estimates
Financial assets are required to be 

classified and measured at fair value, with 

any changes in fair value recognised in 

Profit and Loss.  The valuation should, 

where material, reflect any change in 

expected future cash flows.  Thus for 

instance if there arises an expectation 

that future cash flows from an investment 

will be reduced this would impact on the 

current carrying value of that financial 

instrument.

The Finance Team identify those assets 

where future cash flows are not now 

anticipated to be as expected at initial 

recognition of the instrument.  Where 

material these changed cash flows are 

used to restate the carrying value of the 

financial instrument.  This requires both 

estimation of future cash flows and  their 

impact on the current carrying value of the 

instrument.

Annual review of 

financial instruments to 

identify where possibility 

of changed future cash 

flows.

Where likely quantify 

using best estimates.

When 

considered 

necessary the 

Council’s 

treasury 

advisers will be 

consulted.

The Authority’s Treasury Management 

Strategy is such that investments are 

restricted to low risk entities.

Where instruments have arisen out of 

operational requirements to support the 

aims of the council then the level of 

knowledge about the third parties is such 

that risk is minimised.

Yes.  IFRS9 has 

introduced the 

need to reflect 

‘future  losses’  in 

the reported 

carrying value of 

financial 

instruments.

30

P
age 60



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 2020/21

Commercial in confidence

Appendix A Accounting Estimates (Continued)
Estimate Method / model used to make the 

estimate

Controls used to 

identify estimates

Whether 

Managem

ent have 

used an 

expert

Underlying assumptions:

- Assessment of degree of uncertainty

- Consideration of alternative estimates

Has there been 

a

change in 

accounting

method in year?

Provisions Provisions are made where an event 

has taken place that gives the 

Council a legal or constructive 

obligation that probably requires 

settlement by a transfer of economic 

benefits, but where the timing of the 

transfer is uncertain. Provisions are 

charged as an expense to the 

appropriate service line in the CI&ES 

in the year that the Council becomes 

aware of the obligation, and are 

measured at the best estimate at the 

balance sheet date of the 

expenditure required to settle the 

obligation, taking into account 

relevant risks and uncertainties.

Charged in the year

that the Council 

becomes aware of the 

obligation. 

No Estimated settlements are reviewed at the end of 

each financial year – where it becomes less than 

probable that a transfer of economic benefits will 

now be required (or a lower settlement than 

anticipated is made), the provision is reversed 

and credited back to the relevant service. Where 

some or all of the payment required to settle a 

provision is expected to be recovered from 

another party (e.g. from an insurance claim), this 

is only recognised as income for the relevant 

service if it is virtually certain that reimbursement 

will be received by the Council.

No

31

P
age 61



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 2020/21

Commercial in confidence

Appendix A Accounting Estimates (Continued)
Estimate Method / model used to make the 

estimate

Controls used to 

identify estimates

Whether 

Management 

have used an 

expert

Underlying assumptions:

- Assessment of degree of uncertainty

- Consideration of alternative estimates

Has there been 

a

change in 

accounting

method in year?

Accruals Finance team collate accruals of 

expenditure and income. Activity is 

accounted for in the financial year 

that it takes place, not when money 

is paid or received.

While processes and procedures will 

be maintained to capture all accruals, 

resources will be focused on 

identifying individual transactions of 

£10,000  and above

An Accumulated Absences creditor 

balance is  at £97,000 to reflect the 

value of time owed to employees for 

accrued holidays, TOIL (time off in 

lieu) and flexitime. This balance is 

based on an historic value subject to 

annual review and amendment 

where there have been significant 

changes in staff numbers or working 

patterns

Review financial 

systems to identify 

where goods have 

been received but not 

paid for.

Requests of service 

managers to identify 

any other goods or 

services received or 

provided but not paid 

for , concentrating on 

transactions greater 

than £10,000.

Review of 

circumstances that 

indicate the approach 

to annual leave 

accrual is no longer 

valid.

No Accruals for income and expenditure often 

based on known values.

Where accruals are estimated the latest 

available information is used.

The value of the accruals below the 

threshold of £10,000 identified in prior years 

is not a material amount.

The annual leave accrual is based on 

historic records. An annual review will be 

performed to assess whether there any 

circumstances that mean the historic 

calculation of annual leave is no longer a 

reasonable estimate and whether the survey 

process needs to be performed on a partial 

or complete basis.  Events likely to trigger 

such a decision would be significant 

changes in staff numbers or working 

patterns.

No

32

P
age 62



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 2020/21

Commercial in confidence

Appendix A Accounting Estimates (Continued)

Estimate Method / model used to 

make the estimate

Controls used to 

identify estimates

Whether 

Management have 

used an expert

Underlying assumptions:

- Assessment of degree of 

uncertainty

- Consideration of 

alternative estimates

Has there been a

change in 

accounting

method in year?

Credit loss and 

impairment 

allowances

Simplified model on Trade 

Debtors ECL, an 

aggregate of many 

immaterial balances only 

approaching the testing 

materiality limit in total; 

Historic risk of default on 

deposits with banks etc -

very minimal; loans to 

other parties all assessed 

individually.

Historic trends 

analysed and applied 

to debtors. 

Engagement with JV 

to ascertain 

impairment on 

debenture 

Link for deposits with 

banks; and review on 

Ascent impairment

Historic trends considered 

reasonable based on 

individual small values of 

outstanding debts and 

patterns of payment. Lack of 

negative evidence on other 

loans provides reasonable 

certainty. Link review to 

support Ascent impairment

No

Finance lease 

liabilities

At the inception of the lease 

the liability is the lower of the 

fair value of the asset or 

present value of the 

minimum lease payments. 

Payments are split between 

the finance charge and the 

element that reduces the 

liability.

Finance review 

contracts and payments 

over the de-minimus 

level to ensure the lease 

is categorised correctly 

as a finance lease or an 

operating lease.

Calculations supported 

by lease documents.

May obtain guidance to 

support lease 

classifications.

Assets recognised under finance 

leases are accounted for using 

the policies applied generally to 

such assets, subject to 

depreciation being charged over 

the lease term if this is shorter 

than the asset’s estimated 

useful life (where ownership of 

the asset does not transfer to 

the Council at the end of the 

lease period).

No

33

P
age 63



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to 

one or more member firms, as the context requires. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member 

firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not 

provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions.

grantthornton.co.uk

P
age 64



  

 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
Report to Audit & Accounts Committee 

 
25th June 2021 

 

 
TITLE: 

 
Annual Treasury Management Report 
2020/21 

 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 

 
Councillor Sybil Ralphs - Council Leader 
SMDC 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 
Keith Pointon – Interim Head of Finance 
Emily Bennetts - Finance Business Partner 

 
WARDS INVOLVED: 
 

 
Non-Specific 

 
Appendix A (attached) - Annual Treasury Management Report 2020/21 
 
1. Reason for the Report 

 
1.1. The purpose of the report is to allow the robust scrutiny of the Council’s 

Treasury Management performance in 2020/21 in compliance with the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of 
Practice on Treasury Management and generally accepted good practice. 
 

2. Recommendation 
 
2.1. That the Annual Treasury Management Report 2020/21 is recommended to 

Council for approval. 
 
3. Executive Summary 
 
3.1. The Council is required through regulations issued under the Local 

Government Act 2003 to produce an annual treasury report reviewing treasury 
management activities for 2020/21. 
 

3.2. The Annual Treasury Management Report for 2020/21 considers the following 
areas: 

 

 The Treasury Management Strategy adopted in 2020/21 and the economic 
environment during the year; 

 The Council’s capital expenditure, overall borrowing need and borrowing 
outturn during 2020/21; 

 Performance measurements, which look at the return achieved during the 
year by the Council on its overall investments; 

Page 65

Agenda Item 6



  

 The Council’s investment portfolio, which sets out for Members how and 
where the Council has invested its money during the year, including a 
summary on investments with Environmental, Social, Governance (ESG) 
positive links; 

 Compliance with Prudential Indicators, showing the outturn against those 
Indicators formally adopted in the 2020/21 Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement. 

 
3.3. The Acting Executive Director & Chief Finance Officer confirms that borrowing 

was only undertaken for a capital purpose and the statutory borrowing limit 
(the authorised limit) was not breached. 
 

3.4. The main headlines include:  
 

 Capital expenditure in 2020/21 totalled £3.1million. Capital expenditure 
was partly funded via capital contributions, reserves and receipts, the 
remainder has created a borrowing requirement of £1.3million. 

 

 Total external debt at 31st March 2021 amounted to £15million, which all 
relates to loans from other Local Authorities. There was an underspend of 
£135,796 against borrowing costs owing to low intra-authority borrowing 
interest rates and some internal borrowing. 

 

 The average daily investment portfolio during 2020/21 was £19.7million 
invested with a total of 7 institutions, yielding £43,800 in investment 
income. There was a shortfall against the investment income budget of 
£40,922 due to the low interest rate environment during the covid-19 crisis. 
 

 The average return achieved by the Council on its investment portfolio for 
the year was 0.22% which compares favourably to short-term industry 
benchmarks. 

 

 £603,973 interest income was earned from the debenture and loan 
balances held with Ascent.  The debenture interest was on target against 
the budget. There was a shortfall of £41,417 against the loan budget as the 
rate on the day of the refinanced tranches was lower than estimated at 
budget setting. 

  

 Year-end investments totalled £37.4million (including £19million held with 
Ascent), all internally managed by the Council’s Treasury Management 
Team.  

 

 The outturn against treasury and prudential indicators as set within the 
Treasury Strategy 2020/21 is shown in Annex B. 

 
  

Page 66



  

4. How this report links to Corporate Priorities 
 
4.1. An effective Treasury Management function is critical in safeguarding and 

effectively managing the financial resources at the Council’s disposal. 
Sufficient financial resources are required to deliver and underpin the 
Council’s main priorities. 

 
5. Options 
 
5.1. This report sets out the Treasury Management position for Staffordshire 

Moorlands District Council for 2020/21. As such it is a statement of fact and 
there are no options to consider. 

 
6. Implications 
 
6.1. Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
 
 None 

 
6.2. Workforce 
 
 None 
 
6.3. Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
 

This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's Diversity and 
Equality Policies. 

 
6.4. Financial Considerations 
 
 Included throughout the report 
 
6.5. Legal 
 
 None 
 
6.6. Climate Change 
 

An update on the Council’s investments with Environmental, Social and 
Governance links is included in the report. 

 
6.7. Consultation 
 
 None 
 
6.8. Risk Assessment 
 

There are a number of inherent financial risks associated with Treasury 
Management activity, not least the potential for loss of interest and/ or 
deposits. For this reason, the Council engages the services of external 
Treasury Management advisors, Link Asset Services (‘Link’). 

Page 67



  

 
Investment and borrowing decisions are made in accordance with the 
Council’s formally adopted Treasury Management Strategy. That Strategy 
includes a number of risk management features such as the overriding priority 
that security of deposit takes precedence over return on investment. 

 
Claire Hazeldene 

Interim Executive Director & Chief Finance Officer 
 

Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Contact details 

‘Treasury Management – Governance and Scrutiny 
Arrangements’   
Audit & Accounts Committee Sept 09 
 
‘Treasury Management Strategy 2020/21’ 
Audit & Accounts Committee Feb 20 

Keith Pointon 
Interim Head of Finance 
Keith.Pointon@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk   
 
Emily Bennetts 
Finance Business Partner 
emily.bennetts@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 
 

 
 

Page 68

mailto:Keith.Pointon@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk


 
 

 
 

APPENDIX A 

 

 
 
 

Annual Treasury Management 
Report 

 

2020/21 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

June 2021 

Page 69



  

1 Introduction and Background 
 

1.1 The Council is required through regulations issued under the Local Government 
Act 2003 to produce an annual treasury report reviewing treasury management 
activities and the outturn against prudential and treasury indicators for 2020/21. 
This report meets the requirements of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance 
and Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of Practice on Treasury Management (the Code) 
and the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the 
Prudential Code).  
 

1.2 The regulatory environment places responsibility on Members for the review and 
scrutiny of Treasury Management policy and activities. This report provides details 
of the outturn position for treasury activities and highlights compliance with the 
Council’s policies previously approved by Members.   
 

1.3 This report covers: 
 

 Strategy & Economy for 2020/21 

 The Council’s treasury position as at 31st March 2021 

 Capital expenditure and the overall borrowing need 

 Borrowing outturn  

 Investment performance & portfolio, including Ethical investing 

 Compliance with prudential & treasury indicators 
 
2 2020/21 Treasury Management Strategy & Economic Conditions 

 
2.1 Interest rate expectations applied to the treasury management strategy for 

2020/21 were from an environment before the Covid-19 crisis had become 
apparent. Forecasts were based on the assumption of a Brexit deal being agreed 
between Parliament and the EU by December 2020 and included a rise in the 
Bank of England base rate to 1.00% by the end of the financial year. This did not 
take place and the base rate decreased to 0.25% on 11th March 2020 and again to 
0.10% on 19th March in response to the Covid-19 crisis. 
 

2.2 As a result, investment opportunities and yields decreased dramatically during the 
year with some accounts paying 0%. Borrowing interest rates, particularly with 
other local authorities, decreased partly in line with these decreases and partly 
because of the increased levels of cash flows throughout local authorities due to 
monies received from Central Government to be issued to local businesses in the 
form of grants where they were impacted by Covid-19. 
 

2.3 Whilst the Council was in receipt of these cash flows from Central Government, it 
was necessary to increase all the Counterparty limits set in the Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement for 2020/21 in order to accommodate these 
balances in the short term as the schemes were administered and payments could 
be made. This occurred at various points in the year as new grants schemes were 
released. Where cash balances were returned to more normal levels, the treasury 
management team reverted to the original approved Counterparty Limits. This is 
shown in more detail at Annex A. 

 
 

Page 70



  

2.4 In October 2019 the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) increased its borrowing 
interest rates by 1% without warning. This was effectively reversed in November 
2020 following the PWLB consultation results. A restriction is now in place on 
PWLB borrowing whereby Council’s cannot borrow from this source if their capital 
programme contains any commercial activity.  

 
3 The Current Treasury Position 

 
3.1 The Council’s debt and investment position at the end of the 2020/21 financial year 

with the previous year as a comparison is shown in the table: 
 

 

2019/20 2020/21 

31st March 
2020 Principal 

Average 
interest 

rate 

31st March 
2021 Principal 

Average 
interest 

rate 

     

Total Debt: 
External Borrowing,  
fixed rate 

£10,000,000 1.57% £15,000,000 0.88% 

Investments     

  In-House £9,729,806 0.75% £18,399,000* 0.22% 

  Debenture – Ascent LLP £5,000,000 2.00% £5,000,000 2.00% 

  Loan Facility – Ascent LLP £14,000,000 3.52% £14,000,000 3.60% 

Total Investments £28,729,806 2.32% £37,399,000 1.72% 

* Investment balances are higher due to balances held as an Agent awarding Business Grants on 
behalf of Central Government 

 
4 The Council’s Capital Expenditure & Borrowing Requirement 2020/21 

 
4.1 The Council undertakes capital expenditure on long-term assets. These activities 

may either be financed: 

 through the application of capital or revenue resources (including capital 
receipts, capital grants, revenue contributions etc.), which has no resultant 
impact on the Council’s borrowing need; or 

 by borrowing, where there is insufficient internal resource or where a 
decision is taken to finance expenditure externally. 

 
4.2 Capital expenditure constitutes one of the required prudential indicators. The table 

below shows actual capital expenditure for 2020/21 and how this was financed: 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 2020/21 
Projected 
Outturn 

Total General Fund Capital Expenditure £3,097,305 

Resourced by:  

   External contributions £949,143 

   Capital reserves & earmarked reserves £741,355 

   Capital receipts £93,000 

Unfinanced capital expenditure  
(Underlying Need to Borrow) 

£1,313,807 

Page 71



  

 
4.3 The Council’s underlying need to borrow for capital expenditure is termed the 

Capital Financing Requirement (CFR).  It represents the 2020/21 unfinanced 
capital expenditure and prior years’ unfinanced capital expenditure which has not 
yet been paid for. 
 

4.4 As the table above shows 2020/21 capital expenditure was partly funded by 
external contributions and reserves as well as some capital receipts; the remainder 
has created a borrowing requirement of £1,313,807, which increases the CFR. 
 

4.5 The Treasury Management team plans the Council’s cash position to ensure 
sufficient cash is available to meet capital plans and cash flow requirements. This 
may be sourced through borrowing from external bodies (such as the Public Works 
Loan Board or the money markets), or utilising temporary cash resources within 
the Council. 
 

4.6 The Council’s underlying borrowing need (CFR) is not allowed to rise indefinitely. 
Statutory controls are in place to ensure that capital assets are broadly charged to 
revenue over the life of the asset. The Council is required to make an annual 
revenue charge, called the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) to reduce the 
CFR.  This is effectively a repayment of the cumulative borrowing need.   
 

4.7 The Council’s 2020/21 MRP Policy was approved as part of the Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement 2020/21 in February 2020. 
 

4.8 MRP is applied to unfinanced general fund capital expenditure. However, as the 
initial term of the loan to Ascent is for a short-term period of 5 years, at which point 
the loaned funds are repayable, there is no MRP requirement for borrowing 
undertaken in respect of the Ascent loan.   
 

4.9 The Council’s overall CFR is shown below: 
 

 2020/21 Projected 
Outturn (£) 

Opening balance (1st April 2020) 16,828,071 

Plus 2020/21 borrowing requirement 1,313,807 

Less MRP (59,275) 

Closing balance (31st March 2021) 18,082,603 

 
4.10 Borrowing activity is constrained by Prudential Indicators for borrowing and the 

CFR, and by the Authorised Limit.  In order to ensure that borrowing levels are 
prudent over the medium term, external borrowing must only be for a capital 
purpose – essentially this means that the Council is not borrowing to support 
revenue expenditure.  External borrowing should not therefore, except in the short-
term, exceed the CFR for 2020/21 (plus expected changes to the CFR over 
2021/22 and 2022/23).  This indicator allows the Council some flexibility to borrow 
in advance of its immediate capital needs.  
 
 
 
 

Page 72



  

4.11 The table below highlights the Council’s borrowing position against the CFR: 
 

 31 March 2021 
Provisional 

(£) 

31 March 2022 
Forecast 

(£) 

31 March 2023 
Forecast  

(£) 

Borrowing position 15,000,000 17,044,350 18,850,970 

Capital Financing Requirement 18,082,603 20,949,233 22,281,498 

Over / (under) borrowed (3,082,603) (3,952,183) (3,476,858) 

 
4.12 The CFR as at the end of 2020/21 relates to the borrowing undertaken to fund the 

Ascent loan and general fund borrowing requirements since 2014/15 for other 
capital schemes. As at 31st March 2021, the Authority was in an under-borrowed 
position of £3,082,603 therefore has complied with the prudential indicator. 

 
5 Borrowing Outturn  

 
5.1 External borrowing activy during 2020/21 is summarised in the table below: 
 

Amount Lender 
Interest 
Rate 

Term Month Month 

Matured Loans Maturing  

£1,500,000 Guildford Borough Council 1.78% 5 years May  

£2,000,000 Broxbourne Borough Council 0.88% 6 months July  

£1,000,000 
Police & Crime Commissioner 
for West Midlands 

2.05% 5 years August  

£2,000,000 
Wigan Council* 
(commenced and matured within the 
year) 

0.68% 6 months November  

£1,500,000 Brighton & Hove Council 0.99% 1 year November  

£2,000,000 Gloucestershire County Council 0.95% 1 year November  

£2,000,000 Hyndburn Borough Council 0.92% 1 year January  

£12,000,000 Total     

      

Refinanced Loans (inc. maturities from previous years)  Starting Arranged 

£2,000,000 Wigan Council* 0.68% 6 months May May 

£1,500,000 Guildford Borough Council 1.30% 2 years May May 

£3,000,000 Oxfordshire County Council 1.25% 3 years July June 

£1,000,000 
Police & Crime Commissioner 
for West Midlands 

0.40% 1 year August August 

£1,000,000 Mid Devon District Council 0.22% 1 year October September 

£2,000,000 St Helens Council 0.85% 2 years October August 

£2,000,000 Bridgend County Brough Council 0.15% 6 months November October 

£2,000,000 Lichfield District Council 0.25% 1 year November September 

£1,000,000 Ryedale District Council 0.25% 1 year December September 

£1,500,000 
Devon & Somerset Fire & Rescue 
Service 

0.50% 18 months January November 

£17,000,000 Total      

£5,000,000 Net increase in external borrowing     

      

£10,000,000 External borrowing 1
st
 April 2020     

(£12,000,000) Matured loans     

£17,000,000 Refinanced loans     

£15,000,000 External borrowing 31
st
 March 2021     

 

5.2 The average external borrowing for the year was £13,538,000 with maturity 
periods from 6 months to 3 years at an average interest rate of 0.88% all with 
other local authorities. 

Page 73



  

 
5.3 The overall borrowing costs for the year were £196,934; there was an underspend 

of £135,796 against the budget of £332,730.  The budget was based on externally 
funding the full Ascent loan balance of £14million and the potential for £4.2million 
of new loans to be taken mid-year to support the general fund borrowing 
requirement. This borrowing requirement reduced and interest rates on offer were 
lower than anticipated at budget setting. 
 

5.4 In addition, some of the borrowing requirement is internally funded. The practice of 
avoiding external borrowing by utilising spare cash balances has served well over 
recent years in terms of making net savings on financing costs. However, this is 
kept under constant review, especially with an expectation of rate rises, to avoid 
higher borrowing costs in the future. The Council’s external debt has increased 
during the year from £10,000,000 to £15,000,000. This approach ensured that 
cash flow was available for liquidity as required due to the uncertainty surrounding 
Covid 19 expenditure and reduced income; and also took advantage of the 
extremely cheap funding available during the year from other local authorities. 

 
6 Investment Performance & Portfolio 

 
6.1 The investment performance of the Treasury Management function is dependent 

upon a number of factors, including the size of available investment balances; the 
market interest rates available; the timing of capital spend; the restrictions placed 
on the Council by its approved Lending List.  
 

6.2 The Council achieved an overall average interest rate of 0.22% on its investment 
portfolio. This compared favourably with short-term market benchmarks as shown 
in the table below: 

 

Comparator 
Average 
Rate Q1  

Average 
Rate Q2 

Average 
Rate Q3 

Average 
Rate Q4 

Average 
2020/21 

SMDC Total 0.40% 0.25% 0.17% 0.11% 0.22% 
SMDC Total Long-term (>364 days) 1.05% 1.05% 1.05% 1.05% 1.05% 
SMDC Total Short-term (<364 days) 

 

 

1.00% 0.52% 0.40% 0.31% 0.39% 
SMDC Total Short-term (instant access) 

 
0.36% 0.14% 0.04% 0.02% 0.14% 

 

 
     Link Benchmarks      

*LIBID 7 Day Rate <0.00% <0.00% <0.00% <0.00% <0.00% 

*LIBID 3 Month Rate 0.26% <0.00% <0.00% <0.00% 0.01% 

*LIBID 6 Month Rate 0.40% 0.02% <0.00% <0.00% 0.07% 

*LIBID 12 Month Rate 0.56% 0.14% <0.00% <0.00% 0.17% 

      
Base Rate at end of period 0.10% 0.10% 0.10% 0.10%  

*LIBID (London Interbank Bid Rate)  

 

6.3 The Council manages its investments in-house, investing only with institutions that 
meet the Council’s approved minimum lending criteria. The lending list is 
constructed based on credit ratings provided by the three main credit agencies 
supplemented by additional market data, using the Link Creditworthiness analysis 
(see Annex A for current lending limits).  
 
 
 
 

Page 74



  

6.4 Money was invested with 7 institutions during the year. All investments were 
placed in line with the Council’s approved lending limits. The table below 
summarises the institutions that the Council invested funds with during the 
financial year.  It also indicates the average daily investment, interest earned and 
the associated average interest rates. Interest rates vary depending on the length 
and timing of investments. The investment funds include those held short-term in 
the Council’s instant access accounts. The average daily investment during 
2020/21 was £19.7million. 

 

Financial Institution 
Country 

of 
Domicile 

Duration 
Interest 
Earned 

(£) 

Average 
Daily 

Investment 
(£) 

Rate of 
Return 

(%) 

Money Market Funds UK Instant access 7,736 6,284,466 0.12 

Handelsbanken UK Instant access 9,535 4,342,266 0.22 

NatWest Bank UK Instant access 2,092 4,212,512 0.05 

Santander UK 95 day notice 13,571 2,998,437 0.45 

Lloyds Bank UK 
95 day notice & 

1 year fixed 
9,891 1,449,559 0.68 

Barclays (ESG linked) UK 65-95 day notice 975 360,274 0.27 

Bank of Scotland UK Instant access 0 72,423 0.00 

Total   43,800 19,719,937 0.22 

 

6.5 The average maturity of investment during the year was necessarily short to allow 
for uncertainties over cashflow during the Covid-19 situation where there was risk 
to income streams and changes in the timing of cashflows. The larger investment 
amounts during the year were a result of monies received by the Council from 
Central Government to be redistributed under the various Business Grant 
schemes. To provide some context as to the magnitude of the cash flow impact, 
the income and expenditure flowing through the Council’s accounts in 2020/21 
relating to these grants was c.£42million. The funds needed to be kept available as 
instant access. 
 

6.6 The budget was set with an expectation of interest rate rises during the year up to 
1.00%. Yields were therefore lower than anticipated when the Bank of England 
base rate was cut to 0.10% in March 2020. In addition the Council’s use of internal 
borrowing to fund the borrowing requirement means that the investment portfolio is 
also reduced. The investment income for the year was £47,588 (including £3,788 
from local loans); against the budget of £88,510, this represents a shortfall of 
£40,922. 
 

6.7 Investments held at the 31st March 2021 are shown in the table below. All 
investments are for a period of one year or less and subject to variable interest 
rates: 

   

Financial Institution 
Country of 

domicile 
Group / Parent 

Principal Amount 

Invested (£) 

Money Market Funds UK Money Market Funds £6,900,000 

NatWest Bank Plc UK Royal Bank of Scotland Group £5,599,000 

Santander UK Santander UK £3,400,000 

Barclays (ESG linked) UK Barclays £1,500,000 

Lloyds Bank Plc UK Lloyds Banking Group £1,000,000 

  Total Principal Invested £18,399,000 

Page 75



  

 
Ethical Investing 
 

6.8 The table above includes £1,500,000 in financial investments with Environmental, 
Social and Governance (ESG) links, sometimes known as Ethical Investing and 
encompassing the Climate Change agenda: 

 

Product Amount ESG merits 

Barclays ‘Green’  
(95 day notice 
account) 

£1,500,000 

Linked to Barclays’ Green Bond Purchasing Programme which 
covers ‘a variety of thematic projects including energy efficiency, 
renewable energy, green transport, sustainable food, agriculture 
and forestry, waste management and greenhouse gas emission 
reduction’. 

TOTAL £1,500,000 8.15% of total portfolio 

 

 Other investments 
 
6.9 In addition to the investments held with financial institutions, the Council is 

providing a £5million debenture and up to £20million loan facility to Ascent LLP 
(the joint venture company set up to deliver affordable housing across the District). 
The table below details the balances held and the associated interest earned in 
2020/21: 

 

Debenture to Ascent LLP £ Interest Rate 

Balance at 1st April 2020 5,000,000  

Fully drawn -  

Balance at 31st March 2021 5,000,000 2.00% 

Interest earned in 2020/21 100,000  
 

Loan to Ascent LLP £ Interest Rate 

Balance at 1st April 2020 14,000,000  

  No drawdowns in the year 0 

 

 

Balance at 31st March 2021 14,000,000 3.60%* 

Interest earned in 2020/21 503,973  
* Interest rates include a 1.25% risk premium 

 

6.10 The interest received on the Ascent Debenture was on target against the budget; 
there was a shortfall of £41,417 on the loan as the rolling 1 year tranches were 
refinanced in October and November at £7million each at slightly lower rates 
(linked to the PWLB rates on the day) than anticipated in the budget. 
 

6.11 The £14million Loan is a priority debtor therefore would be repaid in full should the 
loan mature.  The £5million Debenture owed to the Council and similarly the 
£5million Debenture owed to Your Housing by Ascent are of equal priority and are 
expected to be subject to an impairment. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 76



  

7 Compliance with Treasury Limits 
 
7.1 Treasury Limits and Prudential Indicators were set within the Treasury 

Management Strategy 2020/21.  The outturn for the Indicators is shown in Annex 
B. 
 

7.2 The Council has not borrowed more than or in advance of its needs purely in order 
to profit from the investment of the extra sums borrowed. 
 

7.3 There has been no rescheduling of debt during the year. 
 

 
  

Page 77



  

ANNEX A 
 

Current Lending Limits 
 

 

 
Group Limits 
 

Portfolio % increased 
by 50% 

Approved 
TMSS 2020/21 

Extraordinary counterparty 
limit increase applied during to 
Covid-19 excess cash balances 

Category 
Group 

Principal Limit 
Group Principal Limit 

BLUE £6.9m £13.8m 

PURPLE £6.9m £13.8m 

ORANGE £6.2m £12.4m 

RED £5.2m £10.4m 

GREEN £4.6m £9.2m 

Money Market Funds £6.9m £13.8m 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  Approved TMSS 2020/21 

Extraordinary 
counterparty limit 
increase applied 
during Covid-19 

excess cash balances 

Colour Banding 
Maximum Duration 

of Investment 
UK 

Banks 
International 

Banks 
UK Banks 

PURPLE Up to 2 years £4.6m £3.4m £9.2m 

ORANGE Up to 12 months £4.1m £2.7m £8.2m 

RED Up to 6 months £3.4m £2.3m £6.8m 

GREEN Up to 100 days £2.9m £1.8m £5.8m 

     
BLUE (Part nationalised 

financial institutions) 
Up to 1 year £4.6m n/a £9.2m 

BLUE (NatWest) Up to 1 year £6.9m n/a 
£13.8m  

(£17.7m 15-18 Jan 
only) 

     

Money Market Funds Up to 1 year £4.6m n/a £9.2m 

Page 78



  

ANNEX B 
 

PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 

2020/21 2020/21 

Budget/ TMSS 
Provisional 

Outturn 

£'000 £'000 

   Capital Expenditure 6,005 3,097 

Change in capital programme since budget setting in February 2020 to reprofile spend to future years 
including the Fleet programme and Asset Management programme and updated projections on the 
Disabled Facilities Grants programme. 

Ratio of financing costs/ (net income) to net revenue 
stream 

(4.11%) (3.17%) 

Increased Business Rates Retention Funding recorded in the year due to large s31 grants for 
Extended Retail Relief reduces ratio of financing costs/ (net income). However the funding will be 
retained in an earmarked reserve to offset the resulting collection fund deficit to be distributed in 
future years. Removing this from the ratio calculation would result in a provisional outturn of (4.62%) 
which is due to a reduction in borrowing costs. 

Gross borrowing requirement   

   Total Gross Borrowing (31
st
 March) 16,249 15,000 

   Borrowing Requirement 4,249 1,314 

 

Capital Financing Requirement as at 31 March 21,181 18,083 

 

Annual change in Capital Financing Requirement  4,186 1,255 

Borrowing requirement and CFR reduced in line with reduction in Captial Expenditure 

 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT  INDICATORS 

2020/21 2020/21 

TMSS 
Provisional 

Outturn 

£'000 £'000 

Authorised Limit for external debt Strategy Actual 

    Borrowing 34,175 15,000 

    Other long term liabilities 0 0 

TOTAL 34,175 15,000 

 
Operational Boundary for external debt   

     Borrowing 32,675 15,000 

     other long term liabilities 0 0 

     TOTAL 32,675 15,000 

 
Upper limit for total principal sums invested for over 
365  days 

3,500 0 

 

Page 79



  

Maturity structure of fixed rate 
borrowing during 2020/21 

Upper limit in 
2020/21 Strategy 

Actual Maturity 
Profile 2020/21 
(at 31

st
 March 

2021) 

under 12 months  100% 47% 

12 months and within 2 years 100% 33% 

2 years and within 5 years 100% 20% 

5 years and within 10 years 100% 0% 

10 years and above 100% 0% 

 

Maturity structure of variable rate 
borrowing during 2020/21 

Upper limit in 
2020/21 Strategy 

Actual Maturity 
Profile 2020/21 
(at 31

st
 March 

2021) 

under 12 months  100% 0% 

12 months and within 2 years 50% 0% 

2 years and within 5 years 00% 0% 

5 years and within 10 years 0% 0% 

10 years and above 0% 0% 

 
 
 

Page 80



  

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

Audit & Accounts Committee 
 

25th June 2021 
 

 
TITLE: 

 
Treasury Management Update 

 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 

 
Councillor Ralphs – Council Leader SMDC 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 
Keith Pointon – Interim Head of Finance 
Emily Bennetts – Finance Business Partner 

 
WARDS INVOLVED: 
 

 
Non-specific 

 
Appendices Attached – Appendix A – Treasury Management Mid-Year 
Update Report to 31st May 2021 

 
1. Reason for the Report 

 
1.1. The purpose of the report is to allow the robust scrutiny of the Council’s 

Treasury Management performance in 2021/22 in compliance with the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of 
Practice on Treasury Management and generally accepted good practice. 
 

2. Recommendation 
 

2.1. That Members note the current Treasury Management position as at 31st May 
2021. 
 

3. Executive Summary 
 

3.1. The CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management was adopted by the 
Council in February 2010. This Council fully complies with its requirements, one 
of which is to produce at least one mid-year operational report. 
 

3.2. This report comprises the following: 
 

 The latest interest rate forecast and comment on the impacts of Covid-19; 
 

 Investment income earned to date and projected for the year; 
 

 The current investment portfolio; 
 

 The projected borrowing requirements with associated borrowing costs for 
the year; and 

 

 Compliance against prudential and treasury indicators set in the Treasury 
Management Strategy 2021/22. 

Page 81

Agenda Item 7



  

 
3.3. The main headlines are: 
 

 There is no expectation for any increase to the Bank of England base rate 
within the medium term. 
 

 All interest income is forecast to be on target at this early point in the year 
for Investments in financial institutions and also from the Ascent loan and 
Debenture. This is subject to change pending the Ascent Delivery model 
review and any new loan arrangement. 

 

 The borrowing costs budget to support the existing Ascent loan balance 
and general fund borrowing requirement is also forecast on target and will 
be affected by the outcome of the same decisions on the Ascent loan. 
 

 The average return on investments to the end of May was 0.11%, this was 
boosted by the notice account investments, whereas instant access 
accounts earn interest at 0.01%. 
 

 The Council’s investment portfolio totalled £16.1million spread across six 
separate institutions as at 31st May 2021. 
 

 The Council’s external debt is forecast to be £13million by the end of the 
year at an average annual borrowing rate of 0.75%. 

 
4. How this report links to Corporate Priorities  

 
4.1. An effective Treasury Management function is critical in safeguarding and 

effectively managing the financial resources at the Council’s disposal. Sufficient 
financial resources are required to deliver and underpin all of the Council’s main 
priorities. 
 

5. Alternative Options 
 

5.1. This report sets out the Treasury Management position for Staffordshire 
Moorlands District Council for 2021/22 to date and the projected outturn. As 
such it is a statement of fact and there are no options. 
 

6. Implications 
 

6.1. Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
 
 None 

 
6.2. Workforce 
 
 None 
 
6.3. Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
 

Page 82



  

 This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's Diversity and 
Equality Policies. 

 
6.4. Financial Considerations 
 
 Included throughout the report 
 
6.5. Legal 
 
 None 
 
6.6. Climate Change 
 

 Ethical Investing under Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) is 
considered within the report 

 
6.7. Consultation 
 
 None 
 
6.8. Risk Assessment 
 

 There are a number of inherent financial risks associated with Treasury 
Management activity, not least the potential for loss of interest and/ or deposits. 
For this reason, the Council engages the services of external Treasury 
Management advisors, Link Asset Services (‘Link’). 

 
 Investment and borrowing decisions are made in accordance with the Council’s 

formally adopted Treasury Management Strategy. That Strategy includes a 
number of risk management features such as the overriding priority that security 
of deposit takes precedence over return on investment. 

 
Claire Hazeldene 

Interim Executive Director & Chief Finance Officer 
 

Web Links and 
Background Papers 

 Contact details 

‘Treasury Management – Governance & 
Scrutiny Arrangements’ (Audit & Accounts 
Committee September 2009) 
 
‘Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement 2021/22’ (Audit & Accounts 
Committee February 2021) 

 Keith Pointon 
Interim Head of Finance 
keith.pointon@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 
 
Emily Bennetts 
Finance Business Partner 
emily.bennetts@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 

 
 

Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank



  

Appendix A 
    
    
    
    

 

 
 
 

Treasury Management Update  
31

st
 May 2021 

 
 
1. Introduction  
 
2. Economic Forecast – Interest Rates 

 
3. Covid-19 Impact on Treasury Management 

 
4. Investment Income 

 
5. Investment Portfolio 

 
6. Borrowing Position 

 
7. Prudential Indicators  

Page 85



  

1. Introduction  
 

1.1. Treasury Management is defined as “The management of the Authority’s 
investments and cash flows, its banking, money market and capital market 
transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with those activities; 
and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks”. 
 

1.2. The Council has adopted CIPFA’s revised Code of Practice for Treasury 
Management which recommends that Members should be updated on Treasury 
Management activities at least twice a year. 

 
1.3. The Audit & Accounts Committee has delegated responsibility for scrutinising 

the treasury function.  The Committee’s role includes approval of the annual 
treasury management strategy and scrutiny of operational treasury 
management reports.  Decisions taken by the Audit & Accounts Committee are 
reported to full Council. 

 
1.4. The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) for 2021/22 was 

approved by Council on 12th February 2021. This report details treasury 
management performance up to the 31st May 2021 and projects forward for the 
remainder of the financial year. 

 
2. Economic Forecast – Interest Rates 

 
2.1. The Council’s treasury advisers, Link Asset Services (‘Link’), provide the latest 

bank rate and PWLB (Public Works Loan Board) forecast:  
 
 

% 
Jun-
21 

Sep-
21 

Dec-
21 

Mar-
22 

Jun-
22 

Sep-
22 

Dec-
22 

Mar-
23 

Jun-
23 

Sep-
23 

Dec-
23 

Mar-
24 

Bank Rate 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.25 0.25 0.25 

5yr PWLB 
rate 

1.20 1.20 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.40 1.40 1.40 1.40 1.50 1.50 1.50 

10r PWLB 
rate 

1.70 1.70 1.70 1.80 1.80 1.90 1.90 1.90 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 

25yr PWLB 
rate 

2.20 2.20 2.30 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.50 2.50 2.50 2.50 2.50 2.60 

50yr PWLB 
rate 

2.00 2.00 2.10 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.40 

 
2.2. Link’s interest rate forecast has brought the Bank of England base rate increase 

to 0.25% forward from to the quarter ending September 2023, but does not 
anticipate and rate rises during the current or next financial year. PWLB rates 
are also forecast to remain relatively constant, with a slow increase. The 
Council’s budgets were set anticipating this economic environment. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 86



  

 
3. Covid-19 impact on Treasury Management 

 
3.1. High volumes of income and expenditure are still flowing through the Council’s 

instant access accounts while the Council continues to act as an agent of 
central government in the delivery of the various Business Grant schemes. The 
counterparty limits in the 2021-22 Treasury Management Strategy Statement 
were set to be flexible to respond to this situation specifically; the current 
account limit was extended to 115% of the limit set for a period of two days in 
May. 
 

4. Investment Income  
 

4.1. Interest earned on investment deposits up to 31st May totalled £4,190. The 
Council has budgeted to receive £20,710 in investment income in 2021/22. The 
budget was set with an expectation of very low interest rates of near zero. The 
outturn against the budget is forecast to be on target at this early point in the 
year. 

 
4.2. The average interest rate achieved on the Council’s investments is boosted by 

the better rates achieved in the Council’s notice accounts, average 0.35%, 
compared to the instant access average of 0.01%. 

 

Average interest rate period 
Average Rate 

Apr-May 

Overall 0.11% 

Long-term fixed (>364 days)  n/a 
Short-term fixed/ notice accounts (<364 days) 0.35% 
Instant access 0.01% 
  
  

Bank of England Base Rate 0.10% 

 
 Ascent Joint Venture 

 

4.3. The Council continues to provide two facilities to the joint venture company 
Ascent Housing LLP: the Debenture of £5million earns interest at 2%, the 
associated £100,000 income is on target against the budget; interest on the 
Loan of £14million is earned at a forecast average rate of 3.02% across the two 
£7million rolling 1 year tranches, earning an annual interest income of 
£422,880.  
 

4.4. Any changes to arrangements with Your Housing during the year (outlined in 
the Cabinet Report 18th June 2019) would impact this income. The existing 
£14million Loan is a priority debtor therefore would be repaid in full should the 
loan mature.  The £5million Debenture owed to the Council and similarly the 
£5million Debenture owed to Your Housing are of equal priority and are 
expected to be subject to an impairment. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 87



  

5. Investment Portfolio 
 

5.1. The Council manages its investments in-house and invests with financial 
institutions meeting the Council’s approved lending criteria.  The Council’s 
investment portfolio at 31st May totalled £16,057,000, as shown in the table 
below: 

 

Financial Institution 
Country 

of 
Domicile 

Amount 
Maximum 

recommended lending 
duration 

Interest 
rate at end 
of period 

Average 
Maturity 

Aberdeen MMF UK £4,600,000 WHITE (12 months) 0.01% Instant access 

Santander UK £2,400,000 RED (6 months) 0.40% 95 day notice 

Federated MMF UK £2,300,000 WHITE (12 months) 0.01% Instant access 

NatWest Bank UK £2,157,000 BLUE (12 months) 0.01% Instant access 

Santander UK £2,100,000 RED (6 months) 0.58% 180 day notice 

Lloyds Bank UK £1,000,000 RED (6 months) 0.05% 95 day notice 

Barclays ‘Green’ UK £1,000,000 RED (6 months) 0.10% 65 day notice 

Barclays ‘Green’ UK £500,000 RED (6 months) 0.30% 95 day notice 

TOTAL  £16,057,000    

NB: MMF = Money Market Fund 

 
5.2. The average balance of funds available for investment for the year up to 31st 

May was £18.7million. Both average balances for the year and the total portfolio 
at the end of May 2020 are larger than usual due to Covid 19 grants being held 
whilst business grant schemes are administered. The net balance of funds held 
at the end of May was £4.3million. 

 
 Ethical investing 
 
5.3. The Council currently holds £1,500,000 in financial investments with 

Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) links, sometimes known as 
Ethical Investing and encompassing the Climate Change agenda. These are 
included in the investment portfolio table above, but are also highlighted below: 

 

Product Amount ESG merits 

Barclays ‘Green’  
(95 day notice 
account) 

£500,000 Linked to Barclays’ Green Bond Purchasing Programme which 
covers ‘a variety of thematic projects including energy efficiency, 
renewable energy, green transport, sustainable food, agriculture 
and forestry, waste management and greenhouse gas emission 
reduction’. 

Barclays ‘Green’  
(65 day notice 
account) 

£1,000,000 

TOTAL £1,500,000 9.34% of total portfolio 

 
 
 

Page 88



  

6. Borrowing Position 
 

6.1. In accordance with the Local Government Act 2003, it is a statutory duty of the 
Council to determine and keep under review how much it can afford to borrow.  
Therefore, the Council establishes ‘affordable borrowing limits’ as part of the 
prudential indicators within the approved TMSS. 
 

6.2. The Council’s external borrowing at the start of the year was £15million which 
fully funded the Ascent Loan balance plus £1million of the general fund capital 
financing requirement. £7million of local authority borrowing is due to mature 
during the year, including £2million which matured in May and has not yet been 
refinanced. Refinancing and new borrowing will be kept under review during the 
year as the capital programme is carried out, and if any changes to the Ascent 
loan relationship occur, alongside views about cash flow and opportunities to 
take borrowing at cheap levels vs internal borrowing in the low interest income 
environment. The borrowing cost budget of £224,580 is currently forecast on 
target. 

 
6.3. The ‘operational boundary’ (£33,049,000) and ‘authorised limit’ (£34,549,000) 

indicators govern the maximum level of external borrowing to fund the capital 
programme, plus any short-term liquidity requirements.  They were set through 
the Treasury Management Strategy Statement to account for the general fund 
borrowing requirement; an allowance for borrowing to cover short-term liquidity; 
and funding of the loan to the Joint Venture Company, Ascent. The current level 
of borrowing is well within prudential limits. 
 

6.4. The maturity profile of the loans is considered when undertaking external 
borrowing to ensure maturity dates are evenly spread so that the Council is not 
exposed to a substantial re-financing requirement at any one time, when interest 
rates could be high. The graph below details the maturity profile of current loans. 

 

 
 
 

0

500000

1000000

1500000

2000000

2500000

3000000

3500000

Maturity Profile 

Page 89



  

6.5. The treasury team, along with Link, monitors opportunities to reschedule debt, i.e. 
reorganise existing debt in such a way as to amend the debt repayments, reduce 
the principal sum borrowed, alter the degree of volatility of debt or vary the 
interest payable, in order to manage risk and achieve overall financial benefit to 
the Council taking account of the premium the Council would expect to pay on 
early redemption compared to the potential interest savings. No debt 
rescheduling has taken place during the year. 

 
7. Prudential Indicators 

 
7.1. The Council complies with the Council’s Treasury Management Practices and has 

operated within the treasury management and prudential indicators set in its 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2021/22. 

Page 90



  

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

Report to Audit & Accounts Committee 
 

25 June 2021 
 

 
TITLE: 

 
Internal Audit Charter 

 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 

 
Councillor Sybil Ralphs - Council Leader 
SMDC 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 
John Leak – Head of Audit 

 
WARDS INVOLVED: 
 

 
Non-Specific 

 
Appendices Attached: 
Appendix 1 Internal Audit Charter 
 
1. Reason for the Report 
 
1.1 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 requires the Council to “undertake 

an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, 
control and governance processes, taking into account public sector internal 
auditing standards or guidance”. The Audit Charter provides a framework for 
the operation of the Internal Audit service and is required by the Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) which require the Charter to be approved by 
the ‘Board’, which for the Council’s purpose is the Audit & Accounts 
Committee. 

 
2. Recommendation 
 
2.1 That the Committee approve the Council’s updated Internal Audit Charter. 
 
 
3. Executive Summary 
 
3.1 The Internal Audit Charter is a formal document that defines Internal Audit’s 

purpose, authority and responsibility. The Charter establishes Internal Audit’s 
position within the organisation, including the nature of the Head of Audit’s 
functional reporting relationship with the Audit Committee; authorises access 
to records, personnel and physical properties relevant to the performance of 
engagements; and defines the scope of Internal Audit’s activities. 

 
3.2 The Internal Audit Charter has been updated to ensure continued compliance 

with the requirements of the PSIAS effective from March 2017 and is attached 
as Appendix 1. 

 
 
 

Page 91

Agenda Item 8



  

 
4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 
4.1 The assurance provided by the work of Internal Audit informs the Annual 

Governance Statement and therefore helps to confirm effective use of financial 
and other resources to ensure value for money. 
 
 

5. Alternative Options 
 
5.1 Approve the updated Internal Audit Charter (Recommended). The Council will 

have a formal document that defines Internal Audit’s purpose, authority and 
responsibility and is in accordance with the requirements of Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards, and therefore the Accounts and Audit Regulations 
2015. 

 
5.2 Do not approve the updated Internal Audit Charter (Not Recommended). The 

Council will not be complying with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 
requirement to “undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the 
effectiveness of its risk management, control and governance processes, 
taking into account public sector internal auditing standards or guidance”. 

 
 
 

ANDREW P STOKES 
Chief Executive 

 
Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Location Contact details 

Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards 

Internal Audit John Leak 
Head of Audit 
john.leak@staffsmoorlands.g
ov.uk 

Page 92



  

6. Detail 
 
6.1 The Internal Audit Charter provides a framework for the operation of the 

Internal Audit service and is required by the PSIAS. PSIAS require the Charter 
to be approved by the ‘Board’, which for the Council’s purpose is the Audit & 
Accounts Committee. 

 
6.2 The Internal Audit Charter is a formal document that defines Internal Audit’s 

purpose, authority and responsibility. The PSIAS require that it should: 
 

 recognise the mandatory nature of the PSIAS; 

 define the scope of internal audit activities; 

 establish the responsibilities and objectives of internal audit; 

 establish the organisational independence of internal audit; 

 establish the accountability, reporting lines and relationships between the 
Head of Audit and the Audit Committee and those to whom the Head of 
Audit reports to functionally and administratively; 

 set out the responsibility of the Audit Committee and also the role of the 
statutory officers with regards to internal audit; 

 set out the arrangements that exist within the organisations counter-fraud 
and corruption strategy, requiring the Head of Audit to be notified of all 
suspected or detected fraud, corruption or impropriety, to inform the 
annual internal audit opinion and the risk-based plan; 

 recognise that internal audit’s remit extends to the entire control 
environment of the organisation and not just financial controls; 

 establish internal audits right of access to all records, assets, personnel 
and premises, including those of partner organisations where appropriate, 
and its authority to obtain such information and explanations as it 
considers necessary to fulfil its responsibilities. 

 
6.3 The PSIAS also specifies that the Internal Audit Charter must: 

 

 define the terms “board” and “senior management” for the purposes of 
internal audit activity; 

 cover the arrangements for appropriate resourcing; 

 define the role of internal audit in any fraud related work; and 

 describe safeguards to limit impairments of independence or objectivity if 
internal audit or the Head of Audit undertakes non-audit activities.  

 
6.4 The current Internal Audit Charter was previously approved by this Committee 

in February 2017. The Charter has therefore been reviewed and updated to 
ensure continued compliance with the requirements of the PSIAS effective 
from March 2017 (Appendix 1). 

 
6.5 The Internal Audit Charter will be reviewed periodically or in the event of any 

significant changes. Updated versions will be submitted to the Audit & 
Accounts Committee for approval when required. 

 
 

 

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank



  

APPENDIX 1 

  

 

 

 

 

 

Internal Audit Charter 

 

 

 

June 2021 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 95



 

Internal Audit Charter June 2021 Table of Contents 
 

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
High Peak Borough Council 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 
            
            
 

  PAGE 
  

   
 INTRODUCTION………………………………………………………………………………… 1 
   
 MISSION, DEFINITION & PURPOSE OF INTERNAL AUDIT…..…………………………. 1 

   
 STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS………………………………………………………………. 1 
  

 INDEPENDENCE………………………………………………………………………………... 2 
   
 AUTHORITY & RIGHTS OF ACCESS………………………………………………………... 2 
   
 OBJECTIVES OF INTERNAL AUDIT…………………………………………………………. 3 
   
 SCOPE………………………………………………………………………………………….... 3 
   

 RESPONSIBILITIES…………………………………………………………………………….. 4 
   
 OBJECTIVITY & CONFIDENTIALITY………………………………………………………… 5 
   
 INTERNAL AUDIT RESOURCES……………………………………………………………... 5 
   
 INTERNAL AUDIT MANAGEMENT…………………………………………………………… 6 
   
 INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN……………………………………………………………………….. 6 
   
 REPORTING ACCOUNTABILITIES…………………………………………………………... 7 
   
 QUALITY ASSURANCE & IMPROVEMENT PROGRAMME………………………………. 7 
   

Page 96



 

Internal Audit Charter June 2021 Page 1 
 

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
High Peak Borough Council 

INTRODUCTION 
 

The internal audit charter is a formal document that defines Internal Audit’s purpose, authority and 
responsibility. The charter establishes Internal Audit’s position within the organisation, including 
the nature of the Head of Audit’s functional reporting relationship with the Audit Committee

1
; 

authorises access to records, personnel and physical properties relevant to the performance of 
engagements; and defines the scope of Internal Audit’s activities. 

MISSION, DEFINITION & PURPOSE OF INTERNAL AUDIT 
 

The Mission provided in the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) is: 
 
“To enhance and protect organisational value by providing risk-based and objective assurance, 
advice and insight.” 
 
The definition provided in the PSIAS is:  
 
“Internal auditing is an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add 
value and improve an organisation’s operations. It helps an organisation accomplish its objectives 
by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk 
management, control and governance processes.” 
 
Internal Audit is therefore an assurance function which primarily provides an independent and 
objective opinion to the Council on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of its framework of 
governance, risk management and control. Internal Audit does this by conducting an independent 
appraisal of all of the Council’s activities, financial and otherwise. It provides a service to the 
whole of the Council and to all levels of management. 
 
Internal Audit will work in accordance with the Core Principles for the Professional Practice of 
Internal Auditing as set out the the PSIAS: 
 

 Demonstrates integrity; 
 Demonstrates competence and due professional care; 
 Is objective and free from undue influence (independent); 
 Aligns with the strategies, objectives, and risks of the organisation; 
 Is appropriately positioned and adequately resourced; 
 Demonstrates quality and continuous improvement; 
 Communicates effectively; 
 Provides risk-based assurance; 
 Is insightful, proactive, and future-focused; 
 Promotes organisational improvement. 

STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS 
 
The requirement for an Internal Audit function derives from local government legislation, including 
section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 which requires that all Local Authorities must 
“make arrangements for the proper administration of their financial affairs”. More specific 
requirements are set out in the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, which require the Council to 
“undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control 
and governance processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing standards or 
guidance.”  
 
This authority is reinforced in the Council’s Financial Regulations and Procedure Rules. 

                                                 
1 The Audit Committee will fulfil the roles and responsibilities of “The Board” for the purposes of the PSIAS. 

Page 97



 

Internal Audit Charter June 2021 Page 2 
 

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
High Peak Borough Council 

INDEPENDENCE 
 
The Internal Audit service will remain independent of the systems and procedures which are 
subject to its review. Internal Audit will also remain free from interference by any element of the 
Council and the scope of its work will not be restricted in any way. 
 
To enable the auditors to perform their duties in a manner which facilitates impartial and effective 
professional judgements and recommendations, Internal Audit staff will not be responsible for 
activities outside of Internal Audit’s main responsibilities. All audit staff will act with due 
professional care ensuring that they are fair and objective, free from any conflicts of interest and 
abide by professional standards and guidelines. 
 
In seeking to provide an independent and objective opinion it is accepted that, being located within 
the organisation, the Internal Audit function cannot be wholly independent of all management. 
Internal Audit’s independence will therefore be achieved through its organisational status and from 
the fact that the Head of Audit has no other areas of responsibility other than the Internal Audit 
function.  
 
The Head of Audit reports to the Chief Executive but has the right to report directly to the 
Executive Director (Finance & Customer Service) and Chief Finance Officer (s151 Officer), 
Monitoring Officer, Chair of the Audit Committee or External Auditor where it is deemed 
necessary. The Chief Executive has other areas of responsibility which may compromise their 
independence when these areas are subjected to audit, where this occurs the Head of Audit can 
invoke the right to report directly to others.   
 
The Head of Audit will make the Audit Committee aware if the independence of Internal Audit is 
impaired or appears to be impaired. The nature of such a disclosure will depend upon the nature 
of the impairment.  
 
Audit advice and recommendations, including where Internal Audit has been consulted about 
system, policy, procedure development or significant changes to the internal control systems, are 
given without prejudice to the right of Internal Audit to review and make further recommendations 
on the relevant policies, procedures, controls and operations at a later date. 
  
The Internal Audit service determines its work priorities in consultation with Senior Management 
Team (ALT

2
) and the Audit Committee and the Head of Audit reports to the Audit Committee in 

relation to the delivery of the Internal Audit Plan, the Internal Audit Annual Report and periodic 
updates of Internal Audit work. 
 
The Head of Audit is responsible for the content of all written reports produced by the service and 
has the right to report in his own name and offer an audit opinion without “fear or favour” to all 
officers and members and in particular to those charged with governance. 

AUTHORITY & RIGHTS OF ACCESS 
 

In order to perform their duties Internal Audit has the authority, supported by the Accounts & Audit 

Regulations 2015 and set out in the Council’s Financial Regulations and Procedure Rules, to:  

  

 access all Council premises at reasonable times; 

 access all assets, records, documents, correspondence and control systems; 

 receive any information and explanation considered necessary concerning any matter under 

consideration; 

 require any employee of the Council to account for cash, stores or any other Council asset 

under his or her control; 

 access records belonging to third parties, such as contractors, when required; and 

 directly access the Chief Executive, Executive, Standards and Audit Committees. 

                                                 
2 The Alliance Leadership Team will fulfil the roles and responsibilities of “senior management” for the purposes of the 
PSIAS. 

Page 98



 

Internal Audit Charter June 2021 Page 3 
 

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
High Peak Borough Council 

 

Where necessary such unrestricted rights of access may be called upon and should be granted to 

Internal Auditors on demand and not subject to prior notice or approval. All employees are 

required to assist Internal Audit in fulfilling its roles and responsibilities.  

  

The Internal Audit service will comply with any requests from External Auditors for access to any 

information, files or working papers obtained or prepared during audit work that they need in order 

to discharge their responsibilities. 

OBJECTIVES OF INTERNAL AUDIT 
 

The objective of the Internal Audit service is to give assurance to the Council on the adequacy of 

its governance arrangements. The key elements of this are: 

 

 to provide advice and support to ensure an effective control environment is maintained 

including completeness, reliability and integrity of financial, performance, risk and other 

management information and the methods for safeguarding assets; 

 to contribute to the achievement of corporate objectives by recommending improvements in 

control and performance of the systems established to ensure compliance with corporate and 

departmental policies and procedures and legislative requirements; and 

 to provide advice and guidance to ensure Managers have developed effective arrangements to 

promote appropriate ethics and values within the Council and arrangements to prevent and 

detect fraud and corruption. This will include input into the key policies such as Financial 

Regulations and Procedure Rules and Counteri-fraud and Corruption Strategy. 

SCOPE 
 

All of the Council’s activities, regardless of funding source, may be subject to review by Internal 
Audit as Internal Audit’s remit allows for unrestricted coverage of the Authority’s entire control 
environment taking into account the Authority’s assurance and monitoring mechanisms, including 
risk management arrangements, for achieving the Council’s objectives. This does not imply that 
all systems will be subjected to review in any given year, but that all systems will be included in the 
audit planning process and hence be considered for review following the assessment of risk. 
 
The scope of audit work extends to services provided through partnership arrangements and 
necessary assurances will be derived either directly or by seeking reliance on assurances 
provided by others. Where relevant, appropriate access rights will be negotiated and included in 
contracts and partnership agreements to ensure that Internal Audit can obtain access to the 
personnel and records within the partner organisation to obtain the necessary assurances. 
 
It is not the remit of the Internal Audit service to question the appropriateness of policy decisions. 
However, the service is required to examine the management arrangements of the Council by 
which such decisions are made, monitored and reviewed, how polices are applied by the Council 
and also compliance with agreed policies.  
 
The Internal Audit service may also conduct special reviews, providing independent and objective 
services such as consultancy and fraud related work as requested by Management. Due 
consideration will be given when planning this work to ensure that the service maintains its 
objectivity and independence. The impact of any additional work outside of the audit plan will be 
taken into account and where necessary reported to the Chief Executive and the Audit 
Committee. 
 
Internal Audit does not have responsibility for the prevention and detection of fraud or corruption. 
It is the responsibility of all Managers to manage the risk of fraud by ensuring appropriate 
procedures are put in place to prevent and detect fraud. Internal Auditors will however, be alert in 
all their work to risks and exposures that could allow fraud or corruption to occur and to any 
indications that fraud or corruption may have been occurring. Audit procedures alone, even when 

Page 99



 

Internal Audit Charter June 2021 Page 4 
 

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
High Peak Borough Council 

performed with due professional care, cannot guarantee that fraud or corruption will be detected. 
Internal Audit will investigate any suspected fraud and corruption arising from their work and may 
also be requested by management to assist with the investigation of suspected fraud and 
corruption. 
 
In line with the Council’s Counter-fraud and Corruption Strategy, the Head of Audit should be 
notified of all suspected or detected fraud, corruption or impropriety within the Council. Where 
relevant the Internal Audit service will advise and assist Managers in the investigation of fraud and 
corruption.  

RESPONSIBILITIES 
 

The Council has a responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a review of the effectiveness of 
the governance arrangements and producing an Annual Governance Statement.  The review of 
the effectiveness of the governance arrangements is informed by: 
 
 the work of the internal auditors;  
 information from managers within the Authority who have responsibility for the development 

and maintenance of governance arrangements; and 
 comments made by the external auditors and other review agencies and inspectorates. 
 
To assist with this review the Head of Audit will produce an annual internal audit report 
summarising the areas that have been subject to Internal Audit review in the year. This annual 
report will include an opinion, based on the areas examined, on whether the Council’s governance 
arrangements, including those for economy, efficiency and effectiveness, are adequate and have 
been properly applied in the year. 
  
In order to provide the required opinion the Internal Audit service will undertake a programme of 
work which will aim to achieve the following objectives: 
 
 to appraise the soundness, adequacy and application of the Council’s system of internal 

control;   
 to determine the reliability and integrity of financial and other information including that used in 

decision making, and the methods used to identify, measure, classify and report such 
information; 

 to ascertain the extent to which the systems of internal control ensure compliance with 
established policies and procedures; 

 to ascertain the extent to which the assets and interests of the Council are properly controlled 
and safeguarded from loss; 

 to appraise the economy, efficiency and effectiveness with which resources are employed;  
 to investigate fraud and irregularities or significant breaches of the internal control system, 

where appropriate. 
 
Managers are responsible for ensuring that adequate internal control arrangements exist in 
relation to the risks facing their Services. They are also responsible for ensuring that staff are 
aware of processes and procedure rules required to operate the control systems. This 
responsibility includes the duty to continuously review internal controls and ensure that they 
remain suitable in design and effective in operation. The existence of Internal Audit does not 
diminish the responsibility of management to establish and maintain systems of internal control to 
ensure that activities are conducted in a secure, efficient and effective manner. 
 

Management can assist the process of Internal Audit by: 

 

 providing access at all reasonable times to premises, personnel, documents and assets that 

the auditors consider necessary for the purposes of their work; 

 giving information and explanations that are sought in the course of their work; 

 commenting on and inputting to the audit plan and the terms of reference for each review to 

ensure attention is focussed on areas of greatest risk or concern; 

 early notification of plans for change, including new operational systems and processes; 

Page 100



 

Internal Audit Charter June 2021 Page 5 
 

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
High Peak Borough Council 

 considering and responding promptly to recommendations in audit reports, either accepting 

and implementing recommendations or formally rejecting it and therefore accepting the risks 

involved in doing so; 

 ensuring agreed actions arising from audit recommendations are carried out in a timely and 

efficient fashion; 

 notifying the s151 Officer / Head of Audit immediately of any suspected fraud, theft, irregularity, 

improper use or misappropriation of the Authority’s property or resources. Pending 

investigation and reporting, the Director should take all necessary steps to prevent further loss 

and to secure records and documentation against removal or alteration; and 

 acting in line with the Authority’s disciplinary procedures. 

OBJECTIVITY & CONFIDENTIALITY 
 
Internal Auditors must demonstrate the highest level of professional objectivity in gathering, 
evaluating and communicating information about the function or process being examined. They 
must make a balanced assessment of all relevant circumstances and not be unduly influenced by 
their own interests or by others in forming judgements. 
  
All Internal Auditors working in Local Government are required to comply with the Code of Ethics 
contained in PSIAS in addition to any requirements placed on them by the Council or any other 
Professional Body that they are members of. 
 
All records, documentation and information accessed in the course of undertaking Internal Audit 
activities shall be used solely for that purpose. The Head of Audit and individual Internal Auditors 
(including contractors and external providers performing work on behalf of Internal Audit) are 
responsible and accountable for maintaining the confidentiality of the information they receive 
during the course of their work.  
 
Whilst Audit Reports are confidentially directed to the recipients named, they are subject to the 
provisions of the Freedom of Information Act and, as such, may be required to be made publicly 
available upon request.  Before responding to any request to make Audit Reports publicly 
available, or otherwise making them publicly available, the Head of Audit should be consulted and 
where necessary elements of the report can be redacted. Similarly, Audit Reports, or extracts 
from them, should not be included in, or appended to, any Council Report, nor should they be 
quoted as a background paper to any Committee Report without firstly consulting with the Head of 
Audit. 

INTERNAL AUDIT RESOURCES 
 

The Council has a duty to provide sufficient resources to allow an adequate and effective Internal 
Audit service to be provided. Where it is felt that the resources are inadequate to meet the 
objectives of the Internal Audit service, the Head of Audit will formally report this to the Chief 
Executive and s151 Officer, and, if the position is not resolved, to the Audit Committee.  
 
Internal Audit must be appropriately staffed in terms of numbers, qualification levels and 
experience, having regard to its objectives and to the PSIAS. The Head of Audit will hold a 
relevant professional qualification (CMIIA, CCAB or equivalent) and be suitably experienced. The 
s151 Officer will be involved in the recruitment of the Head of Audit. 
 
The Head of Audit is responsible for ensuring that Internal Auditors receive appropriate training 
and experience to fulfil their duties and that levels of professional competence are maintained via 
the use of continual professional development. 
 
Where necessary, access to appropriate specialists from other departments or external sources 
should be made available to the Internal Audit service to assist in any audit, project or 
investigation requiring detailed specialist knowledge. 
 
 
 

Page 101



 

Internal Audit Charter June 2021 Page 6 
 

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
High Peak Borough Council 

INTERNAL AUDIT MANAGEMENT 
 

The Head of Audit is responsible for the day-to-day management of the Internal Audit service and 
fulfils the requirements of the “Chief Audit Executive” role required by the PSIAS. The Head of 
Audit will: 
  
 prepare an audit plan to review all relevant areas, and will update this plan if required to take 

account of changes in Council priorities and risks. The audit plan will be submitted to the Audit 
Committee annually for approval; 

 produce detailed audit programmes setting out the scope and objectives of each audit 
assignment, timescales and reporting arrangements; 

 ensure that work is completed to high standards in accordance with relevant professional 
standards; 

 ensure that a written audit report is produced for each assignment, giving an assurance 
opinion on the adequacy of the control environment and identifying actions to address any 
weaknesses; 

 ensure that audit reports are formally discussed with relevant Managers, an action plan is 
completed to reflect agreed actions and comments are recorded relating to each audit 
recommendation, together with the timescale for completion and the responsible officers. If a 
recommendation is not agreed by the Manager, this must also be stated; 

 ensure that follow-up work is undertaken to monitor the implementation of agreed 
management actions; 

 establish and maintain effective relationships with managers of all levels and obtain feedback 
from them on the effectiveness of the service; 

 establish and maintain effective relationships with the External Auditors; 
 develop and maintain a quality assurance and improvement programme covering all aspects 

of Internal Audit activity. 

INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN 
 
The work of the Internal Audit service is based on the delivery of a risk based annual Audit Plan 
and is conducted on a predominantly risk based systems audit approach. The Head of Audit 
prepares a new Audit Plan each year in line with the requirements of the PSIAS and this is 
presented to the Audit Committee for approval. 
 
The Audit Plan is derived from all of the areas that have been identified for review (the audit 
universe). Internal Audit undertakes a risk assessment of the audit universe based on an 
established best practice risk scoring model which takes into account a number of criteria 
including corporate strategic risks and risks identified from other sources of external and internal 
assurance. The Audit Plan is then determined based on the outcome of this process.  
 
Within the annual Audit Plan the Head of Audit will balance several key requirements. These 
include: 
 
 the performance targets for the service; 
 the need to ensure core financial systems are adequately reviewed to provide assurance that 

management has in place proper arrangements for financial control, on which the external 
auditors will place reliance; 

 the need to appropriately review all other strategic and operational systems; 
 having a contingency allowance to deal with unplanned work which may arise in the year 

including special investigations and consultancy. 
 
Achievement of the Audit Plan is a key priority for the Service. The Head of Audit will continually 
monitor the completion of the Annual Audit Plan. Where the Audit Plan is not being achieved the 
Head of Audit will be responsible for identifying the reasons for this and where possible take the 
necessary corrective action. 
 
 

Page 102



 

Internal Audit Charter June 2021 Page 7 
 

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
High Peak Borough Council 

REPORTING ACCOUNTABILITIES 
 

The Head of Audit reports to the Chief Executive but has the right to report directly to the 
Executive Director (Finance & Customer Service) and Chief Finance Officer (s151 Officer) and 
Chief Finance Officer, Monitoring Officer, Chair of the Audit Committee or External Auditor where 
it is deemed necessary. The Statutory Officers will support the work of Internal Audit and provide 
the necessary backing to ensure that key weaknesses are addressed and recommendations 
implemented and support Internal Audit’s position in upholding good governance within the 
Council. Statutory Officers should also ensure that the Internal Audit service is provided with all 
necessary advice, explanations and information needed for them to effectively carry out their role. 
 
The Head of Audit will present the annual audit plan to members of the Audit Committee for 
approval. Regular reports outlining progress against the Internal Audit Plan and summarising the 
assurances given for completed audits will also be presented to the Audit Committee. 
 
An annual report will be presented to the Audit Committee summarising the work undertaken 
throughout the year and providing an overall opinion on the Council’s internal control environment. 
This report is a key source of assurance for the Council’s Annual Governance Statement (AGS). 
The report will: 
 
 disclose any qualifications to that opinion together with the reasons for the qualification; 
 draw attention to any issues judged relevant to the preparation of the Annual Governance 

Statement;  
 compare work actually undertaken with the work planned and summarise performance of the 

Internal Audit service against its performance targets. 
 
A written report will be prepared for every internal audit review and actions agreed with the 
relevant Manager. The report will be issued to the responsible Manager, Head of Service, Director 
and Chief Finance Officer. The report includes an ‘opinion’ on the adequacy of controls in the area 
that has been audited. Every Internal Audit Report is subject to a regular follow-up in accordance 
with the Audit Service’s formalised follow-up system, in order to ascertain whether the action 
stated by management in their response to the report has been implemented by the agreed due 
dates. Failure to agree or implement fundamental recommendations will be reported to the s151 
Officer, Chief Executive and the Audit Committee as appropriate. 
 
The Head of Audit will report to the s151 Officer any serious weaknesses or significant fraud 
identified from the course of Internal Audit work or reported to Internal Audit. The matter may also 
be reported to the Chief Executive, the external auditors and the Audit Committee as appropriate. 

QUALITY ASSURANCE & IMPROVEMENT PROGRAMME 
 
The Head of Audit will develop and maintain a Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme 
(QAIP) in accordance with PSIAS. The QAIP will form the basis of the annual review of the 
system of internal audit as required by the PSIAS. For Internal Audit services operating in Local 
Government proper practice is now deemed to be PSIAS plus the Local Government Application 
Note (LGAN). 
 
The QAIP will show conformance with PSIAS/LGAN requirements and will offer explanations 
where conformance with PSIAS/LGAN is not achieved. An action plan may be developed as a 
result of the QAIP to achieve or improve levels of conformance. The outcome of the review and 
any resulting action plan will be reported to the Audit Committee and a statement regarding 
conformance with the PSIAS will be included in the Internal Audit Annual Report.  
 
An independent external review of Internal Audit will be carried out as part of the QAIP at least 
once every five years.  
 
Where non-conformance with PSIAS/LGAN impacts on the overall scope or operation of Internal 
Audit activity the nature of the impact will be disclosed to the Audit Committee. Serious deviations 
from conformance will need to be considered for inclusion in the Council’s Annual Governance 
Statement. 
 

Page 103



This page is intentionally left blank



  

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

Report to Audit & Accounts Committee 
 

25 June 2021 
 

 
TITLE: 

 
Internal Audit Annual Audit Plan 2021/22 

 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 

 
Councillor Sybil Ralphs - Council Leader 
SMDC 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 
John Leak – Head of Audit 

 
WARDS INVOLVED: 
 

 
Non-Specific 

 
Appendices Attached:  
Appendix 1 High Peak BC / Staffordshire Moorlands DC Internal Audit - Audit 
Plan 2021/22 
 
 
1. Reason for the Report 
 
1.1 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 requires the Council to “undertake 

an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, 
control and governance processes, taking into account public sector internal 
auditing standards or guidance”. In accordance with Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards, the Audit Manager should establish a risk based audit plan to 
determine the priorities of the internal audit activity, consistent with the 
Council’s goals. The audit plan must be based on a documented risk 
assessment undertaken at least annually. 

 
 
2. Recommendation 
 
2.1 That the Committee approve the Council’s annual Internal Audit Plan for 

2021/22. 
 
 
3. Executive Summary 
 
3.1 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards state that the Audit Plan must be 

based on a documented risk assessment undertaken at least annually and it 
needs to be flexible in response to changes in the Council’s business, risks, 
operations, programs, systems and controls. Furthermore, the Standard states 
that the Audit Manager must communicate the internal audit activity’s plans 
and resource requirements to senior management and the Audit Committee 
for review and approval. The Audit Manager must also communicate the 
impact of resource limitations. This report seeks to address these 
requirements. 

Page 105

Agenda Item 9



  

 
 
3.2 Due to the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic, considerable audit resource during 

April and May 2021 was diverted to continue to support the corporate 
response to the administration of the Government’s business grants support 
schemes. In addition work has also continued to complete last years planned 
audits. As a result the Audit Plan for 2021/22 will therefore be reduced 
accordingly and will aim to cover the Council’s key risks and systems. 

 
3.3 The annual audit plan for 2021/22 has been created and is attached as 

Appendix 1. This involved a review of the risk scores in accordance with the 
Audit Service’s established risk assessment methodology to ensure that the 
most recent changes affecting risk are taken into account. The Internal Audit 
Plan is a joint Alliance plan designed to make the best use of Alliance 
resources and to reflect the nature of Council services. 

 
3.4 Should any amendments to the audit plan be necessary during the year, these 

will be reported to members at future Audit & Accounts Committee meetings. 
 
 
4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 
4.1 The assurance provided by the work of Internal Audit informs the Annual 

Governance Statement and therefore helps to confirm effective use of financial 
and other resources to ensure value for money. 
 
 

5. Alternative Options 
 
5.1 Approve the 2021/22 Audit Plan (Recommended). The Council will have an 

achievable risk based internal audit plan which is designed to provide 
assurance that the control environment is effective in achieving the Council’s 
objectives and is in accordance with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, 
and therefore the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. 

 
5.2 Do not approve the 2021/22 Audit Plan (Not Recommended). The Council will 

not be complying with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 requirement 
to “undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk 
management, control and governance processes, taking into account public 
sector internal auditing standards or guidance”. 

 
 
 

ANDREW P STOKES 
Chief Executive 

 
Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Location Contact details 

None N/A John Leak 
Head of Audit 
john.leak@staffsmoorlands.g
ov.uk 

Page 106



  

 

Page 107



  

6. Detail 
 
6.1 The audit plan must be based on a documented risk assessment undertaken 

at least annually, in accordance with the requirements of the Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards. However the audit plan needs to be flexible to be 
able to reflect the changing risks and priorities of the Council so the entire 
scope of audits will receive ongoing consideration and attention to ensure that 
appropriate audit coverage is achieved. 

 
6.2  The Audit Plan has been developed using a comprehensive risk assessment 

framework which is designed to assess all areas of the Council’s services and 
thereby examine and evaluate the whole system of internal controls (both 
financial and non-financial) established by management. This risk assessment 
allows the Audit Plan to be focused, concentrating resources on the areas of 
greatest need and where there will be the best use of audit resources. The 
work is designed to appraise and review : 

 

 the completeness, reliability and integrity of information, both financial and 
operational; 

 the systems established to ensure compliance with policies, plans, 
procedures, laws and regulations, i.e. rules established by the 
management of the Council, or externally; 

 the means of safeguarding assets; 

 the economy, efficiency and effectiveness with which resources are 
employed, and whether operations are being carried out as planned and 
objectives and goals are being met. 

 
6.3 The risk based planning methodology utilised to prepare the audit plan 

assesses each system on eight risk elements : 
 

 Monetary / financial value; 

 Volume of transactions; 

 System factors – stability / type of processing application / complexity of 
regulations and / or processing; 

 Managerial and control environment / previous assurance; 

 Incidence / risk of fraud; 

 Sensitivity; 

 Corporate risks; and 

 Time since previous audit. 
 

This approach is linked to a mapping exercise whereby corporate risks are 
mapped to the Audit Plan to ensure they are adequately considered during the 
audit lifecycle. In addition the impact of the pandemic on service provision has 
also been a focus of audit planning and built in contingency will provide scope 
to direct resources to any increased risks that arise as a result of the 
pandemic during 2021/22. 

 
6.4 Due to the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic, considerable audit resource during 

April and May 2021 was diverted to continue to support the corporate 
response to the administration of the Governments business grants support 

Page 108



  

schemes. In addition work has also continued to complete last years planned 
audits. As a result the Audit Plan for 2021/22 will therefore be reduced 
accordingly and will aim to cover the Council’s key risks and systems. 
However the plan will have to be flexible to reflect the changing risks and 
priorities of the Council as the impact of the pandemic on services becomes 
clearer and the recovery phase progresses. 

 
6.5 The annual audit plan for 2021/22 has therefore been created and is attached 

as Appendix 1. As the Internal Audit service is a joint resource across both 
Alliance Councils, and all Alliance services are joint, the most efficient method 
of auditing to take advantage of economies of scale is to undertake audits 
covering both Alliance Councils. However there will still be occasions when 
audits only cover one of the Alliance Councils and this is reflected within the 
Audit Plan. The future audit approach to potential challenges to the internal 
control environment will need to be adapted as the delivery of Council services 
continue to be developed. 

 
6.6 It is planned to supplement the annual audit plan if required during 2021/22 

with the purchase of a specialist ICT audit resource to focus on technical ICT 
risks. An initial needs assessment to facilitate the prioritisation of future ICT 
audits was undertaken previously and where considered appropriate ICT 
audits arising from this assessment and from any additional risks highlighted 
during the pandemic will be planned and undertaken during 2021/22 and 
future years utilising available budget(s). 

 
 

 

Page 109



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1 
 

HIGH PEAK BC / STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DC 
INTERNAL AUDIT – AUDIT PLAN 2021/22 

 

AUDIT SMDC HPBC ALLIANCE TOTAL 

Key Financial Systems     

Budgetary Control   10 10 

Council Tax   15 15 

Creditor Payments   10 10 

Housing Benefits   15 15 

Housing Rents  15  15 

General Ledger   10 10 

Non-Domestic Rates   15 15 

Payroll   15 15 

Recovery   15 15 

Sundry Debtors   10 10 

Treasury Management   10 10 

TOTAL – KEY FINANCIAL SYSTEMS 0 15 125 140 

Areas identified within Corporate Risks     

AES Contract Management   10 10 

Assets & Facilities   15 15 

Commercial Property   15 15 

Data Protection/GDPR   10 10 

Housing Strategy   15 15 

Human Resources   15 15 

Pollution & Noise Control   10 10 

Regeneration   10 10 

Safeguarding   10 10 

Strategic Partnerships   10 10 

TOTAL – CORPORATE RISKS 0 0 120 120 

Areas identified by Internal Audit     

Building Control   10 10 

Cemeteries   10 10 

Cultural Development   10 10 

Customer Services   15 15 

E-Payment   10 10 

Housing Agency   15 15 

Housing Repairs & Maintenance  15  15 

 ICT Asset Management   10 10 

Land Charges   15 15 

Licensing   15 15 

Markets   15 15 

TOTAL – AREAS IDENTIFIED BY IA 0 15 125 140 

     

TOTAL PLANNED DAYS 0 30 370 400 

 

Page 111



This page is intentionally left blank



  

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

Audit & Accounts Committee 
 

25 June 2021 
 

 
TITLE: 

 
2020/21 Internal Audit Periodic Report 
February 2021 to May 2021 

 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 

 
Councillor Sybil Ralphs - Council Leader 
SMDC 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 
John Leak - Head of Audit 

 
WARDS INVOLVED: 
 

 
Non Specific  

 
Appendices Attached: 
Appendix 1 Audit Reports Issued Between 1st February 2021 and 31st May 
2021 
Appendix 2 Internal Audit 2020/21 Progress Information as at 31st May 2021 
Appendix 3 2019/20 Audit Recommendations Implementation 

 
 
1. Reason for the Report 
 
1.1 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 requires the Council to “undertake 

an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, 
control and governance processes, taking into account public sector internal 
auditing standards or guidance”. In accordance with the Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards, the Audit Manager must report periodically to the Audit 
Committee on the internal audit activity’s performance relative to its plan. 

 
 
2. Recommendation 
 
2.1 That the committee note the progress information contained within this report. 
 
 
3. Executive Summary 
 
3.1 The purpose of this report is to summarise current year performance 

information for the Council’s Internal Audit service for the 2020/21 financial 
year. This includes a breakdown of audits in progress and completed to date, 
the number and classification of recommendations made, agreed and where 
applicable, implemented by management. 

 
3.2 All audit recommendations have been agreed, and to date 91% of 2020/21 

audit recommendations that are due have been implemented. Where 
deficiencies in internal control have been identified and not corrected, Internal 

Page 113

Agenda Item 10



  

Audit are satisfied that they will be resolved in an appropriate manner and they 
will continue to monitor such cases. It should be noted that it is the 
responsibility of relevant Managers to implement agreed recommendations. 

 
 

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 
4.1 The assurance provided by the work of Internal Audit informs the Annual 

Governance Statement and therefore helps to confirm effective use of financial 
and other resources to ensure value for money. 
 
 

5. Alternative Options 
 
5.1 There are no options to consider. 
 
 

ANDREW P STOKES 
Chief Executive 

 
 

 
Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Contact details 

None John Leak 
Head of Audit 
john.leak@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 
01538 395400 Ext 4098 

 
  

Page 114



  

 
6. Detail 
 
6.1 Introduction 
 
6.1.1 The purpose of this report is to summarise current year performance 

information for the Council’s Internal Audit service for the 2020/21 financial 
year. This includes a breakdown of audits in progress and completed to date, 
the number and classification of recommendations made, agreed and where 
applicable, implemented by management. 
 

6.1.2 The work of the internal audit service is primarily based upon an annual risk 
assessed audit plan, which for the financial year 2020/21 was agreed by this 
Committee at the 3rd July 2020 meeting. The Internal Audit service also carry 
out work outside of the audit plan for which a contingency is usually built in. 
This unplanned work consists mainly of internal control consultancy work and 
special investigations into suspected fraud and irregularity. 

 
 
6.2 Audits Reports Issued & Status of Agreed Recommendations 

 
6.2.1 A summary of the Audit Reports issued during the period 1st February 2021 to 

31st May 2021 is shown in the table below. Further details of these audits 
outlining key issues and strengths and improvements are shown in Appendix 
1. 

 
Service Audit Recommendations Assurance 

High  
Risk 

Medium 
Risk 

Low  
Risk 

Health & Safety Emergency 
Planning & BC 

0 1 1 Satisfactory 

Democratic & 
Community 
Services 

CCTV 
 

0 3 4 Satisfactory 

Democratic & 
Community 
Services 

Climate 
Change 

0 3 4 Satisfactory 

Revenues & 
Benefits 

Council Tax 0 2 6 Satisfactory 

Revenues & 
Benefits 

NNDR 0 1 5 Satisfactory 

Finance & 
Customer Services 

Sundry 
Debtors 

0 0 2 Satisfactory 

Finance & 
Customer Services 

Treasury 
Management 

0 1 1 Satisfactory 

Finance & 
Customer Services 

General 
Ledger 

0 1 2 Satisfactory 

Finance & 
Customer Services 

Recovery 0 0 4 Satisfactory 

Service Audit Recommendations Assurance 

High  
Risk 

Medium 
Risk 

Low  
Risk 

Finance & Creditor 0 1 5 Satisfactory 

Page 115



  

Customer Services Payments 

Finance & 
Customer Services 

Budgetary 
Control 

0 0 0 Substantial 

 
6.2.2 A further breakdown of all of the audits in progress and completed during the 

current financial year including the current status of audit recommendations is 
detailed in Appendix 2.  All audit recommendations have been agreed, and to 
date 91% of 2020/21 audit recommendations that are due have been 
implemented. Where deficiencies in internal control have been identified and 
not corrected, Internal Audit are satisfied that they will be resolved in an 
appropriate manner and they will continue to monitor such cases. It should be 
noted that it is the responsibility of relevant Managers to implement agreed 
recommendations. 
 

6.2.3 Councillors will note that in addition to every individual audit recommendation 
being allocated a risk, every audit completed has been given an ‘assurance 
opinion’ based upon Internal Audit’s assessment of the internal control 
environment. These assurance opinions inform the annual audit opinion on the 
overall adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s internal control 
environment. The control levels are defined as follows: 
  

Control Level Definition 

Substantial There is a robust framework of controls designed to achieve 
the objectives and controls are consistently applied. 

Satisfactory There is a sufficient framework of controls which for the most 
part, are consistently applied.  However, weakness in the 
design or inconsistent application of controls within a few 
areas put achievement of particular objectives at risk. 

Limited Weaknesses in the system or the level of non compliance 
with controls in a number of areas are such to put the 
system objectives at risk. 

Unsatisfactory There is a significant breakdown in the framework of 
controls, which leaves the system open to significant abuse 
or error. 

 
6.2.4 Appendix 3 is a summary of recommendations made in the previous financial 

year 2019/20 implemented to date. This information will keep Councillors 
informed of progress made to ensure that all previous year audit 
recommendations are implemented. Due dates for implementation of some 
previous year recommendations will fall into 2020/21 and beyond depending 
on when the audit was carried out so this appendix will show when those 
recommendations become due for implementation. In due course, all 
recommendations will fall due and it will be possible to clearly identify which 
recommendations have not been implemented. 
 

6.2.5 To date 91% of 2019/20 audit recommendations that are due have been 
implemented. Where deficiencies in internal control have been identified and 
not corrected, Internal Audit are satisfied that they will be resolved in an 
appropriate manner and they will continue to monitor such cases.  It should be 
noted that it is the responsibility of relevant Managers to implement agreed 
recommendations. 

 

Page 116



  

 
6.3 Audits In Progress 
 
6.3.1 The status of audits that are currently in progress is shown in the table below. 

 
Service Audit Status 

Legal & Election 
Services 

Elections Audit Complete. Management Response. 

Revenues & 
Benefits 

Housing Benefits Audit in Progress. 

Finance & 
Customer Services 

Payroll Audit in Progress. 

 
 
6.4 Progress against Audit Plan 
 
6.4.1 The 2020/21 financial year has seen slow but steady progress against planned 

audits and all of the audits in progress or nearing completion as detailed in 6.3 
above will be completed soon. Internal Audit resources in the first quarter of 
2020/21 were diverted to support the corporate response to the administration 
of the Government’s various business grants support schemes and this 
support has been ongoing since the 2020/21 audit plan was commenced in 
July 2020 due to the introduction of further Government grant schemes. It is 
therefore likely that the percentage of the audit plan completed may be 
adversely affected, however this should not affect Internal Audit’s ability to 
provide the annual audit opinion. 

 
6.4.2 Current key progress information is summarised in the following table, 

excluding unplanned work unless otherwise stated: 
 

Summary Progress Information to 31st May 2021 

Percentage of Audit Plan completed / substantially completed 75% 

Percentage of Audit Plan In Progress 11% 

Number of recommendations made (including unplanned work) 107 

Percentage of recommendations agreed with Service Managers 
(including unplanned work) 

100% 

Percentage of recommendations implemented within agreed 
timescale (including unplanned work) 

91% 

 
6.4.3 Should recommendations have not been agreed, compensating controls exist 

or service managers have accepted the risk / inefficiency of the current system 
for the benefit of service delivery. 

 

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1 

AUDIT REPORTS ISSUED BETWEEN 1st FEBRUARY 2021 & 
31st MAY 2021 

 
 
Emergency Planning & Business Continuity 
 
Assurance Level 
 
Assurance: SATISFACTORY 
It is our opinion that controls currently in place within the system provide satisfactory assurance 
that risks material to the achievement of the systems objectives outlined in the Scope and 
Objectives section of this report are adequately managed. 
 
 
Key Findings 
 

Key Issues Strengths and Improvements 

 The Disaster Recovery Test Plan should 
be documented, approved and fulfilled for 
2021 and future years, to ensure the 
integrity of the Council’s IT systems. 

 

 The pandemic has tested the resilience of 
the Alliance beyond anything previously 
undertaken.  Key staff have contributed 
significantly to the various Emergency 
Planning processes, for example 
assuming strategic and tactical roles; 
leading on track and trace; major death 
planning; and planning ahead for the 
recovery stage.  This is alongside EU Exit 
planning. 

 The updated Emergency Plan, Business 
Continuity Plan and other associated 
documents are currently at the final review 
stage by the Alliance Leadership Team. 

 Good partnership relationships are in 
place with the Staffordshire Civil 
Contingencies Unit and the Derbyshire 
Emergency Planning Team. 

 The ICT Support Services contract with 
Northgate Public Services has been 
renewed from 1

st
 April 2021. 

 
 
Summary of Recommendations 
 
An analysis of the recommendations categorised by risk and classification (regulatory or added 
value) is shown below:  
 

Description High Medium Low 

R A R A R A 

Disaster Recovery   1    

Risk Register     1  

Total   1  1  

 

Page 119



APPENDIX 1 

CCTV 
 
Assurance Level 
 
Assurance: SATISFACTORY 
It is our opinion that controls currently in place within the system provide satisfactory assurance 
that risks material to the achievement of the systems objectives outlined in the Scope and 
Objectives section of this report are adequately managed. 
 
 
Key Findings 
 

Key Issues Strengths and Improvements 

 Update and further develop private space 
and public space CCTV inventories to 
reflect any changes since September 
2018. 

 Obtain an up-to-date Programme of 
Works  for the Public Realm CCTV 
Upgrades and Maintenance contract. 

 Introduce contract management 
procedures to manage the Public Realm 
CCTV Upgrades and Maintenance 
contract. 

 CCTV accreditation gained against the 
British Standard (BS7958) and 
Surveillance Camera Codes of Practice 
following an independent inspection and 
audit. 

 Procedures are in place to ensure that any 
issues highlighted through CCTV 
monitoring are reported to the local police. 

 
 
Summary of Recommendations 
 
An analysis of the recommendations categorised by risk and classification (regulatory or added 
value) is shown below:  
 

Description High Medium Low 

R A R A R A 

Inventory   1    

Contract & Contract Management   2  3  

Procedures     1  

Total   3  4  

Page 120



APPENDIX 1 

Climate Change 
 
Assurance Level 
 
Assurance: SATISFACTORY 
It is our opinion that controls currently in place within the system provide satisfactory assurance 
that risks material to the achievement of the systems objectives outlined in the Scope and 
Objectives section of this report are adequately managed. 
 
 
Key Findings 
 

Key Issues Strengths and Improvements 

 The Climate Change Strategy should be 
developed and approved as soon as 
possible in accordance with the objectives 
of the Corporate Plan.  

 The Climate Change action plans should 
be finalised as soon as possible ensuring 
that all targets are SMART and contribute 
towards the objectives of the Climate 
Change Strategy. 

 The draft CO2/Sustainability impact 
assessment form should be implemented 
as soon as possible, with guidance 
provided to relevant officers to ensure all 
relevant issues are considered in the 
completion of the form.   

 Climate Change working groups have 
been established which meet on a regular 
basis and include representation from 
relevant external bodies. 

 Climate Change actions have been 
considered as part of the relevant Service 
Plans and Corporate Strategies. 

 
 
Summary of Recommendations 
 
An analysis of the recommendations categorised by risk and classification (regulatory or added 
value) is shown below:  
 

Description High Medium Low 

R A R A R A 

Climate Change Strategy   2    

Climate Change Responsibilities     2  

Training     1  

Impact Assessments   1    

Risk Register     1  

Total   3  4  

 

Page 121



APPENDIX 1 

Council Tax  
 
Assurance Level 
 
Assurance: SATISFACTORY 
It is our opinion that controls currently in place within the system provide satisfactory assurance 
that risks material to the achievement of the systems objectives outlined in the Scope and 
Objectives section of this report are adequately managed. 
 
 
Key Findings 
 

Key Issues Strengths and Improvements 

 A procedure should be developed to 
ensure that all new build properties are 
physically inspected and where complete, 
issued with a Completion Notice and 
registered with the Valuation Office. 

 All discounts/exemptions should be 
reviewed in accordance with the 
documented review schedule. 

 Weekly Valuation Office schedules are 
reconciled to the system promptly. 

 Payments are posted to customer 
accounts promptly. 

 A daily reconciliation is carried out  
between the Income Management System 
and the Council Tax System. 

 A monthly reconciliation is carried out 
between the Council Tax System and the 
Financial Management System. 

 
 
Summary of Recommendations 
 
An analysis of the recommendations categorised by risk and classification (regulatory or added 
value) is shown below:  
 

Description High Medium Low 

R A R A R A 

Opening Debit Reconciliation 2020/21     1  

Tell Us Once Notifications     1  

VO Notifications Statistics     2  

Inspection of New Build Properties   1    

Review of Discounts / Exemptions   1  1  

System Access     1  

Total   2  6  

 

Page 122



APPENDIX 1 

NNDR 
 
Assurance Level 
 
Assurance: SATISFACTORY 
It is our opinion that controls currently in place within the system provide satisfactory assurance 
that risks material to the achievement of the systems objectives outlined in the Scope and 
Objectives section of this report are adequately managed. 
 
 
Key Findings 
 

Key Issues Strengths and Improvements 

 A robust, proactive procedure for the 
inspection/review of business rate 
premises should be developed and 
implemented to ensure that all new builds, 
voids, change of circumstances etc. are 
captured promptly and the relevant 
accounts updated accordingly. 
 

 A sample of discounts awarded was 
reviewed and all had been correctly 
applied. 

 Parameters had been correctly set within 
the system for the 2020/21 billing year. 

 Valuation Office schedules are reconciled 
to the Council’s NNDR system weekly. 

 NNDR income is regularly reconciled to 
the Income Management System, and the 
Financial Management System. 

 
 
Summary of Recommendations 
 
An analysis of the recommendations categorised by risk and classification (regulatory or added 
value) is shown below:  
 

Description High Medium Low 

R A R A R A 

Business Rate Relief Policy     2  

Year End Procedure Notes     1  

Inspection/Review of Business 
Premises 

  1    

Opening Debit Reconciliation     2  

Total   1  5  

 

Page 123



APPENDIX 1 

Sundry Debtors 
 
Assurance Level 
 
Assurance: SATISFACTORY 
It is our opinion that controls currently in place within the system provide satisfactory assurance 
that risks material to the achievement of the systems objectives outlined in the Scope and 
Objectives section of this report are adequately managed. 
 
 
Key Findings 
 

Key Issues Strengths and Improvements 

  Unallocated cash is reviewed on a daily 
basis. 

 An appropriate segregation of duties is in 
place between staff responsible for raising 
debtors and accounting for income.    

 Regular reconciliations are carried out to 
ensure that income is correctly posted 
within the key financial systems.   

 
 
Summary of Recommendations 
 
An analysis of the recommendations categorised by risk and classification (regulatory or added 
value) is shown below:  
 

Description High Medium Low 

R A R A R A 

Raising of Invoices     1  

System Access     1  

Total     2  

 

Page 124



APPENDIX 1 

Treasury Management 
 
Assurance Level 
 
Assurance: SATISFACTORY 
It is our opinion that controls currently in place within the system provide satisfactory assurance 
that risks material to the achievement of the systems objectives outlined in the Scope and 
Objectives section of this report are adequately managed. 
 
 
Key Findings 
 

Key Issues Strengths and Improvements 

 Retrospective authorisations requiring a 
physical signature from the Chief 
Executive, for example, investments and 
interest payments, should be actioned as 
per the authorised signatory listing, in 
accordance with Financial Regulations 
and Procedure Rule D3.21, and carried 
out in a timely manner.  The authorisation 
procedure for such transactions should be 
reviewed in consideration of the current 
remote working situation. 

 

 The Treasury Management team has 
adapted to recent economic challenges in 
light of the pandemic and Brexit to ensure 
that the Alliance has operated a balanced 
budget; cash flow has been adequately 
planned; and funding has been available 
for capital plans. 

 Counterparty limits have been adapted 
with the flexibility to respond to fluctuating 
cash flows, due to the two authorities 
acting as agent for Covid-19 Business 
Grant distribution, whilst still maintaining 
counterparty risk management. 

 
 
Summary of Recommendations 
 
An analysis of the recommendations categorised by risk and classification (regulatory or added 
value) is shown below:  
 

Description High Medium Low 

R A R A R A 

Financial Regulations & Procedure 
Rules 

    1  

Payment Authorisation   1    

Total   1  1  

 

Page 125



APPENDIX 1 

General Ledger 
 
Assurance Level 
 
Assurance: SATISFACTORY 
It is our opinion that controls currently in place within the system provide satisfactory assurance 
that risks material to the achievement of the systems objectives outlined in the Scope and 
Objectives section of this report are adequately managed. 
 
 
Key Findings 
 

Key Issues Strengths and Improvements 

 The system for the creation, authorisation 
and processing of journals should be 
reviewed to ensure that the authorisation 
process is adequately restricted to a 
limited number of senior finance staff. 

 The end of year bank reconciliation was 
carried out accurately and promptly. 

 Suspense items are cleared promptly. 

 Allocations from holding accounts are 
made regularly. 

 Balances are accurately rolled forward as 
part of the year end process. 

 
 
Summary of Recommendations 
 
An analysis of the recommendations categorised by risk and classification (regulatory or added 
value) is shown below:  
 

Description High Medium Low 

R A R A R A 

Journals   1  1  

Year End Closedown Timetable     1  

Total   1  2  

 

Page 126



APPENDIX 1 

Recovery 
 
Assurance Level 
 
Assurance: SATISFACTORY 
It is our opinion that controls currently in place within the system provide satisfactory assurance 
that risks material to the achievement of the systems objectives outlined in the Scope and 
Objectives section of this report are adequately managed. 
 
 
Key Findings 
 

Key Issues Strengths and Improvements 

  2020/21 collection rates for Council Tax and 
Business Rates met the performance target.  

 Write offs were adequately authorised and 
documentation retained to support the  
reason for write off. 

 
 
Summary of Recommendations 
 
An analysis of the recommendations categorised by risk and classification (regulatory or added 
value) is shown below:  
 

Description High Medium Low 

R A R A R A 

Policies and Procedures     1  

Suppression of Recovery Action     3  

Total     4  

Page 127



APPENDIX 1 

Creditor Payments 
 
Assurance Level 
 
Assurance: SATISFACTORY 
It is our opinion that controls currently in place within the system provide satisfactory assurance 
that risks material to the achievement of the systems objectives outlined in the Scope and 
Objectives section of this report are adequately managed. 
 
 
Key Findings 
 

Key Issues Strengths and Improvements 

 Controls should be implemented to 
ensure that duplicate payments cannot be 
made via the Creditors system.  This 
should include consistency of data input 
into the document reference field in 
instances where no invoice number is 
quoted. 

 Payments made via the purchase ledger 
are regularly reconciled to the Creditors 
control account. 

 Accruals are accurately accounted for. 

 
 
Summary of Recommendations 
 
An analysis of the recommendations categorised by risk and classification (regulatory or added 
value) is shown below:  
 

Description High Medium Low 

R A R A R A 

Purchasing Cards     2  

Invoice Processing   1  1 1 

Payment Run     1  

Total   1  4 1 

Page 128



APPENDIX 1 

Budgetary Control 
 
Assurance Level 
 
Assurance: SUBSTANTIAL 
It is our opinion that controls currently in place within the system provide substantial assurance 
that risks material to the achievement of the systems objectives outlined in the Scope and 
Objectives section of this report are adequately managed. 
 
 
Key Findings 
 

Key Issues Strengths and Improvements 

  2020/21 budgets were approved by 
Committee in accordance with the budget 
setting timetable; and uploaded to the 
Financial Management System promptly. 

 Budgets are monitored throughout the 
year and quarterly Financial updates are 
provided to Committee reporting current 
position, amendments etc. 

 
 
Summary of Recommendations 
 
An analysis of the recommendations categorised by risk and classification (regulatory or added 
value) is shown below:  
 

Description High Medium Low 

R A R A R A 

None       

Total       

 
  

Page 129



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 2 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL INTERNAL AUDIT – 2020/21 PROGRESS INFORMATION AS AT 31st MAY 2021 

AUDIT TOTAL 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

HIGH RISK 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

MEDIUM RISK 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

LOW RISK 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

ASSURANCE OPINION / 
COMMENTS 

 Regulatory Added 
value 

Agreed / (Not 
Agreed) 

Due to 
date 

Actioned 
to date 

Agreed / (Not 
Agreed) 

Due to 
date 

Actioned 
to date 

Agreed / (Not 
Agreed) 

Due to 
date 

Actioned 
to date 

 

Corporate Governance 12 4 0  0 0 4  4 4 12  9 9 Satisfactory 

Capital Accounting 0 0 0  0 0 0  0 0 0  0 0 Substantial 

Elections               Management Response 

Leisure Sports Development 4 0 0  0 0 0  0 0 4  3 3 Satisfactory 

Housing Advice 7 2 0  0 0 1  1 1 8  1 1 Satisfactory 

Equalities & Diversity 12 2 0  0 0 4  2 1 10  4 4 Limited 

Corporate Project Management 7 0 0  0 0 2  1 0 5  2 2 Satisfactory 

Performance Management 2 0 0  0 0 0  0 0 2  0 0 Substantial 

Regeneration 5 1 0  0 0 1  0 0 5  2 1 Satisfactory 

Emergency Planning&Business Cont 2 0 0  0 0 1  0 0 1  0 0 Satisfactory 

Risk Management 2 0 0  0 0 0  0 0 2  2 2 Substantial 

CCTV 7 0 0  0 0 3  0 0 4  0 0 Satisfactory 

Climate Change 7 0 0  0 0 3  0 0 4  3 3 Satisfactory 

Council Tax 8 0 0  0 0 2  0 0 6  0 0 Satisfactory 

NNDR 6 0 0  0 0 1  0 0 5  0 0 Satisfactory 

Sundry Debtors 2 0 0  0 0 0  0 0 2  0 0 Satisfactory 

Treasury Management 2 0 0  0 0 1  0 0 1  0 0 Satisfactory 

General Ledger 3 0 0  0 0 1  0 0 2  0 0 Satisfactory 

Recovery 4 0 0  0 0 0  0 0 4  0 0 Satisfactory 

Creditor Payments 5 1 0  0 0 1  0 0 5  0 0 Satisfactory 

Budgetary Control 0 0 0  0 0 0  0 0 0  0 0 Substantial 

Housing Benefits               Audit in Progress 

Payroll               Audit in Progress 

TOTAL RECOMMENDATIONS 107 0    25    82     

ACTION TAKEN TO DATE  0 0  8 6  26 25  

Key: 
Risk   Class  
High Significant control weakness / inefficiency exists with a high likelihood of occurring, potentially 

causing a breach of legislation / legal requirements and/or a substantial loss or damage to Council 
assets, information and reputation.  Considered essential to implement recommendation promptly. 

 Regulatory To ensure the integrity of internal controls and/or compliance with Regulations / 
Policies and Procedures.  

     
Medium Control weakness / inefficiency exists with a moderate likelihood of occurring, potentially causing a 

breach of organisational policies and procedures, loss or damage to Council assets, information 
and reputation.  Considered essential to implement recommendation to ensure adequate system 
controls / necessary improvement in service provision. 

 Added 
Value 

Intended as an enhancement to the existing system which may provide a benefit 
to either the user or the customer. 

     
Low Minor control weakness / inefficiency exists with a minimal impact on the Council assets, 

information and reputation.  Considered necessary to implement recommendation to provide 
management with additional assurance regarding the adequacy of system controls / improvement 
in service provision. 

   

 

P
age 131



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 3 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL INTERNAL AUDIT – YEAR END INFORMATION FOR 2019/20 

AUDIT TOTAL 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

HIGH RISK 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

MEDIUM RISK 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

LOW RISK 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

ASSURANCE OPINION / 
COMMENTS 

 Regulatory Added 
value 

Agreed / (Not 
Agreed) 

Due to 
date 

Actioned 
to date 

Agreed / (Not 
Agreed) 

Due to 
date 

Actioned 
to date 

Agreed / (Not 
Agreed) 

Due to 
date 

Actioned 
to date 

 

Assets & Facilities 12 2 0  0 0 4  2 2 10  10 10 Satisfactory 

Civica SharedServices Data 
Breaches 

7 0 0  0 0 4  4 4 3  3 3 Limited 

Health & Safety 7 2 0  0 0 1  1 1 8  8 8 Satisfactory 

BACS Transmissions 5 0 0  0 0 2  2 2 3  3 1 Satisfactory 

Sickness & Time Management 10 2 0  0 0 1  0 0 11  7 7 Satisfactory 

Bank Contract 2 0 0  0 0 0  0 0 2  2 2 Substantial 

Housing Tenancy Allocation 0 0 0  0 0 0  0 0 0  0 0 Substantial 

Taxi Licensing 5 2 0  0 0 1  1 1 6  5 5 Satisfactory 

Safeguarding 7 2 0  0 0 2  2 2 7  7 7 Satisfactory 

Procurement 12 3 0  0 0 2  1 1 13  12 12 Satisfactory 

Insurance 4 2 0  0 0 1  1 0 5  5 1 Satisfactory 

Member Services 7 2 0  0 0 0  0 0 9  9 6 Satisfactory 

Parking 11 1 0  0 0 3  1 1 9  5 5 Satisfactory 

Tourism 26 0 0  0 0 2  1 1 24  13 11 Satisfactory 

Environmental Health Licensing 2 2 0  0 0 1  1 1 3  3 3 Satisfactory 

Food Safety 2 0 0  0 0 0  0 0 2  2 2 Substantial 

Hybrid Mail 4 5 0  0 0 2  2 2 7  7 7 Satisfactory 

AES Governance 2 0 0  0 0 0  0 0 2  1 1 Substantial 

AES Contract Management 4 0 0  0 0 2  0 0 2  2 2 Satisfactory 

Sundry Debtors 4 0 0  0 0 0  0 0 4  4 4 Satisfactory 

Treasury Management 3 0 0  0 0 1  1 1 2  2 2 Satisfactory 

Development Control 3 2 0  0 0 1  1 1 4  4 0 Satisfactory 

Recovery 1 0 0  0 0 0  0 0 1  1 1 Substantial 

Council Tax 4 0 0  0 0 2  2 2 2  2 2 Satisfactory 

Creditor Payments 1 0 0  0 0 0  0 0 1  1 1 Substantial 

Payroll 7 0 0  0 0 0  0 0 7  7 7 Satisfactory 

NNDR 3 0 0  0 0 2  2 2 1  1 1 Satisfactory 

General Ledger 2 0 0  0 0 0  0 0 2  2 2 Substantial 

Budgetary Control 0 0 0  0 0 0  0 0 0  0 0 Substantial 

Housing Benefits 14 3 0  0 0 3  3 3 14  13 13 Satisfactory 

TOTAL RECOMMENDATIONS 201 0    37    164     

ACTION TAKEN TO DATE  0 0  28 27  141 126  

Key: 
Risk   Class  
High Significant control weakness / inefficiency exists with a high likelihood of occurring, potentially 

causing a breach of legislation / legal requirements and/or a substantial loss or damage to Council 
assets, information and reputation.  Considered essential to implement recommendation promptly. 

 Regulatory To ensure the integrity of internal controls and/or compliance with Regulations / 
Policies and Procedures.  

     
Medium Control weakness / inefficiency exists with a moderate likelihood of occurring, potentially causing a 

breach of organisational policies and procedures, loss or damage to Council assets, information 
and reputation.  Considered essential to implement recommendation to ensure adequate system 
controls / necessary improvement in service provision. 

 Added 
Value 

Intended as an enhancement to the existing system which may provide a benefit 
to either the user or the customer. 

     
Low Minor control weakness / inefficiency exists with a minimal impact on the Council assets, 

information and reputation.  Considered necessary to implement recommendation to provide 
management with additional assurance regarding the adequacy of system controls / improvement 
in service provision. 

   

 

P
age 133



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  

 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
Report to the Audit & Accounts Committee 

 
25th June 2021 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1. Reason for the Report  
 
1.1      The purpose of the report is to provide the Audit Committee with detail of the 

Business Grants process and mitigation measures in regard to the potential 
risk of fraud or mis-payment.  

 
2. Recommendations 
 
2.1 That Audit Committee note the contents of this report. 
 
3. Executive Summary 
 
3.1 In response to the coronavirus pandemic and subsequent national lockdowns 

and tiered systems that followed from March 2020 onwards, the Secretary of 
State for Business Energy & Industrial Strategy (BEIS) announced a series of 
business grant schemes to support businesses thorough the period of closure.   
These grants were to be administered by Local Authorities, funded via 
Government grants. 

 
3.2 This report provides a summary of the grant schemes, the process 

implemented to mitigate against the risk of fraud and mis-payment, information 
returns requested by Government and a summary of the some of the 
fraudulent / mis-paid cases identified. 

 
4.       How this Report Links to Corporate Priorities  
 
4.1 The successful delivery of all corporate priorities is dependent upon the 

effective management of financial resources, which is the subject of this 
report. 

 
5.        Options and Analysis 
 
5.1  There are no options to consider at this stage. 

TITLE: Business Grants Process  
 

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR Cllr Sybil Ralphs – Leader 
 

CONTACT OFFICERS: Joanne Wheeldon – Interim Head of Revenues & 
Benefits                                                                       
Keith Pointon – Interim Head of Finance 

 

WARDS INVOLVED:  Non-Specific 

Page 135

Agenda Item 11



  

 
6.  Implications 
 
6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 

None. 
 

6.2 Workforce 
A significant number of staff have been diverted to assisting with the 
Business Grants process since commencement in March 2020 
 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's Equality and 
Diversity policies. 
 

6.4 Financial Considerations 
The Business Grants process has been funded via grants payable from 
Government 
 

6.5 Legal 
None 
 

16.6 Sustainability 
The Business Grants process was undertaken fully electronically 

 
6.7 External Consultation 

None, although he information that the Council holds in respect of 
businesses as a result of the process should be analysed and used to assist 
when focusing on business support. 
 

6.8   Risk A Risk Assessment 
Risk assessment was undertaken as part of the process set up for each 
grant scheme – detailed throughout the report.  However, with the volume of 
applications and grants paid, there is a risk that a small amount of fraudulent 
activity or mis-payment may have successfully taken place.   
 
 

CLAIRE HAZELDENE 
Interim Executive Director (Finance & Customer Services) 

 
Web Links and 
Background Papers 

 Contact details 

 

Government Business Grant Guidance 
- https://www.gov.uk/ 
 

 

 
 

Joanne Wheeldon 
Interim Head of Revenues & Benefits 
01538 395770 
 
Keith Pointon 
Interim Head of Finance 
01538 395400 Ext. 4193 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 136

https://www.gov.uk/


  

7. Introduction 
 
7.1 In response to the coronavirus pandemic and subsequent national lockdown in 

March 2020, the Secretary of State for Business Energy & Industrial Strategy 
(BEIS) announced a business grant scheme to support businesses thorough 
the period of closure.   These grants were to be administered by Local 
Authorities, funded via Government grants. 

 
7.2 As restrictions were lifted and then further imposed locally and nationally, 

there have been a series of grants that have been, and continue to be 
administered over the last 15 months. 

 
7.3 This report provides a summary of the grant schemes, the process 

implemented to mitigate against the risk of fraud and mis-payment, information 
returns requested by Government and a summary of the some of the 
fraudulent cases/mis-paid identified. 

 
8. Business Grants Administered  
 

8.1 Since March 2020, there have been several grant schemes administered by 
the Council.  The below paragraphs provide a summary of all the various grant 
schemes, how these were funded and the total grants payments made to date. 

 

Small Business Grants / Retail Grants 
 

8.2 During March 2020, as a result of the initial lockdown, the Secretary of State 
for Business Energy & Industrial Strategy (BEIS) announced two business 
rates support grants: 

 

 A £10,000 grant to all properties occupied by active businesses in receipt 
of rural rate relief or small business rates relief including those in receipt of 
tapered relief.  
 

 A grant of up to £25,000 to those businesses in the retail, hospitality and 
leisure sectors:  
‒ Businesses in these sectors with a rateable value of under £15,000 

were eligible for a grant of £10,000.     
‒ Businesses in these sectors with a rateable value of between £15,000 

and £51,000 were eligible for a grant of £25,000.   
 

Discretionary Grants 
 

8.3 In May 2020 Government announced an additional 5% uplift to the previous 
Small Business Grants / Retail Grant funding. This additional fund was aimed 
at small businesses with ongoing fixed property-related costs who are not 
liable for Business Rates. Local authorities were asked to prioritise the 
following businesses:  

 

 Those in shared spaces,  

 Regular market traders,  

 Small charity properties that would meet the criteria for Small Business 
Rates Relief, and  

 Bed and breakfasts that pay council tax rather than business rates.  
 

Page 137



  

8.4 The allocation of funding was at the discretion of local authorities. Businesses 
must be small (under 50 employees) and they must also have been able to 
demonstrate that they have seen a significant drop of income due to 
Coronavirus restriction measures. 

 
8.5 The Council developed a policy on this basis with a scoring system to 

determine the amount of grant awarded linked to property costs, number of 
employees, income loss and status of business (i.e. full closed / partially open 
etc) 

 
Local Restrictions Support Grants (LRSG) 
 

8.6 The LRSG schemes were launched in November 2020.  The schemes 
incorporated: 
 
Local Restrictions Support Grant (LRSG) CLOSED grants 
The LRSG CLOSED grant was payable to businesses who were liable for 
Business Rates who were mandated to close during the second and third 
national lockdown periods: 5th Nov – 2nd Dec and 4th Jan – 31st March. 
 
Local Restrictions Support Grant (LRSG) SECTOR grants 
The LRSG SECTOR grant was payable to businesses who were liable for 
Business Rates who had not been authorised to reopen since the initial 
lockdown in March.  Such business include nightclubs, discos, late night 
entertainment venues etc.  The grant come into force from 1st November, 
therefore eligible businesses received a payment from 1st Nov – 4th Nov, but 
then this grant was superseded by the LRSG CLOSED grant form 5th Nov. 
 
Local Restrictions Support Grant (LRSG) OPEN grants. 
Any business who operated in the hospitality, leisure or accommodation sector 
were awarded an LRSG OPEN grant for the period prior to 5th November 
when the area was in tier 2 restrictions (31st Oct – 4th Nov) and for the period 
2nd Dec – 30th Dec (where businesses were not mandated to close) 
 
Christmas Support Payment 
 

8.7 The Christmas Support Payment grant provided funding for local authorities 
subject to Tier 2 or Tier 3 restrictions in December 2020 to pay one-off grants 
of £1,000 to wet-led pubs. These are pubs that predominantly serve alcohol 
rather than provide food and have been severely impacted over the festive 
season due to temporary local restrictions.  
 
Restart Grant 
 

8.8 As Government announced its national roadmap for the gradual lifting of 
restrictions, it also announcement a ‘Restart Grant’ to provide funding towards 
reopening costs for businesses who had been required to close during the 
lockdown period.   

 
 

Page 138



  

8.9 The Restart grant was available to businesses operating in the leisure, 
hospitality, accommodation, personal care and retail sectors who were liable 
for Business Rates.  Grant awards were based on 3 bandings depending on 
sector and Rateable Value, ranging from £2,667 - £18,000. 
 
Additional Restrictions Grant 

 
8.10 The Government allocated additional discretionary funding to Local Authorities 

in the form of ‘Additional Restrictions Grant’ (ARG).  The ARG provided 
additional funding for local authorities subject to national lockdown or Tier 3/4 
restrictions, to support businesses that have had their trade affected by the 
restrictions. This included: 

 closed businesses that don’t pay business rates 

 businesses that have not been required to close, but are still severely 
impacted 

 
8.11 Each local authority had the discretion to establish business grant schemes or 

other business support as best fits their area.  The Council has administered 
various schemes utilising ARG funding as outlined below. 
 
Phase 1 – Discretionary Grant 
The Council launched Phase 1 of the ARG allocation as a discretionary grant 
payable for the period 31st Oct – 31st March, to be awarded to:  
 

 Business that ARE NOT LIABLE for Business Rates but were legally 
required to close during the second/third national lockdowns  

 

 Businesses that WERE NOT legally required to close during the 
second/third national lockdowns BUT MAINLY SUPPLY the sectors that 
were mandated to close (suppliers to non-essential retail, leisure, 
personal care, sports facilities and hospitality businesses)  

 
Phase 2 - Hardship Fund 
There were businesses that were not eligible for any of the grant schemes, but 
had seen a severe financial impact to their business as a result of the 
restrictions. Therefore, the Council launched a ‘hardship fund’ in February 
which comprised 4 themes: 

 Grant for licenced local taxi drivers who had NOT had discretionary 
grants since November  

 Grant for home based businesses based in the District AND have had a 
significant fall in income due to Covid AND have on-going business 
overheads e.g. insurance, licences etc. (fully open / partial trading / 
Closed) 

 Grant for essential traders who have a permanent shop or market lease 
agreement AND who have experienced a significant drop in income 
due to lower footfall  

 Grant for exceptional circumstances for SME businesses who are liable 
for business rates AND who are at significant risk of failure due to 
Covid AND closure would involve making ten or more people redundant  

 
 
 

Page 139



  

Phase 3 – Discretionary Restart / Hardship Top-up 
To replicate the Government’s Restart Grant, the Council also provided an 
equivalent ‘Discretionary Restart Grant’ to those businesses who were eligible 
for the Phase 1 Discretionary Grant as well as a ‘top-up’ for Theme 2 Hardship 
applicants. 
 
Government Grant Funding 

 
8.12 The Council received funding from government to pay out these grants to 

Businesses.  The funding was based on Government’s estimation of the 
eligibility in the District for the various schemes.  There will be a reconciliation 
process to be undertaken (see section 10) to calculate the actual amount 
issued against the funding received, with the difference repaid to Government. 

 
8.13 The eligibility numbers fluctuated during the grant payment process. One of 

the common issues in the early part of the process was that the application 
process drew attention to previously unknown occupation changes.  This in 
turn resulted in the demand for further evidence to demonstrate that the 
applicant was in occupation and trading on the required date.  In addition 
eligibility numbers have also been reduced by local outlets of national 
businesses not applying because ‘state aid’ restrictions.  

 
Summary of grants paid to Businesses 

 

8.14 The table below summarises the number and value of grants paid out under 
each scheme, which demonstrates the magnitude of the process undertaken. 

 

Grant Schemes - SMDC Number of 
applications 

Value of 
Grants paid 

(£) 

Small Business Grant  1,486 14,860,000 

Retail Grant 415 6,595,000 

Discretionary Grant 173 1,102,750 

LRSG CLOSED (including SECTOR) Lockdown 2 – Nov 2020 925 1,359,420 

LRSG CLOSED (Tiered System Dec – Jan) 1,415 982,738 

Christmas Support Payments (Wet Led Pubs) 88 88,000 

LRSG CLOSED (including SECTOR) Lockdown 3 – Jan-Mar 2021 1,855 4,175,360 

Closed Business Lockdown Payment 927 4,081,000 

Restart Grants 889 6,650,725 

Additional Restrictions Grant (Discretionary and Hardship Fund) 1,026 2,654,984 

TOTAL 9,199 42,549,977 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 140



  

9. Business Grants Process 
 
9.1 There has been significant pressure on Local Authorities to ensure that 

funding was paid to businesses as quickly as possible to support them with 
payment of fixed costs while income receipts had been severely impacted. 

 
9.2 However it was also the responsibility of each Local Authority to ensure that 

payments were made to eligible businesses only and that adequate checks 
were undertaken prior to payment being made, as well as relevant post-
payment checks.   

 
9.3 Prior to the majority of grant payments being made, an application form was 

required to be completed.  The exception being the original Small Business / 
Retail grant scheme whereby if the Council held bank details on the Business 
Rates system (for the purposes of Business Rates payments) then payments 
were automatically issued as eligibility for that scheme was based on being in 
receipt of either Small Business Rates Relief or Retail Relief.  Just over 200 
payments were made automatically.   

 
9.4 All other grant payments required an application form to be completed and 

verified prior to payment.  Throughout the grants process a significant level of 
checking has been undertaken both pre and post payment.   

 
9.6 Pre-payment checks have involved reviewing the business rates system and 

other Council systems, and the request of documentation (e.g. lease 
agreements, bank statements and income/expenditure records) to confirm 
eligibility and prevent duplicate payments. A review of online records and 
information sources such as the Companies House database and the analysis 
of updates from other intelligence sources such as National Anti-Fraud 
Network (NAFN) has been undertaken to determine whether companies are 
actively trading. 

 
9.7 As part of the payment process, the Creditors section were also able to 

identify if any duplicate payments were being made based on the referencing 
system used to upload payments. 

 
9.8 Post-payment checks have involved significant use of the Cabinet Office's 

'Spotlight' system and the submission of grant payment information via the 
'National Fraud Initiative' to identify potential areas of risk in received 
applications and to facilitate the matching of data from a large volume of public 
and private sector organisations. Data analysis of the Council’s grant payment 
records has been completed to identify potential duplicate applications (name, 
address, contact details, property references etc). 

 
9.9 The majority of the duplicates identified were legitimate e.g. same person 

running more than one business, or owners making both mandatory and 
discretionary grants as they were unsure as to what grant they were eligible 
for.  Where any potentially fraudulent payments were identified, they were 
referred for further review. 

 
 

Page 141



  

10. Government Returns 
 

10.1 As part of the business grants process, Government have required Local 
Authorities to provide regular information. 

 
10.2 Weekly returns have been completed outlining the total grants paid, separated 

for each category of grant, so progress can be determined on how quickly 
grants were being paid out to businesses.  

 
10.3 BEIS also requires a monthly return of all business support grants paid with 

full details of the recipients. 
 
10.4 Monthly returns were submitted for the initial grant scheme where businesses 

were in receipt of small business rates relief/retail relief or had been awarded 
a discretionary grant. The total number of grants paid and the amounts were 
confirmed along with the numbers where the authority was aiming to recover 
the grant and where unsuccessful would be passed to BEIS for recovery.  
 

10.5 Government also required Local Authorities to develop fraud risk assessments 
and post payment plans for each scheme.  To date, BEIS have requested 
sample evidence of individual payments for the small business rates 
relief/retail relief and initial discretionary schemes.  This has been completed 
and submitted to BEIS to satisfy the post payment assurance verification 
process.  It is likely that the same will be required for the LRSG and ARG 
schemes. 

 
 

11. Fraudulent / Non-Eligible cases 
 

11.1 Whilst a number of pre-payment checks were imposed, there have been a 
handful on instances where grants have been paid incorrectly. 

 
11.2 To date, there are a total of 8 grants that the Council needs to recover (1 has 

been part paid) which represents less than 0.09% of the overall total grants 
paid.  

 
11.3 Out of the 8 cases the Council is currently recovering, there are: 

 Four cases where it was established that the ratepayer was not in actual 
occupation on the qualifying date 

 1 case that was paid automatically but it was then established that the 
business had vacated the premises and not informed Council. 

 1 case where we paid the grant and then discovered that there were two 
businesses working from one assessment which needed to be split by the 
Valuation Office into separate units. We had the assessment in the name 
of the business who applied for the grant and were then informed by the 
other business that they were also in occupation. 

 1 case where husband and wife separated and both parties applied for 
and received the grant. 

 1 case that was a fraudulent application and is currently being investigated 
by the National Investigation Service 

 

Page 142



  

11.4 So far, emails have been issued, at least two letters and the Revenues team 
are now in the process of issuing a formal invoice and taking the appropriate 
recovery action. 

 
11.5 The Council will need to demonstrate to BEIS that it has undertaken the 

relevant recovery process in an attempt to recover fund paid incorrectly.  It is 
anticipated that if unsuccessful, BEIS will then also attempt recovery and if 
necessary, will fund any mis-payments where it is satisfied Councils had 
robust checks in place. 

 
 

Page 143



This page is intentionally left blank



 
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
Report to the Audit & Accounts Committee 

 
25th June 2021 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1. Reason for the Report  
 
1.1      The purpose of the report is to brief the Audit Committee in regard to the 

requirements of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy 
(CIPFA) Financial Management Code. 

 
2. Recommendations 
 
2.1 That Audit Committee note the contents of this report and recommendation for 

a full self-assessment against the principals of the CIPFA Financial 
Management code.  

 
3. Executive Summary 
 
3.1 Local government finance in the UK is governed by primary legislation, 

regulation and professional standards as supported by statutory provision. 
The general financial management of a local authority, however, has not until 
now been supported by a professional code. The FM Code has been 
introduced (pre-Covid 19) in recognition of the exceptional financial 
circumstances faced by local authorities – which have been further tested as a 
result of the pandemic. 

 
3.2 The FM Code requires authorities to demonstrate that the processes they 

have in place satisfy the principles of good financial management, which is an 
essential part of ensuring that public sector finances are sustainable. The FM 
Code identifies risks to financial sustainability and introduces a framework of 
assurance. 

 
3.3 The first full year of compliance with the FM Code was originally scheduled for 

2021/22.  However, in recognition of the pressures that have been placed on 
Local Authorities in dealing with the coronavirus pandemic, CIPFA has 
concluded that while the first year of compliance can remain as 2021/2022, it 
can do so within a more flexible framework where a proportionate approach is 
encouraged.  

TITLE: CIPFA Financial Management Code  

 
EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR Cllr Sybil Ralphs – Council Leader SMDC 
 
CONTACT OFFICERS: Keith Pointon – Interim Head of Finance      
                      

WARDS INVOLVED:  Non-Specific 

Page 145

Agenda Item 12



 
3.4 In practice this means that adherence to some parts of the Code will 

demonstrate a direction of travel with reference made in the Annual 
Governance Statement for 2020/21 in respect of the organisation’s 
compliance with the principles of the FM Code.  

 
3.5  This report recommends that a full self-assessment of the Council’s current 

processes, procedures and governance arrangements is undertaken to 
understand compliancy against the FM Code.  This full assessment will be led 
by the Executive Director & CFO in liaison with Alliance Leadership Team.  
This will be reported back to Audit Committee during 2021/22. 

 
3.6 At this point, an initial high-level review against the principles of the FM Code 

has been undertaken in ANNEX A.    
 
3.7 This initial review indicates that the Council is generally complying with the 

overall principles of the CIPFA Financial Management code, with only 
moderate improvements likely to be  required within some specific areas of 
focus.   

 
4.       How this Report Links to Corporate Priorities  
 
4.1 The successful delivery of all corporate priorities is dependent upon the 

effective management of financial resources, which is the subject of this 
report. 

 
5.        Options and Analysis 
 
5.1  There are no options to consider. 

 
6.  Implications 
 
6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 

None. 
 

6.2 Workforce 
None 
 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's Equality and 
Diversity policies. 
 

6.4 Financial Considerations 
Compliance with the requirements of the Financial Management code will 
support the Council’s financial sustainability.  
 

6.5 Legal 
None 
 
 

Page 146



16.6 Sustainability 
None specifically- although the FM Code has been purchased electronically. 

 
6.7 External Consultation 

None at this stage – although the full assessment process may include 
liaison with External Audit.  
 

6.8   Risk A  Risk Assessment 
Compliance with the Financial Management code mitigates against the risk 
of financial unsustainability. 
 
 

CLAIRE HAZELDENE 
Interim Executive Director (Finance & Customer Services) 

 
Web Links and 
Background Papers 

 Contact details 

 

CIPFA Financial Management Code 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

Keith Pointon 
Interim Head of Finance 
01538 395400 Ext. 4193 

 

 

Page 147



7. Introduction 
 
7.1 The Financial Management Code (FM Code) is designed to support good 

practice in financial management and to assist local authorities in 
demonstrating their financial sustainability. 

 
7.2 Local government finance in the UK is governed by primary legislation, 

regulation and professional standards as supported by statutory provision. 
The general financial management of a local authority, however, has not until 
now been supported by a professional code. The FM Code has been 
introduced (pre-Covid 19) in recognition of the exceptional financial 
circumstances faced by local authorities – which have been further tested as a 
result of the pandemic. 

 
7.3 The FM Code requires authorities to demonstrate that the processes they 

have in place satisfy the principles of good financial management, which is an 
essential part of ensuring that public sector finances are sustainable. The FM 
Code identifies risks to financial sustainability and introduces a framework of 
assurance. 

 
7.4 Although the FM Code does not have legislative backing, CIPFA’s intention is 

that the Code will be widely recognised within the public sector as a tool to 
promote the financial sustainability.   

 
7.5 Compliance with the Code aims to strengthen the framework that surrounds 

financial decision making and is the collective responsibility of elected 
members, the chief finance officer and their professional colleagues in the 
leadership team.  

 
7.4 The first full year of compliance with the FM Code was originally scheduled for 

2021/22.  However, in recognition of the pressures that have been placed on 
Local Authorities in dealing with the coronavirus pandemic and impact on the 
medium term financial position, CIPFA has considered the Code 
requirements. 

 

7.5 The objective of the Financial Management (FM) Code was to enhance 
standards of financial management across the sector and this aim is still fully 
supported by the profession. CIPFA considers good financial management to 
be even more essential during the current challenge, but acknowledges the 
additional extraordinary burdens being faced by local authorities.  

 
7.6 Therefore, CIPFA has reflected on the extent to which it is appropriate to 

introduce a new FM Code at the current time. CIPFA has concluded that while 
the first year of compliance can remain as 2021/2022, it can do so within a 
more flexible framework where a proportionate approach is encouraged. In 
practice this means that adherence to some parts of the Code will 
demonstrate a direction of travel. 

 
 

Page 148



7.7 CIPFA consider that the Annual Governance Statement for 2020/21 should 
include the overall conclusion of an assessment of the organisation’s 
compliance with the principles of the FM Code. Where there are outstanding 
matters or areas for improvement, these should be included in the action plan.  

 

8. Principals of Good Financial Management 
 
8.1 The FM Code applies a principle-based approach. It does not prescribe the 

financial management processes that local authorities should adopt. Instead, 
the code requires that a local authority demonstrates that its processes satisfy 
the principles of good financial management for an authority of its size, 
responsibilities and circumstances. 

 
8.2 The principles have been designed to focus on an approach that will assist in 

determining whether, in applying standards of financial management, a local 
authority is financially sustainable.  

 

 Organisational leadership – demonstrating a clear strategic direction 
based on a vision in which financial management is embedded into 
organisational culture.  

 Accountability – based on medium-term financial planning that drives the 
annual budget process supported by effective risk management, quality 
supporting data and whole life costs.  

 Financial management is undertaken with transparency at its core using 
consistent, meaningful and understandable data, reported frequently with 
evidence of periodic officer action and elected member decision making.  

 Adherence to professional standards is promoted by the leadership team 
and is evidenced.  

 Sources of assurance are recognised as an effective tool mainstreamed 
into financial management, including political scrutiny and the results of 
external audit, internal audit and inspection.  

 The long-term sustainability of local services is at the heart of all financial 
management processes and is evidenced by prudent use of public 
resources.  

 

8.3 Explicit standards of financial management are also set out by the FM Code. 
These are the minimum standards which have to be complied with in order for 
the Council to demonstrate its compliance with the FM Code.  

 
8.4 The standards articulate the practical application of the principles of financial 

management based on the requirements of primary legislation, associated 
CIPFA codes and guidance on professional codes of practice and ethics.. 

 
8.5 It is proposed that a full review and self-assessment of the Council’s current 

processes, procedures and governance arrangements is undertaken to 
understand where it is already compliant with the FM Code standards and to 
identify any areas of non-compliance or where compliance is weak.   

 
 
 

Page 149



8.6 An action plan will be developed and progress monitored towards full 
compliancy against the Code.  This full assessment will be led by the 
Executive Director & CFO in liaison with Alliance Leadership Team.  This will 
be reported back to Audit Committee during 2021/22. 

 
8.7 An annual statement in respect of the Council’s compliance against the FM 

Code will then be included within the annual Statement of Accounts 
commencing in 2022. 

 
9. Initial Self-Assessment against Compliance with the FM Code 
 
9.1 At this point, an initial high-level review of the standards has been undertaken 

in ANNEX A.    
 
9.2 This indicates that the Council already has a strong level of compliance with 

many aspects of the FM Code.  Areas where it is particularly strong include:  
 

 Medium Term Financial Plan and Budget setting processes 

 Treasury management 

 Delivery of the statutory accounts 

 External Auditor Value for Money opinion 

 Risk management arrangements. 

 Using reports to identify and correct emerging risks to the Council’s 
financial sustainability 

 
9.3 The areas where further work may be required to ensure the Council is fully 

compliant and applying good practice in line with the FM Code relate to: 
 

 Financial Procedure Rules require reviewing and updating 

 Financial resilience reporting to be enhanced utilising tools such as the 
CIPFA Financial Resilience index 

 Review current consultation processes in respect of the budget setting 
process 

 Enhance use of balance sheet review tools and cost drivers to input into 
longer-term financial stability and implications of specific projects  

 
9.4 The initial review indicates that the Council is generally complying with the 

overall principles of the CIPFA Financial Management code, with only 
moderate improvements likely to be required within some specific areas of 
focus.   

 
9.5 This initial high-level review will be referred to within the Annual Governance 

Statement.  The full self-assessment will then identify clear actions for the 
Council to become fully compliant. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 150



  

ANNEX A – Initial Self-Assessment on compliance against the FM Code 
 

RAG Rating Description 

GREEN Full compliance demonstrated 

AMBER Moderate improvements are required to demonstrate full compliance  

RED Significant improvements are required to demonstrate full compliance  
 
 

CIPFA Financial Management Standards Initial Review 

Responsibilities 
of the Chief 
Finance Officer 
and Leadership 
Team 
 

The leadership team is able to 
demonstrate that the services 
provided by the authority provide 
value for money.  

The Council has received annual unqualified external audit opinions on Value For Money.   The Medium Term 
Financial Plan (MTFP) delivers a robust financial plan through a rigorous budget setting process which has 
received a sound assurance from auditors. 
A series of Efficiency & Rationalisation programmes has required services to review processes and systems 
to ensure they are as efficient as possible to deliver savings and value for money for Customers.   
Performance is reported monthly to the Alliance Management Team and quarterly to Members.  
There is a robust corporate project management framework which contains key templates for financial 
implications, risk and stakeholder management. 
Financial updates are a regular item on both the Alliance Leadership Team and Alliance Management Team 
monthly meetings. 

The authority complies with the 
CIPFA Statement on the Role of the 
Chief Finance Officer in Local 
Government. 

The CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government states that the Chief Financial 
Officer:  

 is a key member of the leadership team, helping it to develop and implement strategy and to resource and deliver the 
authority’s strategic objectives sustainably and in the public interest  

 must be actively involved in, and able to bring influence to bear on, all material business decisions to ensure 
immediate and longer term implications, opportunities and risks are fully considered, and alignment with the 
authority’s financial strategy  

 must lead the promotion and delivery by the whole authority of good financial management so that public money is 
always safeguarded and used appropriately, economically, efficiently and effectively 

 must lead and direct a finance function that is resourced to be fit for purpose  

 must be professionally qualified and suitably experienced  
 

The Chief Finance Officer / S151 Officer is a fully qualified CIPFA member and reports to the Chief Executive. 
The CFO/S151 officer is a member of the Alliance Leadership Team, which includes the Chief Executive and 
Executive Directors  
The post of S151 officer has direct access to Members and has active involvement in strategic decision-
making.  The CFO sits on the Transformation Board to oversee the financial implications of all major projects. 
All aspects of the finance function receive satisfactory or substantial internal assurance ratings.  
 

ACTION: review Finance structure in light of staff changes and ensure fit for purpose, building in 
succession planning opportunities.  
 

P
age 151



  

Governance & 
Financial 
Management 
Style 

The leadership team demonstrates in 
its actions and behaviours 
responsibility for governance and 
internal control. 

The Internal Audit Annual Report of the Chief Auditor, as required by the Accounts and Audit regulations and 
the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, gives the Chief Auditor’s opinion on the overall adequacy and 
effectiveness of the organisation’s governance arrangements, risk management and internal control 
environment, drawing attention to any issues particularly relevant to the preparation of the Annual 
Governance Statement. It also sets out key themes arising from the work of the Audit Team during the 
financial year, and compares the audit work undertaken with that planned, summarising the performance of 
the Internal Audit function against its performance measures and targets.  
The latest Annual Report presented in November 2020 concluded that ‘Internal Audit can provide reasonable 
assurance that the Council’s governance arrangements including risk management and systems of internal 
control were operating adequately and effectively. 
A Corporate Governance internal audit was completed in 2020 after significant changes to the Council’s 
senior management team.  A systems review of corporate governance procedures together with compliance 
testing was undertaken, to determine the adequacy of system controls – a satisfactory assurance opinion was 
awarded. 

The authority applies the 
CIPFA/SOLACE Delivering Good 
Governance in Local Government: 
Framework (2016). 

As part of the annual process of producing the Annual Governance Statement (AGS), officers review 
compliance with the Framework, together the role of Audit Committee; and compliance with regulations. The 
Internal Audit role and function is covered in the AGS.  Significant issues are set out in the AGS and 
monitored. 

The financial management style of 
the authority supports financial 
sustainability 

The Council’s Constitution details Committee functions, member and officer delegations.  
The Constitution also includes the Financial and Procurement Procedure Rules which set out responsibilities 
of Senior Officers, budget holders and employees.    
There is an effective performance management framework in place with quarterly finance and performance 
reporting to Committee  The Finance team provide a Finance Business Partnering Role in support of services 
providing financial oversight.  The S151 Officer and Head of Finance sit on the Transformation Board which 
oversees all major projects. 
 

ACTION: Financial Procedure Rules require review and updating 

Long to Medium 
Term Financial 
Management 

The authority has carried out a 
credible and transparent financial 
resilience assessment. 

A full risk assessment is undertaken as part of the Medium Term Financial Plan and a strategic risk is 
recorded relating to delivery of the MTFP and financial sustainability. All risks have identified mitigations and 
are monitored regularly.  
The Council also holds a Project Risk Register to identify risks (including financial) in respect of major 
transformation projects.  
 

ACTION: Review financial resilience reporting and consider enhancing utilising tools such as the 
CIPFA Financial Resilience index 
 

The authority understands its 
prospects for financial sustainability 
in the longer term and has reported 
this clearly to members. 

The Council presents a 4 year rolling MTFP.  By Year 4 of the current MTFP the revenue position is forecast 
to be stable. However, this is subject to a number of assumptions which need to be reviewed and revised in 
future iterations of the plan. A fuller understanding of  long term financial sustainability will only come when 
the current uncertainties and risks are reduced as part of the medium term financial planning process. 

P
age 152



  

Financial implications in respect of transformation projects are determined on a longer term basis – for 
example the treasury revenue impact of capital investment decisions.   
 
ACTION: Incorporate and model longer term forecasts relating to cost drivers (such as age profile of 
community) and implications of the Asset Management Strategy (to be drafted during 2021/22) and 
Organisational Development Strategy (to be presented during 2021) 

The authority complies with the 
CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital 
Finance in Local Authorities. 

The Council has all the strategies/policies in place as required and recommended by the Code. Regular 
reporting to members on capital expenditure takes place. An annual Capital Strategy and an annual Treasury 
Management Strategy is produced and approved by Full Council.  Audit Committee receive regular reports in 
regard to treasury management. 

The Council works closely with its Treasury Management advisers. 

The authority has a rolling multi-year 
medium-term financial plan 
consistent with sustainable service 
plans. 

The 4 year rolling Medium Term Financial Plan is refreshed mid-year and reported to Committee.  A full 
annual review is undertaken as part of the budget setting process.  
The MTFP is linked to the Council’s Corporate Plan, to ensure that key objectives and priorities are funded 
and resourced.  Service Plans are developed based on Corporate Plan priorities. 
The Budget provides for a an earmarked reserve to manage any in year variances against delivery of the 
Efficiency programme. 
An approved minimum General Fund Contingency reserve is set to mitigate any in year financial risks  

The Annual 
Budget 

The authority complies with its 
statutory obligations in respect of the 
budget setting process. 

The Council sets a balanced budget. The Councils sets a council tax increase within the council tax 
referendum limits and a properly recorded vote takes place at Council meetings.  The Council consults on its 
budget proposals via the website and promotes this within the monthly business newsletter.  
The Council has a balanced MTFP via utilisation of reserves, but general fund contingency levels remain 
above the level established by the S151 Officer. 
The Council is aware of the circumstances and the process in issuing a Section 114 notice, but does not 
envisage this to be an issue over the medium term. 

The budget report includes a 
statement by the chief finance officer 
on the robustness of the estimates 
and a statement on the adequacy of 
the proposed financial reserves. 

The Medium Term Financial Plan contains and reports on the most significant estimates, and expected levels 
of reserves over the medium term.  
The CFO’s overarching statement on the robustness of estimates and adequacy of reserves is highlighted to 
Full Council.  
A number of reserves are held to mitigate future financial risks i.e., Efficiency Reserve, Pension Reserve, 
COVID recovery.  

Stakeholder 
Engagement & 
Business Plans 

The authority has engaged where 
appropriate with key stakeholders in 
developing its long-term financial 
strategy, medium-term financial plan 
and annual budget. 

Officers engage with and work closely with Executive/Cabinet members on the long term financial plan and 
budget. Officers brief the Scrutiny Committee on plans and brief opposition parties on the budget proposals.  
Consultation takes place via the Council’s website and Business newsletter.  Liaison takes place with Alliance 
Leadership and Management Team and major contractors/suppliers. 
 
ACTION: Review current budget consultation processes with a view to improve and encourage 
engagement 
 

P
age 153



  

The authority uses an appropriate 
documented option appraisal 
methodology to demonstrate the 
value for money of its decisions. 

The Council has a developed a robust corporate project management methodology designed to ensure that 
projects achieve deliverables on time and within budget. The project management framework contains key 
templates for financial implications, risk and stakeholder management.  
All projects are monitored via the Transformation Board and assigned a Project Executive and Project 
Manager to oversee and be accountable for the project.  Quarterly updates on key projects are presented to 
Committee. 

Monitoring 
Financial 
Performance 

The leadership team takes action 
using reports enabling it to identify 
and correct emerging risks to its 
budget strategy and financial 
sustainability. 

Cabinet/Executive receive quarterly financial update reports which flag emerging variances. Variances are 
probed and concerns are followed up and tracked.  Regular treasury management update reports are 
presented to Audit Committee. The MTFP is updated twice yearly to identify key emerging issues and review 
status of the Efficiency Programme. 
CFO provides a ‘going concern’ statement as part of the annual Statement of Accounts. 

The leadership team monitors the 
elements of its balance sheet that 
pose a significant risk to its financial 
sustainability. 

Contingences and provisions are established for material areas of risk, for example Business Rate appeals / 
legal claims.  Cash flow is managed through robust treasury management processes and scrutinised 
regularly by Audit Committee. 
The Council also includes consideration of balance sheet elements, such as reserves usage and Treasury 
Management, in its MTFP and quarterly monitoring process.  
 
ACTION: Consideration on enhanced use of balance sheet review analysis identifying implications 
over the medium term of specific large scale project decisions  

External 
Financial 
Reporting 

The chief finance officer has personal 
and statutory responsibility for 
ensuring that the statement of 
accounts produced by the local 
authority complies with the reporting 
requirements of the Code. 

The S151 officer assumes these responsibilities in accordance with the Constitution and the scheme of 
delegation.     
The Statements of Accounts process meets statutory deadlines. 
The CFO is fully aware of the requirements of the financial statements, which are fully compliant and have 
been unqualified for a number of years.  The CFO completes a review of the annual draft accounts, which is 
presented to Audit Committee alongside the Statement of Accounts. 
 

The presentation of the final outturn 
figures and variations from budget 
allows the leadership team to make 
strategic financial decisions. 

The Management Team, Cabinet/Executive and Scrutiny Committee are provided with an outturn report 
detailing significant variations to budget.  
The reports includes the request for carry forwards and designation of earmarked reserves.  
The Management Team on the advice of the CFO consider the treatment of any surpluses before discussion 
with Members and formal approval.  
The Alliance Management Team specifically focus on the development of the MTFP providing a strategic 
overview to ensure deliverables of the Corporate Plan objectives are adequately resourced and are 
considered within the overall financial position.  

 
 
 

 

P
age 154



  

 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
Report to Audit & Accounts Committee 

 
25 June 2021 

 

 
TITLE: 

 
Counter Fraud & Corruption Strategy 

 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 

 
Councillor Sybil Ralphs - Council Leader 
SMDC 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 
John Leak – Head of Audit 

 
WARDS INVOLVED: 
 

 
Non-Specific 

 
Appendices Attached: 
Appendix 1 Counter Fraud & Corruption Strategy 
 
 
1. Reason for the Report 
 
1.1 Theft, fraud, corruption and bribery are all criminal offences; the council is 

committed to the highest standards of integrity and will not tolerate them in any 
form. By having an anti fraud and anti corruption framework in place this 
demonstrates our zero tolerance to any form of fraudulent activity, it is 
therefore important that the existing framework is reviewed and updated to 
take into account new legislation, procedures and best practice. 

 
 
2. Recommendation 
 
2.1 That the Committee approve the Council’s updated Counter Fraud & 

Corruption Strategy. 
 
 
3. Executive Summary 
 
3.1 The Council is committed to providing effective counter fraud arrangements 

which are supported by an effective policy framework. The Council’s current 
Counter Fraud and Corruption Strategy has been in place for a number of 
years. The strategy summarises the arrangements that the Council has in 
place to ensure security from fraud and corruption. 

 
3.2 In order to ensure that the Council’s counter fraud and corruption 

arrangements remain up-to date, the current Strategy has been reviewed to 
ensure that it continues to reflect the latest fraud legislation and best practice. 
The updated Counter Fraud & Corruption Strategy is attached as Appendix 1 
for the Committee’s consideration and approval. 

Page 155

Agenda Item 13



  

3.3 The Strategy summarises the Council’s approach to counter fraud and 
Corruption in four areas: 
 

 The Council has determined that the culture and tone of the Authority is 
one of honesty and opposition to fraud and corruption. 

 The Council recognises that prevention of fraud and corruption is crucial. 

 The Council has in place measures to deal with the detection and 
investigation of suspected fraud and corruption. 

 The Council recognises that the success of its Counter Fraud and 
Corruption Strategy and its general credibility will depend largely on the 
effectiveness of communication and training and the responsiveness of 
staff throughout the Authority. 

 
 
4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 
4.1 Maintaining an up-to date strategy supports effective counter fraud 

arrangements and therefore helps to ensure our future financial resilience can 
be financially sustainable whilst offering value for money. 
 
 

5. Alternative Options 
 
5.1 There are no options to consider. 
 
 
 
 

ANDREW P STOKES 
Chief Executive  

 
Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Contact details 

CIPFA Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud 
and Corruption & Guidance Notes 

John Leak 
Head of Audit 
john.leak@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 
 

 
  

Page 156



  

6. Detail 
 
6.1 Introduction 
 
6.1.1 The impact of both fraud and corruption on organisations can have a 

significant effect through the disruption of services or undermining the 
achievement of the organisations objectives. Official estimates show the value 
lost to fraud nationally in the public sector to be significant. 

 
6.1.2 To assist organisations in identifying the risks of fraud, CIPFA has produced a 

Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption (“the Code”) 
which has five principles; 

 

 Acknowledge the responsibility of the governing body for countering fraud 
and corruption; 

 Identify the fraud and corruption risks; 

 Develop an appropriate counter fraud and corruption strategy; 

 Provide resources to implement the strategy; and 

 Take action in response to fraud and corruption. 
 
6.1.3 The Council is committed to providing effective counter fraud arrangements 

which are supported by an effective policy framework. The Council’s current 
Counter Fraud and Corruption Strategy has been in place for a number of 
years. The Strategy summarises the arrangements that the Council has in 
place to ensure security from fraud and corruption. 

 
6.1.4 The purpose of this report is to present an updated Counter Fraud and 

Corruption Strategy for the Committee’s consideration and approval. 
 
6.2 Update of the Policy 

 
6.2.1 In order to ensure that the Council’s counter fraud and corruption 

arrangements remain up-to date, the current Strategy has been reviewed to 
ensure that it continues to reflect the latest fraud legislation and best practice. 
Regular review and communication of this strategy therefore enhances the 
Council’s counter fraud culture. The updated Counter Fraud & Corruption 
Strategy is attached as Appendix 1.  
 

6.2.2 The adoption of a Counter Fraud and Corruption Strategy complies with 
recommended good practice. It sets out the Council’s stance in fulfilling its 
responsibility to protect the public funds it administers against fraud and 
corruption and is designed to encourage prevention, promote detection and 
identify clear processes for the investigation of fraud and corruption and the 
implementation of remedial action. 
 

6.2.3 This strategy forms part of a series of key documents which together form the 
overall framework for the proper conduct of business within the Council. In a 
wider context the Counter Fraud and Corruption Strategy is a cornerstone of 
the Council’s approach to corporate governance encompassing the conduct of 
councillors and officers, declaration of interests and gifts in compulsory 
registers, compliance with statutory legislation and arrangements for reporting 

Page 157



  

and investigating fraud and corruption. Above all the Strategy embodies the 
counter fraud and corruption culture adopted by the Council. 

 
6.2.4 The Strategy summarises the Council’s approach to counter fraud and 

corruption in four areas: 
 

 The Council has determined that the culture and tone of the Authority is 
one of honesty and opposition to fraud and corruption. 

 The Council recognises that prevention of fraud and corruption is crucial. 

 The Council has in place measures to deal with the detection and 
investigation of suspected fraud and corruption. 

 The Council recognises that the success of its Counter Fraud and 
Corruption Strategy and its general credibility will depend largely on the 
effectiveness of communication and training and the responsiveness of 
staff throughout the Authority. 

 
6.2.5 In summary, the Council has a robust network of systems and procedures to 

prevent, detect and assist it in dealing with fraud and corruption. This strategy 
summarises these and aims to promote both an awareness of these systems 
and procedures and maintain and further embed a counter fraud and 
corruption culture. 
 

6.2.6 The prevention of fraud and protection of the public purse is everyone’s 
business and it is important that all staff know how to recognise a fraud, how to 
prevent it and more importantly what to do if they suspect they have come 
across a fraud. 
 

6.2.7 The previously adopted Whistleblowing Policy is intended to encourage and 
enable people with concerns about a potential fraud or corruption, in any 
aspect of the Council’s work, to raise these with the Council rather than 
overlooking a problem or raising them with external bodies first. 

 
 

Page 158



 

 

www.cannockchasedc.gov.uk 

Counter Fraud & 
Corruption Strategy 

 
June 2021 

APPENDIX 1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Page 159



 

Counter Fraud & Corruption Strategy June 2021  Contents 
 

Staffordshire Moorlands DC & High Peak BC 

 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

 
SECTION 

 
 PAGE 

 POLICY STATEMENT 
 

 

1 
 

INTRODUCTION………………………………………………….. 1 

2 
 

CULTURE………………………………………………………….. 
 
Reporting Concerns – Employees / Elected Members 
 
Reporting Concerns – Members of the Public, Suppliers, 
Contractors 

2 
 

3 
 

3 

   
3 
 

PREVENTION……………………………………………………... 
 
Employees 
 
Managers (Heads of Service & Leadership Team) 
 
Elected Members 
 
Contractors / Suppliers 
 
Role Conflict & Separation 
 
Systems 
 
Co-operation with Others 

4 
 

4 
 

5 
 

6 
 

6 
 

7 
 

7 
 

7 
   

4 
 

DETECTION AND INVESTIGATION…………………………… 
 
Fraud Response Plan 
 
Housing & Council Tax Benefit Fraud 
 
Prosecution Policy 
 
Support for Witnesses During An Investigation / Prosecution 

9 
 

9 
 

10 
 

10 
 

11 
   

5 
 

TRAINING & INFORMATION..………………………………….. 12 

6 
 

7 
 

MONITORING & REVIEW……………………………………….. 
 
ASSOCIATED POLICIES………………………………………… 

13 
 

13 

Page 160



 

Counter Fraud & Corruption Strategy June 2021 Statement 
 

Staffordshire Moorlands DC & High Peak BC 

 

 

 

Policy Statement 
 

The Council has a zero tolerance to fraud and bribery. 
 

The Council will take positive action regarding any improper practices 
that are identified and will deal with perpetrators from within and 
outside the Council. 
 
The Council will consider taking legal and/or disciplinary action where 
there is evidence of fraud or bribery occurring. This will include 
referring matters to the Police for criminal investigations.   
 
It is expected that Members and employees at all levels will adopt the 
highest standards of propriety and accountability and will lead by 
example in ensuring adherence to rules, procedures and agreed 
practices. 
 
Employees and Members will not pay bribes or offer improper 
inducements to anyone for any purpose; they will also not accept or 
solicit bribes or improper inducements. 
 
The Council also expects that individuals and organisations (e.g. the 
public, suppliers / contractors), which it comes into contact with, will 
act towards the Council with integrity and without thought or actions 
involving fraud or bribery. The Council in turn will endeavour to ensure 
that all of its dealings will be on the same basis.  
 
The protection of the public purse is everyone’s responsibility. 

 

Page 161



 

Counter Fraud & Corruption Strategy June 2021 Page 1 
 

Staffordshire Moorlands DC & High Peak BC 
 

1 INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 This framework represents a commitment by the Council to protect public funds and 

to ensure that all Council activities are carried out in accordance with the principles of 
openness, honesty and integrity.  

  
1.2 In carrying out its functions and responsibilities the Council is fully committed to 

deterring fraud and bribery, whether it is attempted on or from within the Council. The 
Council is committed to an effective anti-fraud and bribery strategy designed to:- 

 

 limit, as far as possible, the opportunities to commit fraudulent acts – prevention; 

 enable any such acts to be detected at an early stage; and 

 deal with any subsequent investigations in a prompt, thorough and professional 
manner. 

 
1.3 The Fraud Act 2006 defines fraud as :- 

 
“the intention to make gain or cause loss by false representation, failing to 
disclose information or abuse of position.” 

 
1.4 The Bribery Act 2010 defines bribery as:- 

 
“the giving or taking of a reward in return for acting dishonestly and/or in 
breach of the law. The reward could relate to money, payment in kind, goods or 
services” 

 
1.5 There are four offences under the Bribery Act :- 
 

 The giving or offering of a bribe; 

 The request for or acceptance of a bribe; 

 Bribing a foreign public official; and 

 The failure of a commercial organisation to prevent bribery. 
  
1.6 This framework outlines the mechanisms whereby the Council will deliver its policy 

commitment to its partners, customers, contractors and to the general public. It also 
contributes to the Council’s defence against an allegation of failure to prevent bribery. 
The framework covers a series of measures designed to frustrate any attempted 
bribery or fraudulent act, these are grouped under the following headings:- 

 

 Culture 

 Prevention 

 Detection and Investigation 

 Training 
 
1.7 The Council’s Whistleblowing Policy also encourages everyone to disclose concerns 

about potential fraud and bribery and therefore should be read alongside this 
framework.  

 
1.8 If Members, managers, employees1 or members of the public are unsure of the 

appropriate action to take in relation to the items contained in the framework then 
they should contact one of the officers detailed at 2.12 for advice and guidance. 

                                                 
1
 The term employees covers Agency Staff, Temporary Workers, Casuals and Volunteers. 

Page 162



 

Counter Fraud & Corruption Strategy June 2021 Page 2 
 

Staffordshire Moorlands DC & High Peak BC 
 

2 CULTURE 
 
2.1 The culture and tone of the Council will continue to be one of honesty and opposition 

to fraud and bribery.  
 
2.2 The culture and procedures established by the Council are intended to ensure that 

high standards in public life are embedded throughout the Authority. It is expected 
that Members and employees at all levels will adopt the highest standards of propriety 
and accountability and will lead by example in ensuring adherence to rules, 
procedures and agreed practices. 

 
2.3 Some examples of the rules and procedures include:- 
 

 Financial Regulations & Procedure Rules and Procurement  Procedure Rules;  

 Codes of Conduct for employees and Members (including guidance on gifts & 
hospitality and declarations of interest); 

 Scheme of Delegations; 

 HR Policies and Procedures; 

 Departmental policies and working practices. 
 
2.4 The Council also expects that individuals and organisations (e.g. the public, 

suppliers/contractors), which it comes into contact with, will act towards the Council 
with integrity and without thought or actions involving fraud or bribery. The Council in 
turn will endeavour to ensure that all of its dealings will be on the same basis. The 
protection of the public purse is everyone’s responsibility. 

 
2.5 All Members and employees play an important part in creating and maintaining the 

culture within the Council. Everyone is therefore positively encouraged to raise any 
concerns that they may have regarding fraud and bribery in any of the activities of the 
Council in the knowledge that such concerns will, wherever possible, be treated in the 
strictest confidence and investigated properly. 

 
2.6 All Members and employees should act appropriately in all dealings and guidance on 

appropriate behaviour is available in the form of Codes of Conduct for Members and 
employees and in some cases service specific policies and codes of practice. Service 
Areas will review the risk of fraud and bribery and where necessary develop specific 
guidance to reduce the opportunities available or increase detection of offences.   

 
2.7 The Council will take a robust approach in all cases of suspected financial 

malpractice, fraud or bribery and will always seek to refer cases of suspected fraud 
and bribery to the Police for investigation.  

 
2.8 Any Member or employee who attempts to defraud the Council, who acts corruptly or 

who is involved in bribery will be dealt with swiftly. Where appropriate following 
proven fraud or bribery the Council will implement its disciplinary procedures or make 
a referral under the Standards process for Members. Any investigation of an 
employee would follow the Council’s disciplinary process and any investigation of 
Members would follow the Standards Process.  

 
2.9 Where it is found that fraud or bribery has occurred due to a breakdown in the 

Council’s systems or procedures, Management will ensure that appropriate 
improvements in systems of controls are implemented in order to prevent a 
reoccurrence. 

 

Page 163



 

Counter Fraud & Corruption Strategy June 2021 Page 3 
 

Staffordshire Moorlands DC & High Peak BC 
 

2.10 Unless there are good reasons to the contrary, any allegations received by way of 
anonymous letters or telephone calls will be taken seriously and investigated in an 
appropriate manner. Further information on the protection that is offered to 
employees and others who raise concerns is contained in the Council’s 
Whistleblowing Policy. 

 
2.11 The Council needs to ensure that any investigation process is not misused and, 

therefore, any abuse of procedures such as raising malicious and unfounded 
allegations may be dealt with as a disciplinary matter. 

 
Reporting Concerns – Employees / Elected Members 

 
2.12 Employee concerns should be raised in the first instance directly with your supervisor, 

team leader or Head of Service. If the individual feels that this is not appropriate then 
any of the following people may be approached:- 

 

 Internal Audit; 

 The Section 151 Officer - Executive Director (Finance & Customer Service); 

 The Monitoring Officer – Executive Director (People); 

 The Chief Executive; 

 Any member of the Alliance Management Team; 

 The External Auditor; 

 Trade Union Representative. 
 

2.13 Elected Members are also encouraged to report their concerns with any of the above. 
 

2.14 In certain circumstances you may wish to contact an appropriate external body – e.g. 
Trade Union to raise the concern on your behalf. 

 
 Reporting Concerns – Members of the Public, Suppliers, Contractors 

 
2.15 Members of the public and the Council’s suppliers/contractors are also encouraged to 

report concerns to the Council via the any of the contacts listed at 2.12. 
 
For Housing Benefit Fraud Allegations, benefit fraud investigations are now 
undertaken by the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) by the Single Fraud 
Investigation Service. Details of how to report suspected benefit fraud can be found 
on the Council’s website here: 
https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/article/952/Report-fraud  or 
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/924/Report-fraud   

 
 

 

Page 164

https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/article/952/Report-fraud
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/924/Report-fraud


 

Counter Fraud & Corruption Strategy June 2021 Page 4 
 

Staffordshire Moorlands DC & High Peak BC 
 

3 PREVENTION 
  
3.1 The Council is required to establish procedures for the scrutiny of its own functions to 

ensure that there are proper arrangements in place to administer the Council’s 
financial affairs. This internal scrutiny occurs as a result of :- 

 

 Responsibilities arising from section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 
responsibilities and Section 114 Local Government Finance Act 1988; 

 the establishment of a sound Internal Audit function in accordance with the 
Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015; and 

 the responsibilities placed on the Monitoring Officer under Section 5 of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989. 

  
3.2 The Council’s activities are also subjected to a high degree of external scrutiny by 

others including:- 
  

 Local Government Ombudsman; 

 National Audit Office; 

 External Auditors; 

 Central Government Departments; 

 HM Revenues and Customs; 

 The Department for Work and Pensions; and  

 The general public. 
  
3.3 In order to ensure the Council is able to effectively target its resources and not create 

overly burdensome procedures in areas where the risk of fraud or bribery is low each 
service area will conduct an assessment of its risk in these areas. These risk 
assessments will be documented by the Head of Service and periodically reviewed to 
ensure that they reflect any changes in the level of exposure. 
 
Employees  
 

3.4 The Council recognises that a key preventative measure in dealing with fraud and 
bribery is to take effective steps at the recruitment stage to establish, as far as 
possible, the honesty and integrity of potential employees. This applies to permanent, 
temporary and casual posts where identity checks and asylum/immigration checks 
are performed as part of the induction process. 

  
3.5 The Council has a formal procedure for recruitment and it is important that this is 

complied with, especially in relation to the verification of all qualifications and the 
obtaining of written references to ascertain the honesty and integrity of potential 
employees. The Council will follow an open and fair recruitment process without 
favouritism or canvassing for all posts. 

 
3.6 The Council’s Financial Regulations & Procedure Rules, Procurement Procedure 

Rules and Code of Conduct for Employees govern all employees. In addition to the 
Council’s rules many employees will also be required to comply with the standards 
and ethical requirements laid-down by their professional bodies. The Council will 
report known impropriety to the relevant Institution for them to consider appropriate 
disciplinary action. These key policies provide the operational framework for the 
Council and create a culture which seeks to minimise the risk of fraud or bribery 
occurring.  

 

Page 165



 

Counter Fraud & Corruption Strategy June 2021 Page 5 
 

Staffordshire Moorlands DC & High Peak BC 
 

3.7 All employees must ensure that they declare all outside interests in accordance with 
the Code of Conduct for Employees and any departmental policies. Employees need 
to ensure personal integrity in all transactions. Where a conflict of interest may occur 
then the employee should not become involved in the transaction and should inform 
their line-manager.  

 
3.8 All private employment/outside commitments performed by employees must be 

declared to the Council and approved in advance. Private work should be carried out 
in hours when the employee is not employed by the Council and should not be 
conducted from Council Premises or using Council tools and equipment. Further 
details on private work can be found in the Code of Conduct for employees.  
 

3.9 Public duties are slightly different and the Council has a separate policy which allows 
a set amount of paid time off to conduct these duties where they are recognised 
public duties (e.g. School Governors, Magistrates). However public duties must still 
be declared as an outside interest.  

 
3.10 Employees need to ensure that declarations relating to outside interests and private 

works are kept up to date with any changes as and when they occur.  
 
3.11 Employees must never accept gifts of cash regardless of the value. It is a serious 

criminal offence for an employee to receive any fee or reward other than their proper 
remuneration for carrying out their duties.  

 
3.12 Employees also need to follow the Council’s rules set out in the Code of Conduct on 

the giving and receiving of gifts, hospitality and sponsorship to other individuals and 
organisations.  

 
3.13 An employee should not seek or offer any incentive or reward in return for acting in a 

particular way or reaching a particular decision as this would constitute a criminal 
offence under the Bribery Act. 

 
Managers (Heads of Service & Leadership Team) 

 
3.14 All Managers should lead by example and ensure that there is a zero tolerance 

approach to fraud and bribery within the Council and should strive to create an 
environment in which their staff feel able to approach them with any concerns they 
may have. Managers should ensure that their staff and all suppliers, contractors and 
partner organisations that they work with are aware of this policy and any 
responsibilities that are placed on them.  

 
3.15 Managers are responsible for ensuring that all internal controls within their area of 

responsibility are effectively maintained. They should investigate any potential 
weakness in these controls due to factors such as the level of vacancies, sickness 
absence or annual leave and where possible look to ensure controls remain effective 
and operational. 

 
3.16 The Council has developed and is committed to continually improving systems and 

procedures incorporating efficient and effective internal controls, including the 
provision of adequate separation of duties. Heads of Service have a responsibility to 
ensure that all systems of internal control, including those in a computerised 
environment, are operating effectively and documented adequately. Managers are 
therefore required to give reasonable assurance that internal controls within their 
service are operating effectively. 

Page 166



 

Counter Fraud & Corruption Strategy June 2021 Page 6 
 

Staffordshire Moorlands DC & High Peak BC 
 

3.17 All processes and activities need to be designed to be open and transparent and be 
designed to reduce the opportunities for fraud, bribery or corrupt acts to occur. 
Managers are encouraged to consult with Internal Audit when they are looking to 
change working methods to ensure appropriate controls are built in. 

 
Elected Members 

 
3.18 The activities and conduct of Members are governed by :- 
  

 the Council’s Constitution;  

 Code of Conduct for Members. 
 
3.19 These matters are specifically brought to the attention of Members in the Induction 

pack and include the declaration and registration of potential areas of conflict. 
Members are advised of new requirements on them as and when they occur by the 
Monitoring Officer and Democratic & Community Services. 

  
3.20 Members must ensure that they act appropriately in all circumstances and should not 

seek or offer any incentive or reward in return for acting in a particular way or 
reaching a particular decision. Members may be acting corruptly if they attempt to use 
their position as an elected member for their own or anybody else’s personal gain or 
loss. This could also constitute an offence under the bribery act. 

 
3.21 It is important that all Members promptly complete and return their Declaration of 

Interests upon election and at any time when there are changes to their outside 
interests in accordance with the Code of Conduct. Any failure to declare an interest 
may lead to action being taken against the Member under the Standards process.  

 
3.22 Members must also comply with the rules relating to the receipt of gifts and hospitality 

when considering if they can be accepted or not. Any gift must be declared in the 
Gifts & Hospitality Register in accordance with the Council’s Code of Conduct for 
Members.  

 
Contractors/Suppliers  

  
3.23 The Council expects contractors and suppliers to have a zero tolerance approach to 

fraud and bribery and to establish appropriate procedures to ensure that their 
dealings with the Council are open and honest.  

  
3.24 Prospective contractors and suppliers will be vetted as part of the Procurement 

selection process. The Council has a mandatory obligation under Regulation 57 of the 
Public Contracts Regulations 2015 to exclude suppliers of work, goods, materials or 
services from bidding for public sector contracts when they or a Director has been 
convicted of a fraud or bribery offence.  

Page 167



 

Counter Fraud & Corruption Strategy June 2021 Page 7 
 

Staffordshire Moorlands DC & High Peak BC 
 

Role Conflict and Separation 
 
3.25 Members and employees must always ensure that they avoid situations where there 

is a potential role conflict. Such situations can arise where there is externalisation of 
services or tendering situations. Members or employees close friends/relations may 
work for companies tendering for work being let by the Council and it is therefore 
necessary to be open and honest where such conflicts occur.  The relevant 
declarations of interest should be made and you should consider withdrawing yourself 
from the decision making process. Members and employees are encouraged to seek 
advice and to err on the side of caution if they feel that they may have a conflict of 
interest in a decision being made that would benefit themselves or a close friend or 
relation.  

 
3.26 Effective role separation will ensure that the decisions made by the Council are based 

upon impartial advice and avoid questions about the improper disclosure of 
confidential information. This is particularly important where one part of the Council 
may be tendering for a Council contract in competition with external companies. 

  
 Systems 

 
3.27 The Council’s Code of Conduct for Employees and Financial Regulations & 

Procedure Rules along with other Council documents and policies require employees 
to act in accordance with best practice. 

  
3.28 The Responsible Financial Officer has a statutory responsibility under Section 151 of 

the Local Government Act 1972 to ensure the proper administration of the Council’s 
financial affairs. The Council’s Financial Regulations & Procedure Rules and 
Procurement  Procedure Rules which outline systems, procedures and 
responsibilities are widely publicised to employees and should be complied with at all 
times. 
 

3.29 Significant emphasis has been placed on thorough documentation of key systems 
and these are continually reviewed and developed in accordance with best practice to 
ensure efficient and effective internal controls and adequate separation of duties. 

 
3.30 The Internal Audit Service independently monitors and reviews the internal control 

systems established by managers in accordance with the Audit Plan. 
 

 Co-operation with Others 
 
3.31 Arrangements are in place to encourage the exchange of information on national and 

local fraud and bribery activity in relation to Local Authorities with external agencies 
such as:- 

  

 Other local authorities and statutory authorities; 

 Chief Financial Officer Group; 

 the Police; 

 local, regional and national auditor networks; 

 National Audit Office;  

 the National Anti-Fraud Network;  

 The National Crime Agency; 

 Government Departments and Agencies. 
 

Page 168



 

Counter Fraud & Corruption Strategy June 2021 Page 8 
 

Staffordshire Moorlands DC & High Peak BC 
 

3.32 The Council is a statutory participant in the National Fraud Initiative (NFI). The 
Council submits data that it holds on various systems such as Housing Benefits, 
Insurance Claims, Creditor Payments and Housing Rents. This data is then matched 
with data provided by other public sector bodies to identify potential frauds. More 
information on the NFI can be found on the Council’s website 
https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/article/1676/National-Fraud-Initiative-NFI  or 
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/1671/National-Fraud-Initiative-NFI    

 

Page 169

https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/article/1676/National-Fraud-Initiative-NFI
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/1671/National-Fraud-Initiative-NFI


 

Counter Fraud & Corruption Strategy June 2021 Page 9 
 

Staffordshire Moorlands DC & High Peak BC 
 

4 DETECTION AND INVESTIGATION 
  
4.1 There are numerous systems of control in place to deter fraud and bribery, but it is 

often the vigilance of employees and members of the public that aids detection. 
Frauds are often discovered by chance or following a “tip-off” and arrangements are 
in place to enable such information to be dealt with appropriately. The process for 
following up information is contained in the Fraud Response Plan below. 

 
4.2 All cases of suspected or proven fraud, bribery or other impropriety must be notified 

to the Head of Audit as soon as possible to ensure that a central record is maintained 
and to determine whether further work is needed to examine the appropriateness of 
the control framework in place in the area. Any suspected fraud, bribery or corrupt 
practice involving elected Members will be reported to the Monitoring Officer by the 
Head of Audit.  

 
4.3 Early reporting is essential to the success of this strategy and the swift referral of 

cases of suspected fraud or bribery to the Head of Audit will:- 
 

 ensure the consistent treatment of information regarding fraud and bribery; 

 ensure the proper implementation of a fraud investigation in accordance with the 
Council’s Fraud Response Plan; and 

 allow for the identification of any implications in relation to Money 
Laundering/Proceeds of Crime Act and the relevant external notifications to be 
made. 

 
Fraud Response Plan (Excluding Housing and Council Tax Benefit Fraud) 
 

4.4 Usually, an initial investigation will be carried out which will aim to confirm or disprove 
the initial suspicion or allegation by obtaining and thoroughly evaluating all material 
evidence so as to establish the facts. Where observations or surveillance are required 
this will be properly authorised and carried out in accordance with the Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) and the Council’s own RIPA policy. 

 
4.5 The investigating officer will: - 
  

 Deal promptly and confidentially with the matter; 

 identify all those involved; 

 have unhindered access to employees, information and other resources as 
required for investigation purposes; 

 collect and record all evidence to support the allegation, and ensure that it is held 
securely; 

 liaise as necessary with the relevant member of Leadership Team and outside 
agencies where appropriate.  

 
4.6 The Executive Director (Finance & Customer Service), as s151 Officer, has the 

authority to determine whether to refer allegations of suspected fraud and bribery to 
the Police for prosecution. In most cases the Police will be invited to carry out a fraud 
or bribery investigation.  Where the Police decide to investigate the Internal Audit 
section will work alongside them to conduct an internal investigation and disciplinary 
action will be taken at the appropriate time.  

 

Page 170



 

Counter Fraud & Corruption Strategy June 2021 Page 10 
 

Staffordshire Moorlands DC & High Peak BC 
 

4.7 At the conclusion of the investigation a report will be made to the Chief Executive, the 
relevant member of Leadership Team and the s151Officer/Monitoring Officer. If one 
of these Officers is potentially implicated in the investigation then they will be 
excluded from the reporting process. 

  
4.8 All employees engaged in the investigation of potential fraud and bribery will ensure 

that the strictest standards are adhered to, in particular regarding the confidentiality of 
the investigation. This is especially important due to the fact that: -  

 

 Allegations and suspicions may turn out to be unfounded and hence 
embarrassment for the accused and the Council is spared; 

 Where fraud has occurred breaches in confidentiality could alert the suspect and 
give them the opportunity to cover their tracks or destroy evidence. 

 
4.9 Employees - In accordance with the Council’s Disciplinary & Dismissal Procedures, 

management has the prime responsibility for investigations into the conduct of 
employees. However in accordance with Financial Regulations & Procedure Rules, 
the s151 Officer has responsibility for organising the investigation of suspected fraud 
or bribery. In most cases an appropriate officer and/or the Head of Audit will be 
appointed as joint Investigating Officers and the investigation will be conducted and 
reported to management in accordance with the Council’s Disciplinary Scheme.  
 

4.10 Members – Investigation of Members will be carried out by the Monitoring Officer. 
The outcome of investigations will be referred where relevant to the Standards 
Committee.   

 
4.11 External Frauds- Where the allegation of fraud does not implicate an employee then 

the Head of Audit will conduct the investigation.  
 

Housing & Council Tax Benefit Fraud 
 
4.12 Housing and Council Tax Benefit fraud investigations are now undertaken by the 

Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) by the Single Fraud Investigation Service. 
Details of how to report suspected benefit fraud can be found on the Council’s 
website. However where the Housing Benefit fraud involves a Member the Chief 
Executive and the Monitoring Officer will be consulted and kept informed. The Head 
of Audit and Head of Organisational Development & Transformation will be consulted 
and kept informed in relation to any Housing Benefit Fraud committed by employees. 
Members or employees found to have committed housing benefit fraud may also be 
subject to Standards or disciplinary action. 

 
Prosecution Policy 

 
4.13 The Council will look to prosecute all those accused of committing fraud, theft, or 

bribery against the Council. In most cases the Council will refer the matter to the 
Police for an independent prosecution.  

 
4.14 Where an employee is found to have been involved in fraudulent or corrupt activity or 

bribery the Council will look to take further action in accordance with the Disciplinary 
& Dismissal Procedures. Where Members are found to be involved in fraudulent or 
corrupt activity the Monitoring Officer will be informed and the matter will be referred 
for a Standards Investigation. 
 

Page 171



 

Counter Fraud & Corruption Strategy June 2021 Page 11 
 

Staffordshire Moorlands DC & High Peak BC 
 

4.15 The Council will also aim to recover from the perpetrators any losses that it sustains 
as a result of fraud and corruption. Where appropriate, the Council will publicise the 
results of any action taken, including prosecutions, with regard to fraud and corruption 
activity perpetrated on the Council.  

 
4.16 Where a genuine mistake or error is discovered the Council will not look to prosecute 

but will provide training and advice to the employee/Member and possibly look to 
revise systems and procedures to prevent similar actions occurring in the future. 

 
Support for Witnesses During An Investigation / Prosecution 

 
4.17 The Council recognises that the decision to report a concern or to give evidence as 

part of an investigation is often a difficult one to make not least because of the fear of 
reprisal from those responsible for the malpractice. However, where there are 
genuine concerns then the witness has nothing to fear as they are fulfilling a duty to 
the Council and to those for whom it provides services.  

  
4.18 The Council will be as supportive as possible to witnesses during an investigation. 

Harassment and victimisation (including informal pressure) will not be tolerated. If as 
a result of providing evidence in the public interest the witness experiences any 
pressure the Council will take action to protect them. Any employee or Member who 
is found to be victimising anyone who is providing evidence to an investigation may 
face action under the Standards or disciplinary procedures. 

 
4.19 The Council will take all possible steps to maintain the confidentiality of a witness 

throughout the process where they have expressed a preference for their name not to 
be disclosed. However it is recognised that this may not always be possible. In the 
event that the investigation requires confidentiality to be broken then the witness will 
be informed in advance.  

  
4.20 The Council will take steps to minimise any difficulties that the witness may face as a 

result of providing evidence to an investigation. For example, where the person is 
required to give evidence at a criminal or disciplinary proceeding then the Council will 
arrange for them to receive advice and support about the process that they will have 
to go through. 

 
 

Page 172



 

Counter Fraud & Corruption Strategy June 2021 Page 12 
 

Staffordshire Moorlands DC & High Peak BC 
 

5 TRAINING & INFORMATION 
  
5.1 The Council acknowledges the importance of ensuring that Members and employees 

are fully aware of their personal responsibilities, and will ensure appropriate training is 
provided. 

 
5.2 There are a number of key documents which set-out responsibilities and these 

include:- 
 

 Codes of Conduct for Members; 

 Code of Conduct for Employees (including Gifts and Hospitality Guidelines); 

 Financial Regulations & Procedure Rules and Procurement  Procedure Rules; 

 Whistleblowing Policy; 

 The Constitution; 

 Relevant Professional Ethical Codes or frameworks. 
 
5.3 The Council will ensure that all employees are made aware of their responsibilities 

under this policy as part of their induction process as well as ensuring that they are 
aware of the relevant reporting procedures. 

 
5.4 The Council recognises that the continuing success of this strategy and its general 

credibility will depend largely on the effectiveness of programmed training and 
responsiveness of employees throughout the organisation. 

 
5.5 Managers will also ensure that all contractors/suppliers are aware of the existence of 

this framework and their responsibilities under it. 
 
5.6 This framework will also be made available to contractors and the public by publishing 

it on the Council’s website. 
 
5.7 In addition to the above actions the Council will review its services to identify those 

most at risk of fraud and bribery and where necessary develop additional guidance 
and procedures to address any significant risks identified.  

 

Page 173



 

Counter Fraud & Corruption Strategy June 2021 Page 13 
 

Staffordshire Moorlands DC & High Peak BC 
 

6 MONITORING & REVIEW 
  
6.1 The Council has in place a clear network of systems and procedures to assist it in 

dealing with fraud and bribery. 
 
6.2 The s151 Officer – Executive Director (Finance & Customer Service) will maintain a 

continuous overview of the arrangements in place to ensure that they are consistently 
applied and that all action taken is proportional. This framework will be reviewed and 
updated periodically to follow best practice and other changes. 

 
6.3 Monitoring on the application of the framework, including allegations not proven or 

false allegations will be carried out. This will include monitoring of equality and 
diversity issues in relation to the person who has an allegation made against them 
and in relation to the ultimate outcome of any investigations. Information that may be 
recorded includes age, gender, race, disability, etc. However it may not be possible to 
obtain all information for all cases.  

 
6.4 This information will be used to monitor trends and to ensure that the policy is applied 

equally to all and in particular that decisions to prosecute or take other action are 
consistently applied. 

 
 
7 ASSOCIATED POLICIES 
  
7.1 Other associated Council Policies:- 
  

 Whistleblowing Policy; 

 Disciplinary & Dismissal Procedure; 

 Codes of Conduct for Members & Employees; 

 Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act Policy & Procedures. 
 
 
 

Page 174



AUDIT & ACCOUNTS COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 2021/22 
  

Item  
Sept 
 2021 

Dec 
 2021 

Feb 
 2022 

June 
 2022 

Details  

INTERNAL AUDIT      

Internal Audit Progress Report     
Reports on progress against the audit plan inc. key 
performance information. 

Annual Audit Plan    
 To consider and approve the Annual Audit Pan. 

Internal Audit Annual Report  
   To consider Internal Audit’s annual report and opinion 

on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the 
Council’s internal control environment. 

Annual Review of Effectiveness of IA  
   To consider an annual review of the effectiveness of 

the Council’s system of internal audit. 

Internal Audit Charter 
 

   
To consider updates to the formal document that 
defines Internal Audit’s purpose, authority and 
responsibility. (as required) 

EXTERNAL AUDIT      

Audit Committee Update  

 
 
   

A summary of emerging national issues and 
developments that the Committee may wish to 
consider. Also provides a summary of progress on the 
audit – where not covered by other items on the 
agenda. 

Audit  Plan 
  

  
Report specifying the detailed risks that external audit 
consider as part of their work, the audit approach and 
the result of any interim work 

Audit Findings Report   
  To consider the external auditor’s report to those 

charged with governance on issues arising from the 
audit of the accounts and the VFM conclusion. 

Auditor’s Annual Report 
 

   
To consider the external auditor’s annual report on 
their overall assessment of the Council. 

Informing the Audit Risk Assessment 
  

  
To consider the risk assessment and understanding of 
management processes. 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

P
age 175

A
genda Item

 14



Item  
Sept 
 2021 

Dec 
 2021 

Feb 
 2022 

June 
 2022 

Details  

FINANCE      

Statement of Accounts   
  To review and approve the Council’s annual 

Statement of Accounts. 

Treasury Management Update     
Oversight and scrutiny of the Council’s Treasury 
Management position to date and the projected 
outturn. 

Annual Treasury Management Report     

To recommend to Council for approval the annual 
Treasury Management Report summarising 
performance and compliance with the Strategy and 
Prudential Indicators. 

Treasury Management Strategy  
 

 
 Oversight and scrutiny of the Council’s Treasury 

Management Strategy. 

Financial Management Code     
 Self-assessment against the principles of the FM 

Code. 

CORPORATE      

Annual Governance Statement (AGS)  
   To review and approve the Annual Governance 

Statement and the underlying assurance evaluation 
process and supporting evidence. 

AGS Progress Against Action Plan 
 

  
 Report on progress made against the actions raised 

as part of the previous years Annual Governance 
Statement process. 

Risk Management Update 
 

   
Report on developments in the Council’s risk 
management arrangements. 

Risk Management Strategy 
 

   
Update of the Risk Management Strategy (biennial 
February) 

Counter Fraud & Corruption Strategy 
 

   
To consider updates to the Council’s Counter Fraud 
& Corruption Strategy. (as required) 

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act Policy 
& Procedures 

 
   

To consider updates to the Council’s Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act Policy & Procedures. (as 
required) 

Whistleblowing Policy 
 

   
To consider updates to the Council’s Whistleblowing 
Policy. (as required) 

AUDIT & ACCOUNTS COMMITTEE      

Agree Programme of Work     To agree future work programme of A&A Committee. 

Review of Effectiveness of A&A Committee 
inc. Terms of Reference 

 
   To consider the annual review of the effectiveness of 

the Audit & Accounts Committee and the A&A 
Committee’s Terms of Reference. 

  

P
age 176



Document is Restricted

Page 177

Agenda Item 16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	4 External Audit - Audit Plan
	5 External Audit - Informing the Audit Risk Assessment
	6 Annual Treasury Management Report
	Appendix A 1 for Annual Treasury Management Report

	7 Treasury Management Update
	Appendix A 2 for Treasury Management Update

	8 Internal Audit Charter
	Appendix A 1 for Internal Audit Charter

	9 Internal Audit - Annual Audit Plan
	Appendix A 1 for Internal Audit - Annual Audit Plan

	10 Internal Audit Progress Report
	Appendix A 1 for Internal Audit Progress Report
	Appendix A 2 for Internal Audit Progress Report
	Appendix A 3 for Internal Audit Progress Report

	11 Covid Business Grants - Measures to guard against Fraud
	12 Financial Management Code
	13 Counter Fraud and Corruption Strategy
	Appendix A 1 for Counter Fraud and Corruption Strategy

	14 Work Programme
	16 Exempt Minutes of the Previous Meeting

